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CORPORATE

China Everbright International Limited (the “Company”, and
together with its subsidiaries, collectively “the Group”) is a fast
growing business conglomerate focusing on environmental
protection infrastructure investments including the construction
and operation of environmental energy and environmental
water projects, environmental construction, environmental
technology and toll bridge operation. In the last five years,
the project locations have spread over many cities in China,
including Suzhou, Yixing, Jiangyin, Changzhou, Qingdao, Zibo,
Zhoucun, Boxing and Jinan. The Group has also constructed
and operates the Qingzhou Bridge in Fuzhou. With its highly-
trained and dedicated management team as well as strong
parental support from China Everbright Holdings Company
Limited, the Group is fully prepared to further explore and
develop the environmental protection market and strives to
obtain new environmental protection projects, with the aim
to become a leading player in the environmental protection
industry in China.
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HIGHLIGHTS

BAFEHER

2008 2007 Percentage
—BTN\E “ETF Change
HK$000 HKS' 000 BAL
BT AT T 2%
RESULTS E 3
Turmnover EEH 1,862,509 1,347,852 38%
EBITDA on recurring basis* BRAE - THIE - TER
BRI R AR 592,727 425,557 39%
Profit attributable to equity R ER FE A 2 7
shareholders 339,018 337,932 0.3%
Return on shareholders’ equity (%)  BXE & € [B1¥R(%) 12.86 15.20 -2.34%
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) ~ SRREARZF| (L) 10.80 10.89 -0.8%
FINANCIAL POSITION BATSHRR
Total assets BERE 6,300,678 4,525,683 39%
Total liabilities BEEE 3,169,637 1,922,257 65%
Shareholders’ equity IR 2,819,615 2,451,091 15%
Net asset value per share attributable %5 {5 &%
to equity shareholders (HK$) BEFECEST) 0.897 0.782 15%
Gearing (%) BEBFELE%) 50 42 8%
Current ratio (%) BN (%) 136 221 -85%
MARKET INFORMATION hinEE
Share price at year end (HK$) FiRk 2 RE(BET) 1.43 3.89 -63%
Price earnings ratio at year end FrRR o MAER(E)
(times) 13.24 35.72 -63%
Market capitalisation at year end FiREs 2 EATE 4,495,602 12,194,064 -63%

BALS - BB - TE R BN AMNBRRE - &
A~ FE R Z A FE AN

AEFZSRITTEFEHEMNBERAR 2 BFIEE

# EBITDA is the profit for the year before deduction of interest, taxation, #
depreciation and amortisation.

* The amount for current year is stated excluding the profit on disposal of A |
subsidiaries of HK$51,778,000. The amount for last year is stated excluding 51,778,0007T ° i%Zﬁ%ﬁﬂI?:E?E#%Eﬁﬁﬂﬂ%
the profit on sale of other financial assets and valuation gain on investment BERN KR EYREERHE LB 42,885,000

properties with a total amount of HK$42,885,000. 7T
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GHAIRMAN’S
STATEMENT

EREHRE

Carry forward the spirit of
China Everbright
Strive to establish a renowned

Environmental PLotection brand
5 R IEME - HEBRIRA N

In 2008, we have faced many difficult challenges. Amid
the global financial crisis which hit the world economy,
all the governments in the world are suffering and facing
challenges. The PRC has overcome extraordinary natural
disasters, hosted the Olympics successfully, prudently faced
the international financial crisis and maintained a steady and
relatively fast development of the economy.

In 2008, the Group overcame certain difficulties and all
the businesses have entered a new stage. It has strived to
develop and grasped the leadership position in the industry.
The Group restructured its core business into three major
sectors namely environmental energy, environmental water
and investment. The total number of environmental protection
projects of the Group increased to 22 commanding a
total investment of approximately RMB5.05 billion and the
business had spread over 8 cities in Jiangsu and Shandong
Provinces. The Group also strives to enhance innovation and
its technical and scientific capability.

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ REIFX AR 22 A)

—TEN\F - BARETBRKNER - FHEE
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In 2008, the Group recorded a satisfactory financial
results. Profit attributable to shareholders of the Group was
HK$339,018,000. EBITDA on recurring basis amounted to
HK$592,727,000, representing an increase as compared with
previous year. The Group disposed of some of its property
related business and made a profit of HK$51,778,000.

Taking into account the satisfactory results and steady and
healthy development of the Group, the Board has proposed
to pay shareholders a final dividend of HK1.0 cent per share.
Together with the HKO0.6 cent per share interim dividend,
shareholders of the Company will receive HK1.6 cents
dividend per share for the entire year (2007: HK1.6 cents per
share).

Looking forward to 2009, we are full of confidence. The
Chinese government emphasizes scientific development
and focuses on beneficial development of the economy
and resources of the environment which provide the Group
with enormous room to grow our environmental protection
business. The reform and development of China Everbright
Group has progressed smoothly which lays a concrete
foundation for the Group. The enhancement of management
structure and capability continues to facilitate the sustainable
development of the Group. With emphasis on the strategy
of development, the Group will overcome adverse impact
arising from the financial crisis, it strives to further explore
and develop the market and enhance its research and
development capability aiming at transforming the Group
into a new environmental protection company armed with
relatively advanced technologies. It aims to cement its
leadership in the PRC environmental protection industry
and establish its brand as well as achieve more satisfactory
results for shareholders to provide a bigger contribution to
the society and benefit all the staff members as well.

| hereby would like to express my heartfelt thanks to

all shareholders, board members, the general public,
management and staff members.

Tang Shuangning
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 March 2009

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ KEIFX AR 22 A)
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GHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S REPORT

1THHR R RS

The most relia
in the green w
EBNME GB

OPERATING RESULTS

In 2008, all economies worldwide felt the impact of the global
financial turmoil to varying degrees. To rescue pillar industries in
financial trouble, governments introduced intervention measures
and subjected themselves to heavy financial pressure. From
the Chinese government’s commitment of the economic
stimulation plan to environmental protection, it is clear that the
Chinese Government is determined as always in developing
the sector despite the challenging economic environment. In
fact, the government is hastening investment in environmental
improvement projects and their implementation. Thus, rapid
growth is expected for the environmental protection business in
the PRC in the coming year.

HERE

R\ FRLWEREHE - EHREEH I
RIIZEMTE - KERRENE - SEBUF A%
Fr AT REYSTAETT SR » O340 T - BRI
MREREAES - FEF B - e REMTF
RUBAEETT SRPAALIRIRARAR AR - &
EE ANt BRI W AEIRE - FRIBURS W ERR
TREESEHIR/O—WABRAE - B ATBIZK IEAE AR INIR
SRR B IR - F—F 2R
RIREFMEED RERNTRHE -



ANNUAL REPORT 2008 —ZZ/\F4F 3k ‘ 017 ‘

Amid the financial turmoail, the Group focused on strengthening
internal operations management and obtained good results.
During the year under review, environmental protection business
made steady progress with new projects completed and
upgrading projects swinging into operation. The environmental
business has become more mature and contributed to increased
turnover and recurring profits. In 2008, the consolidated turnover
of the Group amounted to HK$1,862,509,000, representing an
increase of 38% from HK$1,347,852,000 for 2007. EBITDA on
recurring basis was HK$592,727,000, representing a growth
of 39% from HK$425,557,000 for 2007. For the year ended
31 December 2008, the Group recorded non-recurring profit
of HK$51,778,000 arising from the disposal of its entire issued
shares in two subsidiaries which are engaged in non-core
property business. For the year ended 31 December 2007, the
Group recorded non-recurring profits of HK$42,885,000 due to
the disposal of other financial assets as well as the revaluation
of investment properties. The income tax expense for 2008 was
HK$95,161,000, representing a significant increase as compared
with HK$6,807,000 of 2007. The increase was mainly due to
the recognition of withholding income tax in respect of profits
derived from the PRC subsidiaries as well as the one-off write-
back of deferred tax in 2007 as a result of the change in PRC tax
rate. Profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company for
2008 was HK$339,018,000, an increase of HK$1,086,000 as
compared to HK$337,932,000 for last year. Stripping the impact
of the non-recurring profit and the income tax expense, the net
profit for the year increased 27% as compared with last year.
Basic earnings per share for 2008 were HK10.80 cents, HK0.09
cent less than HK10.89 cents of last year.

In late 2008, the Group disposed most of its property business
assets to its parent company at a total consideration of
HK$195,907,000. That coupled with the steady cash flow from
infrastructure business had enabled the Group to develop its core
environmental protection business at full force. The Group has
firmly established the business sector development model.

To reward shareholders for their support and taking into
consideration the long-term continual development of the
Group, the board of directors of the Company (“the Board”)
has proposed to pay a final dividend of HK1.0 cent per share to
shareholders of the Company. Together with the interim dividend
of HKO.6 cent per share already paid, the total dividends for
the year will be HK1.6 cents per share (2007: HK1.6 cents per
share).

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ KEIFX AR 22 A)
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION BUSINESS

In 2008, the Group further consolidated resources to focus on
developing its core environmental protection business. In the
second half of the year, the Group repositioned its development
focus and reclassified its environmental businesses into four
sectors, namely environmental energy, environmental water,
environmental construction and environmental technology.
There is a total of 22 environmental energy projects and
environmental water projects spreading across developed
urban areas, second-tier and third-tier municipal and rural areas
in Jiangsu Province and Shandong Province. The projects
carried a total investment of approximately HK$5,728,720,000
(equivalent to RMB5,050,000,000) (excluding the total investment
costs of approximately HK$1,104,378,000 (equivalent to
RMB973,535,000) of Jinan Waste-to-energy Project (“Jinan
Waste Project”) and Jinan Xike Waste Water Treatment Project
(“*Jinan Xike Project”) which the Company has just won the
tenders at the end of 2008). As at 31 December 2008, the Group
had completed environmental protection projects of investment
costs totaling approximately HK$4,140,560,000 (equivalent to
RMB3,650,000,000). Investment in projects under construction is
about HK$1,588,160,000 (equivalent to RMB1,400,000,000).

With processing volume rising and operating efficiency improving,
the business has been able to boost its revenue base. During the
year under review, turnover of environmental protection business
amounted to HK$1,734,676,000 (construction service revenue:
63%, operation service revenue: 22%, and finance income: 15%),
an increase of 40% when compared with 2007 and accounting
for 93% of the Group’s total turnover, 1 percentage point higher
than that of 2007. EBITDA amounted to HK$510,808,000, an
increase of 47% when compared with 2007 and accounting for
86% of total profits on recurring basis.

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ REIFX AR 22 A)

IRIREF
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Major operating and financial data of the environmental protection —ZFF )\ FIrRER 2 = EiE 2 0 KEUE 0
business in 2008: T
2008 2007
= L% “FRLE
Environ- Environ- Environ- Environ-
mental mental mental mental
energy water energy water
projects projects projects projects
RRER  REKH Total RIREER  RIRKE Total
BB I5H B3 58 = CE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT AT BETT BT
Turmover ]
- Construction service —BER% 595,006 505,460 1,100,466 546,478 297,402 843,880
- Operation service — B R 138,362 241,642 380,004 75,557 194,104 269,661
~ Finance income —BBBA 111,248 142,958 254,206 66,008 58,946 124,954
844,616 890,060 1,734,676 688,043 550,452 1,238,495
EBITDA BRAIS - BHIE -
EREHFIRF 285,140 225,668 510,808 200,519 146,727 347,246
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ENVIRONMENTAL ENERGY SECTOR

The environmental energy sector encompasses Suzhou Waste-
to-energy Project Phase | and Phase Il (“Suzhou Project Phase |
and Phase II”), Yixing Waste-to-energy Project (“Yixing Project”),
Jiangyin Waste-to-energy Project (“Jiangyin Project”), Changzhou
Waste-to-energy Project (“Changzhou Project”), Suzhou
Methane-to-energy Project Phase | and Phase Il (“Methane
Project” Phase | and Phase Il) and Suzhou Industrial Solid Waste
Landfill Project (“Solid Waste Project”). The designed total
annual processing capacity is approximately 1,500,000 tonnes
of household waste, approximately 20,000 m? of other waste
and capable of supplying an average annual on-grid electricity of
approximately 400,000,000 kilowatt-hour.

During the year under review, environmental energy projects
processed 937,000 tonnes of household waste, 14,000 m3
of solid waste and generated on-grid electricity volume of
204,030,000 kilowatt-hour, representing an increase of 68%,
27% and 55% as compared with last year respectively.
Environmental energy projects brought an EBITDA of
HK$285,140,000, representing an increase of 42% against
last year. The increase in profit is mainly attributable to the
transformation from construction stage to operation stage of
Jiangyin Project and Methane Project Phase Il during the year.
In addition, the projects in operation including Suzhou Project
Phase |, Yixing Project, Methane Project Phase | and Solid Waste
Project further enhanced their operating efficiency during the
year. Despite the electricity production of certain projects had
been affected by the snowstorm at the beginning of the year, the
operation service revenue still increased by 83% during the year.
Moreover, Changzhou Project and Suzhou Project Phase |l also
entered into peak construction period giving rise to an increase of
9% in construction service revenue.

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ KEIFX AR 22 A)
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Major operating and financial data of the environmental energy =TT\ FIRRELRRIE 2 F BiE L B 1§ 2%
sector in 2008: (N
EBITDA
(HK$'000)
Waste processing Uploaded electricity RFIE « HIE s HER
volume (tonne) (kWh) HE a2
LR () LPAZE(FREF) (B%FT)
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
“EEN\E | _TTHE | ZBBN\E | —TTLE | ZBT0\E | _TTLFE
- Suzhou Project Phase | —EMIBE —Ho 489,000 441,000 | 110,800,000 | 99,992,000 78,782 86,418
- Suzhou Project Phase ll® — k1B E —Hi@ - = - = 68,395 440
- Yixing Project® —HEBERO 200,000 118,000 | 34,514,000 | 12,658,000 15,032 11,411
— Jiangyin Project® —TEIBE® 248,000 - | 41,370,000 - 34,768 55,683
— Changzhou Project © e EER = = = = 72,552 29,382
- Methane Project © —BRIBER6 - - | 17,346,000 | 18,712,000 8,496 7,821
937,000 559,000 | 204,030,000 | 131,362,000 278,025 191,155
- Solid Waste Project® (m?)  —EREIEEM (LA K) 14,000 11,000 - - 7,115 9,364
Total &5t 285,140 200,519

(1)

The decrease in profit of Suzhou Project Phase | was mainly attributable
to the recognition of value-added tax refund on purchase of local
equipment during the construction stage in previous year.

Suzhou Project Phase Il was still under construction in December 2008.

The increase in profit of Yixing Project was mainly attributable to the
gradual increase in waste processing and on-grid electricity volume
which enhanced its operation service revenue.

The decrease in profit of Jiangyin Project was mainly attributable to the
recognition of construction service revenue in previous year. During the
year under review, it mainly reflected the operation service revenue since
the commencement of commercial operation of the project in May. As
the project gradually enters normal operation, the operating efficiency of
the project is expected to increase.

The increase in profit of Changzhou Project was mainly attributable to
the entering into peak construction period during the year under review
which increased the construction service revenue.

The increase in profit of Methane Project was mainly attributable to
the implementation of expansion work for Phase Il which recorded
construction service revenue, off-setting the impact of reduction of
operation service revenue arising from the undergoing of an overhaul
during the year.
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(7) The decrease in profit of Solid Waste Project was mainly due to the
recognition of construction service revenue in previous year. During
the year under review, it only reflected the operation service revenue.
Following the gradual increase in the solid waste treatment volume, it is
expected the operating efficiency will further be enhanced.

The Company was notified by the Bureau of City Appearance,
Environment & Sanitation of Jinan City (“Jinan Environmental
Bureau”) on 29 December 2008 that it had won the tender of
Jinan Waste Project. On 10 January 2009, the Company signed
a cooperative agreement in relation to Jinan Waste Project with
the Jinan Environmental Bureau. Pursuant to the agreement, a
project company will be established in Jinan City to construct,
operate and manage the waste-to-energy plant on BOT (Build-
Operate-Transfer) mode for 25 years. The total investment of
the project is approximately RMB900,853,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$1,021,928,000). The plant with a designed
daily waste processing capacity of 2,000 tonnes will take about
18 months to build with key equipment imported from overseas
and operations meeting Euro | smoke and gas emission standard
and Euro Il dioxin emission standard. Formal agreements related
to Jinan Waste Project (including a concession right agreement, a
waste treatment service agreement and other related documents)
are expected to be signed by the relevant parties after the project
company is established.

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ KEIFX AR 22 A)
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ENVIRONMENTAL WATER SECTOR

The environmental water sector encompasses Qingdao Waste
Water Treatment Project (“Qingdao Project”), Zibo Waste Water
Treatment Project (including southern and northern plants) (“Zibo
Southern and Northern Plants Project”), Zibo High-tech Zone
Waste Water Treatment Project (“Zibo High-tech Zone Project”),
Jinan Waste Water Treatment Project (“Jinan Project”), Binzhou
Boxing Waste Water Treatment Project (“Boxing Project”),
Zhoucun Waste Water Treatment Project (“Zhoucun Project”),
Jiangyin Waste Water Treatment Project (“Jiangyin Waste Water
Project”) and Jinan Licheng Waste Water Treatment Project (“Jinan
Licheng Project”). The total designed daily waste water treatment
capacity is approximately 1,500,000 tonnes.

During the year under review, environmental water projects
treated 363,912,000 tonnes of waste water, representing an
increase of 26% as compared with previous year. Environmental
water projects brought an EBITDA of HK$225,668,000,
representing an increase of 54% against previous year. The
increase in profit was mainly attributable to (1) certain projects
including Jiangyin Waste Water Project, Zhoucun Project, Boxing
Project and Jinan Project had undergone construction work or
upgrading work which recorded construction service revenue of
HK$505,460,000, representing an increase of 70% as compared
with previous year; (2) the newly acquired Jiangyin Waste Water
Project and Boxing Project and the existing projects in operation
continued to operate smoothly which increased the operation
service revenue by 24%.

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ AEIFX AR 2 A)
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Major operating and financial data of the environmental water

sector in 2008:

- Qingdao Project @

— Zibo Southern and Northern
Plants Project ©

— Zibo High-tech Zone Project (10

- Jinan Project (1)

— Boxing Project (2

— Zhoucun Project (13

— Jiangyin Waste Water Project (14
—Jinan Licheng Project 9

~&BERS
—sm AR

—HESHRER
—ERIER
—fBEER W
— IR
—/IRIAKIRE
— ERERIRE

“REN\FREKEREZ T 28 L EM IR

o
Waste water EBITDA
processing volume (HK$’000)
(tonne) BRAS BIE  FER
KRR E () BanR(EETR)
2008 2007 2008 2007
—BEN\F | —TTLF | CBEA\E| “TTLH
69,172,000 61,621,000 20,490 41,929
83,659,000 88,924,000 21,713 57,002
34,607,000 12,900,000 9,080 19,946
146,517,000 | 126,290,000 73,099 27,850
3,309,000 - 6,615 -
- - 8,002 -
26,648,000 - 71,204 -
- - 15,465 -
363,912,000 | 289,735,000 225,668 146,727

(8) The decrease in profit of Qingdao Project was mainly attributable to the  (8)
increase in operating costs after the upgrade and extension work of
Maidao Plant was completed. The Group is now negotiating with the
Qingdao Municipal Government on tariff hike upon which it is expected
to increase the long term revenue of the project.

(9) The decrease in profit of Zibo Southern and Northern Plants Project was ~ (9)
mainly attributable to the recognition of construction service revenue for
upgrading work in previous year. Operation service revenue during the
year under review has gradually returned to normal upon completion of

the test run in May.

(10) The decrease in profit of Zibo High-tech Zone Project was mainly  (10)
attributable to the recognition of construction service revenue in previous
year. During the year under review, it mainly reflected the operation
service revenue. As the project gradually enters normal operation, the
operating efficiency of the project is expected to increase.

(11

=

The increase in profit of Jinan Project was mainly attributable to the  (11)

implementation of upgrading work during the year under review which
increased the construction service revenue. Moreover, the gradual
increase in operating efficiency brought an increase in operation profit.
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(12) Boxing Project commenced commercial operation in April 2008.

(18) Construction work of Zhoucun Project commenced in August 2008 and
the plant was ready to receive water in December 2008. Test running is
in progress.

(14) Jiangyin Waste Water Project commenced commercial operation in
January 2008.

(15) Construction work of Jinan Licheng Project commenced in September
2008.

On 30 December 2008, the Company had successfully won the
tender of Jinan Xike Project. Jinan Xike Project is the highlighted
environmental protection project in Jinan City aiming at
conserving energy, reducing waste water emission and improving
environment. The total investment of the project is approximately
RMB72,682,000. The term of exclusive right of operation is 26
years and the project will be invested, constructed and operated
on BOT mode. The designed waste water treatment capacity
of the project is 30,000 tonnes per day. Upon completion of
the construction of the project, water discharge quality will meet
Grade 1A of the national waste water discharge standard. The
management is now negotiating the terms and conditions of the
project with Jinan Utility Bureau. It is expected that agreements
will be signed in the second quarter of this year. Construction
work will be commenced in the third quarter.

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ AEIFX AR 2 A)
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Strategic Partnership

Apart from striving to secure and operate different environmental
protection projects, the Group has been relentless in pursuing
technological research and development. It has been active
in working together with major research institutes and
strengthening its partnership with renowned international and
local enterprises. During the year under review, the Group had
worked with different educational institutions such as Tsinghua
University, Tongji University, Shandong Academy of Sciences,
Zhongshan University, Nanjing University, Jiangnan University
and Shenzhen University on various initiatives including research
and development projects, sourcing of government fundings for
research and discussion about different technologies, etc.

Research and Development Facility

To develop core technology and boost its competitive strengths,
Everbright Environmental Technological Development (Beijing)
Limited has been established in May 2008. The Group now plans
to set up two technology research and development centers
to specialize in solid waste and water resources technologies
respectively to serve as platforms for cooperating with domestic
research and development institutions and applying for
government funding. During the year under review, the Group
submitted an application for a solid waste resource technology
research and development center project in Suzhou City and
was granted funding from the Suzhou Municipal Government.
When the center is completed, it will serve the city as its solid
waste resource technology center and cater to the needs
of environmental protection enterprises in the city and the
Yangtze River Delta region. The Group also plans to set up Zibo
Water Resource Technology Research Center based on the
state qualified laboratory of Zibo Project Company to provide
water resource engineering and technical research services to
Shandong Province.

In 2009, the Group will continue to invest in technological
innovation and enhancing its research and development
capabilities, with the aim of lowering construction and production
costs, and boosting cost-effectiveness and competitiveness.
The Group will seek to commercialize patented technologies
and introduce them to the market, striving to develop into a new
environmental protection enterprise that employs “top-notch
techniques and high-end technologies”.

Research Project and Patent

During the year under review, the Group submitted applications
for 45 projects. Of all these projects, 13 had been approved.
The City Bio-waste Anaerobic Digestive Technology Research,
a joint initiative of the Group and Tsinghua University, has been
included in the “National 863 Program” after passing the review
of The Ministry of Science and Technology. Furthermore, the
different environmental protection project companies of the
Group also obtained government research and development
funding in Suzhou, Yixing, Changzhou, Shandong Province,
Jinan and Shenzhen in a total amount of RMB2,710,000. The
Group has also internally identified 11 research topics relevant to
its environmental protection projects.

During the year, the Group submitted 9 patent applications
and gained approval for 5 patents. The Group also secured 6
patents for its sludge dehydration equipment, anaerobic reactor,
subsection disposal system for municipal solid waste and safe
treatment of fly ash, in its bid to boost environmental protection
technology and its core competitiveness.
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INFRASTRUCTURE AND PROPERTY
INVESTMENT

Toll Bridge

During the year under review, traffic on Qingzhou Bridge
continued to grow and generated steady cash flow for the Group.
For the year ended 31 December 2008, the average number
of standard vehicles crossing the bridge daily increased to
33,742, 7% higher than that in 2007, and brought an EBITDA of
HK$98,927,000 to the Group, representing an increase of 15%
when compared with 2007 .

Looking forward, with the maintenance work of Wulong Longjiang
Bridge and Phase II of North Airport Highway to complete in
2009, traffic on Qingzhou Bridge is expected to increase further.

FUZHOU QINGZHOU BRIDGE
BMEMNARE

ANNUAL AVERAGE TRAFFIC
FLOW CHART Daily standard vehicles
FEYERBRR snmesnn

40,000 ~

35000 |- 33,742
31,509 ®

30,000 |-
26,267

2 -
5/000 22,186
20000 | 17972

15,000 |-

10,000 |-

5,000 [

BEERYERE

WEBR

CEFERN  SMABHNEREREER - AKX
EEREREBENREESR HE_ZEZNF+=
A=+—HILFE  SMNKBzEHZESERE
EIENNZES3, 7428 - WM_TTLFIERT% o =
TENFZBRAE - B - TERBHEIAT
ﬁ%’ﬁ%gs,gz?,oom BT HFNAEFER
15% °

REARK - TG SRERIABEEIENILES
MABH IS = EE — T RER _STNFRE
g ENABHERESE PR -

Fuzhou Qingzhou Bridge
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 BINFINARE
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Property Investment

During the year under review, Shenzhen Zhongshan Garden, a
four-storey commercial complex with a shopping arcade owned
by the Group, generated steady rental revenue and cash flow.
The property was 97% leased during the year and brought an
EBITDA of HK$11,969,000 to the Group, an increase of 14% as
compared with 2007.

To optimize its business structure, the Company convened
an extraordinary general meeting on 18 December 2008 at
which a resolution was passed to dispose of Sino Villa Holdings
Limited which held the Shenzhen Zhongshan Garden and its
management company to Everbright Real Estate Limited for a
total consideration of HK$195,907,000.

The transaction had been completed. It generated a profit on
disposal of subsidiaries of HK$51,778,000 for the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2008.

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ KEIFX AR 2 A)

MERE

CIEFERN @ AEEAEE 2 FRYIFILTERE 2 M
BREEEEATERTRERNAKKE KRS
e - FRAHAREIGTY - BEBRFIE - FHE -
e M SE AT 2 A5 11,969,0000T * -T2
T HFERA4Y% ©

RE—TBICEBRE  R_TTN\F+=-A
TNABARRBRRITHRRSHIAS EABBR
& LEREB195907,000tMHKNEES
R AR ERARYIF ILTER Y% 2 Sino Villa
Holdings Limited & & &2 A B 2 ##21 ©

HIRZXZEEK  AEEREE_TEN\F+—
A=t—RIFEHFHENB IR ZBNEE
51,778,0007T °
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HONORS AND RECOGNITIONS

Below are awards won by the Group during the year under

review:

Date

b i

March 2008
—TE)\F=H

April 2008
—ET/\FHA

May 2008
—ZET\FhA

August 2008
—ZETN\FN\AH

October 2008
—ZEENEFL+A

November 2008

—TENE+—A

December 2008

—EENF+—-A

Organizer

ELpMER(

Jiangsu Provincial Department
of Construction

TR A R

Zibo Municipal Government

BT

Capital Magazine
CERHETR)

Wuxi Construction Bureau and
Wauxi Construction Association

BEHTERRBLEHRETERS

China City and Town Water Supply
and Discharge Association

B SR K K IR

Evaluation Committee for

State Outstanding Construction
Quality Award
RIEEREERETEEE

Economic Digest
(EE—IR)

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ KBIBR AR A A)

ERETR S
REEFEA - NEBKRESIAKE @ 550
T

Awards
A1)

“Yangzi Cup”
[ ]

“Outstanding Enterprise”

[ e B80T

“Outstanding Environmental

Protection Corporation Award” of

“The Third Capital Outstanding

China Enterprise Award”

[E=[EEARF G ERRR—IRIR D]
“Taihu Lake Cup” for Yixing Project

HHRIE B [ A0 ]

“Ten Best Waste Water Treatment Plants
in China” for Jinan No. 2 Waste Water
Treatment Plant

BT R 2 B R 5 /KR R R
TEEE BN

Silver medal in the “State

Outstanding Construction Projects 2008”
for Zibo High-tech Zone Project
MERTRER T N\FEER
BETIRRE]

“2008 Outstanding Enterprises Award”
[ZEENFHEREE]
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BUSINESS PROSPECTS

Despite some of the adverse effects of the global financial crisis
still expected to linger on in 2009, the market generally believes
the PRC will be able to maintain stable economic growth. On
9 November 2008, the State Council announced a RMB4 trillion
investment plan for the next two years to stimulate domestic
demand and ensure economic growth. The fifth item amongst
the ten investment areas of the plan is construction conducive to
ecological and environmental protection, which points to huge
growth potential for the waste water treatment and waste-to-
energy sectors in the PRC. The Group believes that following the
increasing investment of the country in environmental protection
and the launching of policies conducive to related industries, it will
nurture demand for related services and in turn the overall growth
of the market. The sector will grow in scope and its structure will
adjust and optimize to reach higher standards, and eventually
become a new growth driver of the economy. According to
preliminary forecast of the Environmental Protection Bureau,
during the “11th Five Year Plan” period, the environmental
protection industry in the PRC will be able to maintain a growth
rate of 15% to 17% a year. By 2010, the value of the industry will
reach RMB880 billion.

Stepping into the 21st century, the PRC has seen notable
improvement in her mastery of technologies and ability to quickly
integrate different technological disciplines for application in the
new age of information. Developing energy technologies and a
low-carbon economy is the consensus among different countries
in the world and environmental protection and green GDP have
become dominant concepts of the era. The core philosophy of
modern management encompasses: first “people-oriented”,
meaning striving for full development of human potentials, and
second the development of environmental protection and green
GDP, which will provide the world with the next economic growth
model. In the development of energy technologies and low-
carbon economies, promotion of wind power, solar energy, bio-
fuel, waste-to-energy, water quality restoration, recycling of solid
waste, energy conservation and emission reduction will become
the guiding tune of human society development while presenting
huge room for growth to the environmental protection industry.
To grow our Everbright Environment into an environmental
protection enterprise that develops loading technologies and
employs superior techniques is both essential and achievable
and agrees with the theme of modern development. To this
end, the Group will continue to expand its core environmental
protection operation, inject more resources into developing
environmental protection technology and related crucial training
for its people, encourage innovation and keep boosting its
core competitiveness. The Group will take full advantage of
its prominent brand and follow the principal of “implementing
projects with one success followed by another”, and with
emphasis on integrity, efficiency, innovation and pragmatism,
strive to consolidate its leadership in Jiangsu and Shandong as
well as foray into new markets.

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ KEIFX AR 2 A)
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Recognizing its responsibility to create a healthy living
environment and a harmonious society and determined to grow
its business in scale and strength, the Group will keep pursuing
environment protection projects with strong potential to grow and
bring greater returns to shareholders.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Financial Position

As at 31 December 2008, the Group had total assets worth
approximately HK$6,300,678,000 and net asset value at
HK$2,819,615,000. Net asset per share attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company was HK$0.897, representing an
increase of 15% from HK$0.782 as at the end of last year. As
at 31 December 2008, gearing ratio (calculated by dividing total
liabilities by total assets) of the Group was 50%, 8 percentage
points more than the 42% at the end of last year.

The Group generally finances its operations with internally
generated cash flow and loan facilities from banks and its ultimate
holding company. As at 31 December 2008, the Group had a
cash balance of approximately HK$699,055,000, representing an
increase of HK$67,590,000 as compared to HK$631,465,000
at the end of last year. As at 31 December 2008, the Group had
outstanding borrowings of approximately HK$2,610,615,000,
representing an increase of HK$1,068,790,000 against
HK$1,541,825,000 at the end of last year. The borrowings
comprised bank loans of HK$2,329,593,000 and loans of
HK$212,958,000 from the ultimate holding company and other
loans of HK$68,064,000 from an unrelated party.

Foreign Exchange Risk

As most of the Group’s assets, borrowings and major
transactions are denominated in Renminbi and the Group mainly
settles expenses of its business in the PRC with Hong Kong dollar
remittance and Renminbi income, it has not used any financial
instrument to hedge against bank borrowings in Renminbi, which
are used mainly to meet capital requirements of its business in
the PRC. The Group will closely manage and monitor its foreign
currency risks in view of the increase in the loan balance in Hong
Kong dollars and US dollars.
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Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2008, the Group had certain banking facilities
secured with toll bridge revenue, revenue from waste water
treatment plants and waste-to-energy power plants operation
services, gross amounts due from customers for contract work,
certain receivables and deposits relating to considerations paid
for the acquisition of waste water treatment plants under TOT
(Transfer-Operate-Transfer) arrangements, bank deposits,
mortgages on fixed assets and shares of a subsidiary of the
Company as pledges. Such banking facilities, amounting to
HK$1,793,850,000 (2007: HK$1,661,544,000), were used to
the extent of HK$1,549,067,000 (2007: HK$1,253,168,000).
The aggregate net book value of assets pledged amounted to
approximately HK$2,820,606,000 (2007: HK$2,287,009,000).

Commitments

As at 31 December 2008, the Group had outstanding
commitments in connection with TOT arrangements entered into
which amounted to HK$515,725,000 (2007: HK$754,929,000).
In addition, purchase commitments outstanding in connection
with the Group’s construction contracts at 31 December
2008 not provided for in the financial statements amounted to
HK$175,932,000 (2007: HK$168,903,000).

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2008, the Company had issued financial
guarantees to two wholly-owned subsidiaries and a non-wholly
owned subsidiary. The guarantees will expire on 2 August 2015,
30 November 2015 and 30 December 2016 respectively. The
directors do not consider it probable that a claim will be made
against the Company under the guarantees. The maximum
liabilities of the Company as at year end under the guarantees
were HK$530,786,000 (2007: HK$182,280,000) which were the
facilities drawn down by the subsidiaries.
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Human Resources

The Group places much emphasis on human resources
management. It believes in helping each employee develop and
apply his full potential and is committed to building a high quality
team that can contribute to long-term development of the Group.

Employee training was a main focus of the Group in 2008 and
“broadening horizons, enhancing knowledge” was the theme
guiding the programs. With its Beijing training center responsible
for coordination, the Group arranged 10 sessions of training for
employees. Supported by a remote video system, the courses
were accessible by all staff of the Group. The attendance of the
courses reached over 1,600 man-days and covered a wide range
of topics including environmental protection policies, professional
knowledge and corporate culture, etc. The manuals give
practical reference to employees working on waste-to-energy
and waste water treatment projects. Furthermore, 10 issues of
“Everbright Environment”, the Group’s in-house magazine, were
published during the year. The publication is an instrument of
the Group to nurture corporate culture, encourage internal and
external communication and relay information of latest national
environmental protection policies and industry development to its
employees.

As at 31 December 2008, the Group had more than 1,100
employees in Hong Kong and the PRC. Employees of the Group
are remunerated according to their qualifications, experience, job
nature, performance, and with reference to market conditions.
Apart from discretionary performance bonus, the Group also
provides other benefits such as medical insurance and provident
fund scheme to employees in Hong Kong. A share option
scheme was approved by the Company’s extraordinary general
meeting on 26 May 2003 and it gives the Board the discretion to
award share options to any employees (including directors) of the
Company as a performance incentive. The Board did not grant
any option during the year under review.

Corporate Governance

The Code on Corporate Governance (“the Code”) set out in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“the Listing Rules”)
has been duly adopted by the Board as the code on corporate
governance practices of the Company.

For the year ended 31 December 2008, the Company had
complied with the provisions of the Code and some of the
recommended best practices as set out in the Code.
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Audit Committee

The three independent non-executive directors of the Company,
namely Sir David Akers-Jones (Chairman), Mr. Aubrey Li Kwok
Sing and Mr. Selwyn Mar, all sat on the Audit Committee, which
is primarily responsible for reviewing the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group, as well as discussing
and reviewing internal control and financial reporting matters of
the Group. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are
disclosed on the website of the Company. The Audit Committee
had reviewed with the management and KPMG, the Company’s
auditors, the accounting principles and practice adopted by the
Group and discussed internal controls and financial reporting
matters, including reviewing the annual results of the Group, for
the year ended 31 December 2008.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises Mr. Zang
Qiutao (Chairman), Vice-chairman of the Board, and three
independent non-executive directors of the Company, namely
Sir David Akers-Jones, Mr. Aubrey Li Kwok Sing and Mr.
Selwyn Mar. Its main duties include offering advice to the
Board on matters pertaining to the remuneration policy and
remuneration structure of the directors and senior management
of the Company. The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee are disclosed on the website of the Company.

Model Code For Securities Transactions By Directors
The Group has adopted the model code (the “Model Code”)
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of
conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions. Specific
enquiry was made with all the directors, who confirmed they had
complied with the required standard of dealings as set out in the
Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2008.
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OTHER INFORMATION

Final Dividend

The Board has proposed to pay a final dividend of HK1.0 cent
per share (2007: HK1.0 cent per share) to shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company on
Thursday, 7 May 2009. Dividend warrants will be dispatched to
shareholders on or about Tuesday, 19 May 2009.

Closure of Register of Members

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Thursday, 7 May 2009 to Tuesday, 12 May 2009 (both days
inclusive), during which no transfer of shares will be effected. In
order to qualify for the proposed final dividend for the year, all
completed transfer forms accompanied with the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share registrars,
Tricor Tengis Limited, at 26/F, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s
Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Wednesday, 6 May 2009.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Listed
Securities

There was no purchase, sale or redemption of the listed securities
of the Company by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during
the year.

Chen Xiaoping
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 20 March 2009
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION BUSINESS

ENVIRONMENTAL ENERGY PROJECTS

Suzhou Waste-to-energy Project Phase |
“Constructing high quality projects and creating
outstanding works”

Suzhou Waste-to-energy Project Phase | is the first wholly-
owned environmental protection project constructed and
operated by the Group. The total investment cost of the project
is approximately RMB489,443,000. The term of exclusive right of
operation is 25 years and the power plant has been constructed
on “BOT” basis. The power plant is equipped with three waste
incinerators with a respective processing capacity of 350-tonnes
per day and two 9,000 kilo-watt generators. Construction of
the project duly commenced in October 2004 and commercial
operation duly commenced on 18 July 2006. With its designed
average waste processing capacity of 1,000 tonnes per day,
the power plant is designed to supply no less than 100,000,000
kilowatt-hour of electricity to the power grid per year during the
term of exclusive right of operation. The plant has been operating
smoothly with emission levels meeting required standards. Its
operating performance has reached the designed parameters.
Supported by favorable environmental protection policy, the
project was approved an increase of on-grid electricity tariff from
RMBO0.5 per kilowatt-hour as stipulated in the concession right
agreement to RMBO0.575 per kilowatt-hour, which significantly
increased its operation service revenue. Besides, gas emission of
the power plant met the Euro | emission standard, and particularly
the emission of dioxin met the Euro Il emission standard and
is better than the PRC regulatory requirement. In order to raise
operational standards, the project company has applied to
Suzhou Environmental Protection Department to link up its online
gas emission monitoring system with the network of Suzhou
Environmental Monitoring Team’s monitoring centre. The project
is the first waste-to-energy project in Jiangsu Province which is
under online monitoring by environmental protection department.
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Suzhou Methane-to-energy Project Phase | and
Phase Il

“Cleaning up the environment and sharing the resources”
Suzhou Methane-to-energy Project Phase | is a wholly-owned
environmental protection project constructed and operated by the
Group. The total investment cost of the project is approximately
RMB27,940,000. The term of exclusive right of operation is 25
years and the power plant has been constructed on “BOO”
(Build-Operate-Own) basis. The project is equipped with two
1,250 kilo-watt generators. The Suzhou Methane-to-energy
Project and the Suzhou Waste-to-energy Project are on the
same power grid. Commercial operation of the Suzhou Methane-
to-energy Project Phase | commenced on 31 August 2006. The
project is expected to supply no less than 12,480,000 kilowatt-
hour of electricity to the power grid per year during the term of
exclusive right of operation. Supported by favorable national
environmental protection policy, the project was approved in April
2007 to increase the on-grid electricity tariff from RMBO0.527 per
kilowatt-hour to RMBO0.636 per kilowatt-hour and the on-grid
electricity tariff was further increased to RMBO0.646 per kilowatt-
hour in 2008, which significantly increased its operation service
revenue. In July 2007, the Group and Suzhou Municipal Public
Utilities Authority entered into an agreement in respect of the
investment and construction of Suzhou Methane-to-energy
Project Phase Il. The investment cost of Phase Il is approximately
RMB12,750,000, including the addition of one 1,250 kilo-watt
generator. Commercial operation of Phase Il duly commenced
at the end of September 2008 and it is now operating at full
capacity. It is expected to further supply no less than 8,000,000
kilowatt-hour of electricity to the power grid per year.
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Suzhou Waste-to-energy Project Phase Il
“Establishing the country’s biggest waste-to-energy
plant with the best quality construction and highest
efficiency”

Given the remarkable social and economic benefits from Suzhou
Waste-to-energy Project Phase I, the Group, in July 2007,
entered into an agreement with Suzhou Municipal Public Utilities
Authority in relation to the construction work of Suzhou Waste-
to-energy Project Phase Il. Pursuant to which the designed
waste processing capacity of Phase Il was adjusted from 500
tonnes of household waste daily to 1,000 tonnes of household
waste daily. The total investment cost of Phase Il is approximately
RMB450,000,000. Its term of exclusive right of operation is the
same as Suzhou Waste-to-energy Project Phase |. Construction
work of the project duly commenced in February 2008 and its
core structure completed at the end of 2008. Upon completion
of the construction of Phase Il by the second quarter of 2009, the
total processing capacity of Phase | and Phase Il will reach 2,000
tonnes of waste daily, and will supply 200,000,000 kilowatt-hour
of electricity to the power grid per year. By then, Suzhou Waste-
to-energy Project will become one of the biggest waste-to-energy
power plant in the PRC.
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Suzhou Industrial Solid Waste Landfill Project
“Establishing the country’s first industrial solid waste
landfill operated on commercial basis”

Suzhou Industrial Solid Waste Landfill Project is a wholly-owned
project constructed and operated by the Group. The total
investment cost of the project is approximately RMB377,484,000.
The term of exclusive right of operation is 30 years. The total
storage capacity of the project is 600,000 cubic metre. For Phase
| of Suzhou Industrial Solid Waste Landfill Project, the investment
cost is approximately RMB78,100,000 and the storage capacity
is 200,000 cubic metre. The construction of Phase | duly
commenced in November 2006 and commercial operation of the
project commenced in July 2007. This project is the first industrial
solid waste landfill project operated on commercial basis in the
PRC and is the only project of this kind in Suzhou.

Suzhou Industrial Solid Waste Landfill
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Suzhou Everbright National Demonstrative
Veinous Industrial Park Projects

“Making the area a base for environmental education
and promotion in Suzhou, establishing it as a beautiful
industrial zone”

In July 2005, the Group entered into a framework letter of intent
in respect of the construction of Suzhou Everbright Environmental
Protection Industrial Zone with the Municipal Government of
Mudu Town, Wuzhong District, Suzhou City, Jiangsu Province.
In 2007, the State Environmental Science Institute has
completed the new “Construction Plan Guidelines” of Suzhou
Everbright Environmental Protection Industrial Zone and the
project has been formally renamed “Suzhou Everbright National
Demonstrative Veinous Industrial Park” (“Suzhou Veinous Park”).
The project is the country’s first integrated park for environmental
protection to centralize the disposal of municipal solid waste.
According to the new construction plan, Suzhou Veinous Park
will occupy an area of approximately 2.5 square kilometers and
due to a large increase in the number of development projects,
the original estimated total investment cost of approximately
HK$1,500,000,000 is expected to increase substantially. Through
comprehensive planning and centralization of management, the
whole project will be implemented in phases over 3 to 5 years.

A number of projects inside Suzhou Veinous Park have already
been completed, including the Waste-to-energy Project Phase |,
the Methane-to-energy Project Phase | and Phase Il and the
Industrial Solid Waste Landfill Project Phase |. As for projects
under construction, they include the Waste-to-energy Project

Suzhou Everbright National Demonstrative Veinous Industrial Park
BN S
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Phase Il and a leachate treatment plant. The projects to be
developed include a sludge treatment centre, a solid waste
technology development and research centre, the Waste-to-
energy Project Phase lll and an electronic waste recycling centre,
etc.

Yixing Waste-to-energy Project

“Establishing a waste-to-energy pioneer project with
domestic equipment based on imported technology”

In April 2005, the Group entered into an undertaking in respect
of exclusive right of operation with the Construction Bureau of
Yixing City. Pursuant to which a waste-to-energy plant will be
constructed in Yixing City. The total investment cost of the project
is RMB238,300,000. The term of exclusive right of operation
is 25 years and the power plant will be constructed on “BOT”
basis. The plant is equipped with two waste incinerators, each
with a respective processing capacity of 250 tonnes per day and
a 9,000 kilo-watt generator. The construction of Yixing Waste-
to-energy Project duly commenced in September 2005 and

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ REIFX AR 22 A)

IR E IR =
E o

Hi N B T RE D Bl 4RI A

HELIRRIREEEIER
[R5 ERMEECNRETRE

$%lﬁé_22§£¢mﬂéﬁiéﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬁ@&%

FRPERHE - REEMERNERERE
ﬂ%ﬁ o I8 B 483% & AR #238,300,0007T * HFEFAL
CH—+RHF  Z[BOTIEAZE - ZHERE
& B B IR 250ME )58 B2 1B F1— 59,000 FL A9 3
E o ZIEER _EZRFNAERATL - IR
ZETHFNAEAREESE c LREEEBABT
FLF AR 0.6467T - IZRRIB B ket #E - %78
B HEIE K S 500 - AT FF & & Bl
T S TR 44,500,000 F FLbF - %8 H

T LA -

._-l—"'_"_l “ -

Yixing Waste-to-energy Project
BRI EREBIEE

EBEaamn s=d @@ W8 l-_




ANNUAL REPORT 2008 —ZZ/\F4F 3k ‘ 047 ‘

the plant started commercial operation in June 2007. The on-
grid electricity tariff is RMB0.646 per kilowatt-hour. According to
its development plan, the project’s designed waste processing
capacity is 500 tonnes per day and is expected to supply no
less than 44,500,000 kilowatt-hour of electricity to the power
grid per year during the term of exclusive right of operation. The
project is the Group’s first waste-to-energy pioneer project with
domestic equipment based on imported technology. After one
and a half years of operation, it proved that waste-to-energy plant
constructed with domestic equipment developed from imported
technology could also operate smoothly and successfully, with
dioxin emission complying with Euro Il standard. It offers the
Company an alternate choice of construction when constructing
other waste-to-energy plants in the future. Like Suzhou Waste-
to-energy Project Phase |, the project company has applied
to the local environmental protection department to link up its
online gas emission monitoring system with the network of the
environmental protection department for the purpose of online
emission monitoring by the government.

For the waste-to-energy industry, the processing of leachate
is a difficult problem. The Group has chosen Yixing Waste-to-
energy Project to be the country’s first waste-to-energy plant to
treat leachate according to Grade 1A standard and the treated
water can be used as recycled water and for plantation. The
said project has demonstrated a technological breakthrough in
the environmental protection industry of the PRC. The related
experience will be applied to the other waste-to-energy projects
of the Group. In order to fully utilize the methane produced
by leachate treatment, a 120-kilowatt methane-gas power
generator was installed. In December 2008, the generator
commenced generation of power. At present, its average daily
generation output is more than 1,000 kilowatt-hour of electricity.
The electricity output has been for our own use, resulting in the
decrease of electricity cost. Yixing Project Company was also
approved to increase waste processing fee to RMB74.13 per
tonne from 1 January 2008.
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Jiangyin Waste-to-energy Project

“Constructing high quality projects, enhancing
techniques and technologies and creating new focus”

In January 2006, the Group secured a waste-to-energy project
in Jiangyin City of Jiangsu Province. The total investment cost
of the project is approximately RMB388,740,000. The term of
exclusive right of operation is 30 years. The designed processing
capacity of the power plant is 800 tonnes of waste per day.
The construction of the power plant has been conducted in
two phases on “BOT” basis. Its ultimate processing capacity
is expected to be no less than 1,200 tonnes of waste per
day. Phase | of the power plant is equipped with two waste
incinerators with a respective processing capacity of 400 tonnes
per day and a 12,000 kilo-watt generator. Construction work of
the project commenced on 28 June 2006 and its commercial
operation commenced in May 2008. On-grid electricity tariff was
fixed at RMB0.646 per kilowatt-hour. With its designed waste
processing capacity of 800 tonnes per day, Phase | of the project
is expected to supply no less than 77,000,000 kilowatt-hour of
electricity to the power grid per year during the term of exclusive
right of operation. The leachate treatment project of the power
plant is also designed and constructed according to Grade 1A
standard, with the view of achieving “nil discharge”, and test
running has already started.
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Changzhou Waste-to-energy Project

“Creating an outstanding model of the industry by
assimilating new ideas and raising standards”
Changzhou Waste-to-energy Project is the fourth waste-to-
energy project of the Group in Jiangsu Province. The total
investment cost of the project is approximately RMB412,560,000.
The term of exclusive right of operation is 25.5 years. The
designed processing capacity of the power plant is 800 tonnes
of waste per day. It has been constructed on “BOT” basis. The
plant is equipped with two waste incinerators with a respective
processing capacity of 400 tonnes per day and a 12,000 kilo-
watt generator. Construction work of the project commenced in
March 2007. In November 2008, the plant was able to supply
electricity to the power grid when carrying out (the “72+ 24”
hours) test running. According to its development plan, the power
plant’s designed waste processing capacity is 800 tonnes per
day and is expected to supply no less than 77,000,000 kilowatt-
hour of electricity to the power grid per year during the term of
exclusive right of operation. Besides, based on the experience
from Yixing Project and Jiangyin Project, the leachate treatment
centre of the power plant is designed and constructed according
to Grade 1A standard, with the view of achieving “nil discharge”.

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ KBIBR AR A A)

GRS EIEE
(R RIH ~ BLiRE - HETEERREIRE]

BN RIEREEE EAEEEIHA RN
FOENFREFEEE r BEAKEHNAR
#412,560,0007C * HFEEH-_+RFY¥ &
A48 A R E R R 800ME - 1Z[BOT )R &
ZIEBREMAS BEREIOEAREEN—4
12,000 F LB E# - ZIBER-_EZ+F=AH
I —2T)\F+—ABREREFARTEES
#HEA72+24 /N FAR - IRRIE B RRFTHRE B R
IBH7 3800 - FEETER T E AT LHEEE
M?t’ﬁ {K5277,000,000F FLBF © o) » 5% THE B
2HRHEIEH &/I@IEH RI4EES - 2RBERELE
R — RAZYEETTRRET ~ T a—%fiﬁriﬁﬁt
B e




ANNUAL REPORT 2008 — T\ 44 ‘ 050 ‘

PROJECT
HIGHLIGHTS

ENVIRONMENTAL WATER PROJECTS

Qingdao Waste Water Treatment Project
“Producing quality projects and creating an attractive
environment”

In November 2003, the Group entered into an agreement in
respect of a waste water treatment project in Qingdao (including
Qingdao Haibohe Waste Water Treatment Plant and Qingdao
Maidao Waste Water Treatment Plant ) with Veolia Water and
Qingdao Municipal Government. The total investment cost of the
project is approximately US$42,808,150 and the Group indirectly
owns 60% interests in the project. Commercial operation of the
plants commenced on 1 January 2005. Waste water treatment
service charges were charged based on the daily treatment
capacity of 150,000 tonnes. In March 2005, Qingdao EB-VW
Waste Water Treatment Co. Ltd. entered into the “Engineering,
Procurement and Construction Contract” with a consortium
led by Veolia Water Systems, under which the consortium led
by Veolia Water Systems was appointed to be in charge of
the construction for the extension facilities of Qingdao Maidao
Waste Water Treatment Plant (the “Extension Facilities”) under a
turnkey contract. The Extension Facilities, being ancillary facilities
for the water sports events of 2008 Olympic Games, has been
constructed according to Grade 1B standard. Construction of
the Extension Facilites commenced at the end of June 2005.
The Extension Facilities started to receive waste water in June
2006 and commercial operation duly commenced in July 2007.
Qingdao Maidao Waste Water Treatment Plant has an area
of 4.54 hectares, which is 67.4% smaller than waste water
treatment plants of similar scale in the PRC, achieving the utmost
economy in land resources. At present, the average treatment
volume of the two plants in aggregate is 190,000 tonnes per
day and will gradually increase to 220,000 tonnes. Besides, in
order to fully utilize the methane produced from sludge digestion,
four 500-kilowatt methane-gas power generators were installed.
The project is the first methane-to-energy project in Shandong
Province . In June 2008, the generators commenced generation
of power. At present, the generators’ average daily generation
output is more than 20,000 kilowatt-hour of electricity. The
electricity output has been for our own use, resulting in the
decrease of electricity cost.
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Zibo Southern and Northern Plants Waste Water
Treatment Project

“Establishing the project company as a renowned
corporation in the industry and making the same a base
for environmental education on waste water treatment
in Zibo”

In September 2005, the Group entered into agreements in
respect of the Zibo Waste Water Treatment Project with Zibo
Municipal Government, Zibo Finance Bureau and Zibo City
Environmental Protection Bureau and Zibo City Fisheries Bureau
for the acquisition of the Southern Plant and the Northern
Plant in Zibo City. The investment cost is approximately
RMB224,055,000. The project is operated on “TOT” basis and
the term of exclusive right of operation is 25 years. The designed
waste water treatment capacity of the plants is 250,000 tonnes
per day. As regards the equipment upgrade for the plants, it was
completed in April 2006. At present, the total daily waste water
treatment volume of the plants is more than 220,000 tonnes.
On 28 August 2006, Zibo Project Company and Zibo Municipal
Government signed a supplemental agreement in respect of the
overall upgrade of the Southern Plant and the Northern Plant. The
cost for the overall upgrade is approximately RMB130,221,000.
The upgrading work has already completed and the discharge
quality reached Grade 1A of the national waste water discharge
standard in May 2008. Waste water treatment fee increased
from RMBO0.75 per tonne to RMB0.98 per tonne. Zibo Project
Company is the first Chinese enterprise whose waste water
quality reaches Grade 1A of the national waste water discharge
standard whereas Zibo is the first Chinese city whose urban
waste water quality reaches the same standard.
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Zibo High-tech Industrial Development Zone
Waste Water Treatment Project

“Producing an excellent project, setting an example for
the industry”

Zibo High-tech Industrial Development Zone Waste Water
Treatment Project is the Group’s first waste water treatment
project constructed according to Grade 1A standard and
operated on “BOT” basis. The total investment cost of the project
is approximately RMB150,000,000. The term of exclusive right
of operation is 25 years. The designed waste water treatment
capacity of the plant is 100,000 tonnes per day. Construction of
the Project commenced in October 2006 and the plant received
waste water in March 2007. Commercial operation of the project
commenced in September 2007 and the waste water treatment
fee is RMB0.98 per tonne. In November 2008, the project was
awarded a silver medal in the “State Outstanding Construction
Projects 2008”.
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Jinan Waste Water Treatment Project

“Creating outstanding environmental protection works
under excellent management”

In June 2006, the Group entered into an agreement with the
relevant department of Jinan Municipal Government to acquire
Jinan No. 1 and No. 2 waste water treatment plants. On 31
October 2006, Jinan Project Company duly executed various
agreements with the relevant departments of Jinan Municipal
Government. Jinan No. 1 and No. 2 waste water treatment plants
were formally handed over to the Group on 18 November 2006
and commercial operation of the project commenced thereafter.
It is the second wholly-owned waste water treatment project
acquired by the Group. The total investment cost of the project
is approximately RMB400,000,000. The term of exclusive right of
operation is 30 years. The total designed waste water treatment
capacity of the plants is 420,000 tonnes per day. After the said
handover of the plants, the Group invested RMB20,000,000 to
upgrade the equipment and the upgrading work was completed
in April 2007, two months earlier than the expected completion
date. The plants are now operating at full capacity. In July 2008,
Jinan Project Company and Jinan Municipal Government signed
a supplemental agreement in respect of the overall upgrading
of Jinan No.1 and No.2 plants and the extension of Jinan No.1
Plant for a daily waste water treatment of 80,000 tonnes. The
cost for the overall upgrade and extension work is approximately
RMB287,000,000. The upgrading work and the extension work
were carried out at the same time. The upgrading work was
completed and the plants were ready to receive waste water in
December 2008. The extension of Jinan No.1 Plant is expected
to receive waste water in mid 2009. Upon completion of the
said upgrading work and extension work, the total designed
capacity of Jinan No.1 and No.2 plants will be increased from
420,000 tonnes per day to 500,000 tonnes per day. Discharge
quality will improve to the highest Grade 1A of the national waste
water discharge standard. The waste water treatment fee will be
increased from RMBO0.75 per tonne to RMB1.012 per tonne.

-

Jinan Waste Water Treatment Plant
B 5 /KER IR R
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Jinan Licheng Waste Water Treatment Project

In August 2008, the Group and Jinan Municipal Public Utilities
Authority entered into agreements in respect of Jinan No. 3
Waste Water Treatment Project on BOT basis. The designed
waste water treatment capacity of the project is 100,000 tonnes
per day. The investment cost of the project is approximately
RMB138,000,000. The project will be constructed and operated
according to national Grade 1A discharge standard. The waste
water treatment fee will be RMBO0.81 per tonne. Construction
work of the project commenced in September 2008 and has
been progressing satisfactorily. It is expected the plant will be
ready to receive waste water by the end of March 2009.

Zibo Zhoucun Waste Water Treatment Project
“Establishing excellent projects and setting example of
brilliant works”

In July 2007, the Group entered into a cooperative framework
agreement with Zibo Zhoucun Municipal Government. In October
2007, the Group entered into the formal agreements in respect of
the waste water treatment plant at Zhoucun with Zibo Zhoucun
Municipal Government. The project is the second waste water
treatment project invested, constructed and operated on “BOT”
basis by the Group. The designed waste water treatment capacity
of the project is 80,000 tonnes per day. The total investment
cost of the project is approximately RMB120,000,000. For
Phase | of the project, the waste water treatment capacity will be
40,000 tonnes per day and the investment cost is approximately
RMB70,000,000. The project will be constructed and operated
according to national Grade 1A discharge standard. The waste
water treatment fee will be RMBO0.95 per tonne. Construction
work of the project commenced in August 2008. The plant was
ready to receive waste water at the end of 2008 and the test
running duly carried out in January 2009.
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Binzhou Boxing Waste Water Treatment Project
“Producing quality projects and creating outstanding
works”

In November 2007, the Group entered into various agreements
with Boxing Municipal Government for the acquisition of Boxing
waste water treatment plant on “TOT” basis. The total waste
water treatment capacity of the project is 60,000 tonnes per
day. The acquisition cost of Phase | with waste water treatment
capacity of 30,000 tonnes and the investment cost for upgrading
work will be RMB40,000,000. Upon completion of the upgrading
work, the project will be operated according to national Grade1B
discharge standard. Boxing Project Company took over the
plant in April 2008 and commercial operation of the project
commenced thereafter. At the same time, Boxing Project
Company and Boxing Municipal Government entered into a
supplemental agreement in respect of Phase Il of the project with
waste water treatment capacity of 30,000 tonnes. The upgrading
work of Phase | and the construction of Phase Il commenced in
August 2008 and the plants were ready to receive waste water in
December 2008 and January 2009 respectively.

Boxing Waste Water Treatment Project
HE5/KEIEIEE
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Jiangyin Waste Water Treatment Project
“Establishing the country’s first waste water treatment
pioneer project aiming at achieving “integration of
plants and sewage piping network in one system in rural
areas””

Jiangyin Waste Water Treatment Project is the Group’s first
waste water treatment project in Jiangsu Province. In November
2007, the Group entered into the “Joint Venture Agreement”
with Jiangyin City Xin Guo Lian Investment and Development
Company Limited. Pursuant to which both parties will establish a
project company in Jiangyin City and will invest RMB624,000,000
to acquire Binjiang waste water treatment plant, Chengxi waste
water treatment plant, Shizhuang waste water treatment plant
and Chengshi waste water treatment plant situated in Jiangyin
City on “TOT + BOT” basis. The Group owns 70% interests in the
project company. The designed waste water treatment capacity
of the plants is 190,000 tonnes per day. The term of exclusive
right of operation is 30 years. The Plants were formally handed
over to the Group on 18 January 2008 and commercial operation
of the project has commenced. Upgrading work of the project
commenced to comply with Grade 1A discharge standard and
the estimated construction cost is RMB201,000,000. In March
2008, the Group and Jiangyin Municipal Government entered
into the “Asset Transfer Agreement in respect of All Sewage
Piping Network in the Urban Area of Jiangyin City”. The purchase
price was RMB267,000,000. The waste water treatment fee was
adjusted from RMB2.1 per tonne to RMB2.52 per tonne. The
Group intends to integrate the waste water treatment plants and
sewage piping network in Jiangyin in phases in the next 2 to 3
years. The plan is to ultimately integrate the plants and sewage
piping network of the urban and rural areas into one seamless
system, which will make the Jiangyin Waste Water Treatment
Project the first integrated urban and rural waste water treatment
model project in the PRC.
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INFRASTRUCTURE BUSINESS

Fuzhou Qingzhou Bridge Project

The Group has 80% interests in Fuzhou Qingzhou Bridge
(“Qingzhou Bridge”). Located in the strategic traffic intersection
of the city, Qingzhou Bridge is not only the major bridge over
Minjiang that connects to the “Shenhai Expressway” (a coastal
expressway in eastern China that runs from Shenyang City of
Liaoning Province in the north to Haikou City of Hainan Province
in the south), but also provides a short cut for Fuzhou City to
Changle International Airport. The 1,196m-long Qingzhou Bridge
has been designed to carry dual six lane carriageways. With a
main span of 605m, Qingzhou Bridge is one of the longest span
cable-stayed bridges in the world. It was opened to traffic on 29
December 2002. Given its geographical advantages as well as
the rising need for inbound traffic, the traffic flows of Qingzhou
Bridge continued to grow, providing steady cashflow to the
Group.

Fuzhou Qingzhou Bridge
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TANG SHUANGNING - CHAIRMAN

aged 54, is the Chairman of the Company. Mr. Tang is a member
of the 11th National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference. He is also the Chairman of China
Everbright Group Limited, China Everbright Holdings Company
Limited, China Everbright Bank Company Limited and Everbright
Securities Company Limited. Mr. Tang is also the Director of Sun
Life Everbright Life Insurance Company Limited and the Chairman
of China Everbright Limited. He also serves as the Vice Chairman
of China Society for Finance and Banking and the Consultant of
China Society for Investment. Prior to joining the China Everbright
Group, he was the Vice Chairman of the China Banking
Regulatory Commission, the Director-General of the Banking
Supervision Department |, the Director-General of the Currency,
Gold and Silver Bureau and the Director-General of the Credit
Management Division of the People’s Bank of China. He holds a
Master’s Degree in Economics from China Northeast University
of Finance & Economics. Mr. Tang has extensive knowledge and
experience in banking and finance management. Mr. Tang joined
the Board in July 2007.

ZANG QIUTAO - VICE-CHAIRMAN

aged 56, is the Vice-chairman of the Company. He is also the
Vice-chairman of China Everbright Group Limited and China
Everbright Holdings Company Limited. Mr. Zang is the Chairman
of China Everbright Industry Group Limited and China Everbright
Investment Management Corporation. He is also the Deputy
Chairman of China Everbright Limited. Mr. Zang graduated from
the Graduate School of the Chinese Academy of Social Sciences.
He was formerly the Division Chief of the State Economic
Commission and Deputy Division Director of the State Planning
Commission. He joined the Board in September 2004.
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LI XUEMING - VICE-CHAIRMAN

aged 61, is the Vice-chairman of the Company. He is also
an Executive Director and Deputy General Manager of China
Everbright Group Limited and China Everbright Holdings
Company Limited. He is the Chairman of Shanghai Everbright
Convention and Exhibition Center Co., Ltd. and Vice-chairman
of China Everbright Industry Group Limited and China
Everbright Investment Management Corporation. Mr. Li is also a
Non-executive Director and Deputy Chairman of HKC (Holdings)
Limited. Mr. Li holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Industrial Automation
from Tsinghua University. Prior to joining the China Everbright
Group in 1998, he was the Vice-president of China Aerospace
International Holdings Ltd. Mr. Li joined the Board in June 2003.

CHEN XIAOPING - CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

aged 55, is the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. He is
also a director of China Everbright Holdings Company Limited,
a Standing Director of China Environmental Culture Promotion
Association, a Director of World Eminence Chinese Business
Association and a Financial Expert of Shenzhen Expert Working
Federation. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chen had been a
department head in the Bureau of Investigation & Supervision
of The People’s Bank of China, the Assistant Governor of China
Everbright Bank Company Limited and the President of the
Bank’s Guangzhou Branch. He graduated from the Department
of Finance of the Southwest University in Finance and Economics,
the PRC, finished the MBA class of the Research Institute of
Business Management of Sichuan University, the PRC and holds
a Master’s Degree with a major in Money & Banking from the
Department of Finance and Trade of the China Research Institute
of Social Science. He holds the title of Senior Economist and
Certified Public Accountant in the PRC. He has comprehensive
experience and knowledge in banking, capital market and
management. Mr. Chen joined the Board in August 2001.

FAN YAN HOK, PHILIP - GENERAL MANAGER

aged 59, is the General Manager of the Company and a non-
executive director of HKC (Holdings) Limited. Mr. Fan holds a
Bachelor's Degree in Industrial Engineering, a Master’s Degree
in Operations Research from Stanford University and a Master’s
Degree in Management Science from Massachusetts Institute
of Technology. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Fan had been an
Executive Director of CITIC Pacific Limited in charge of industrial
projects in China. He joined the Board in November 1997.
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WONG KAM CHUNG, RAYMOND
- CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

aged 45, is the Chief Financial Officer of the Company. He
holds a Master of Business Administration Degree, a Master of
Management Degree in Information Technology Management
from Macquarie University, Australia, and a Bachelor of Arts
with Honours Degree in Accountancy from the City University
of Hong Kong. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, a member of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants of England and Wales, a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants of United
Kingdom and a Certified General Accountant in Canada. He has
extensive experience in accounting, finance and auditing areas.
Mr. Wong joined the Board in December 2002.

ZHANG WEIYUN

aged 52, is the Deputy General Manager of Finance Management
Department of China Everbright Holdings Company Limited.
Ms. Zhang holds a Bachelor’'s Degree in Economics from the
Shanxi Financial University. She joined the China Everbright
Group in 1991 and was formerly Deputy Division Chief of Capital
Division and Division Chief of the General Affairs Division of
Finance Management Department of China Everbright Group
Limited. Ms. Zhang joined the Board in December 2002.

THE HON SIR DAVID AKERS-JONES, GBM
- INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

aged 81, is Chairman of GAM Hong Kong Limited. He is Deputy
Chairman and Independent Non-executive Director of CNT
Group Limited, Independent Non-executive Deputy Chairman of
Hysan Development Company Limited and Independent Non-
executive Director of K. Wah International Holdings Limited. He is
also a chairman and member of various voluntary organizations.
He received his Master of Arts Degree at Oxford University. He
was formerly the chief secretary of Hong Kong. He joined the
Board in March 1995.
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LI KWOK SING, AUBREY
- INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

aged 59, is Chairman of MCL Partners Limited, a Hong Kong
based financial advisory and investment firm, and has over 30
years’ experience in merchant banking and commercial banking.
He is also a non-executive director of The Bank of East Asia,
Limited, Café de Coral Holdings Limited, CNPC (Hong Kong)
Limited, Kowloon Development Company Limited and Pokfulam
Development Company Limited. Mr. Li has a Master of Business
Administration from Columbia University and a Bachelor of
Science in Civil Engineering from Brown University. He joined the
Board in November 1998.

MAR SELWYN
- INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

aged 73, graduated from the London School of Economics,
University of London. He is a fellow member of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants of United Kingdom and the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is a partner
of Nexia Charles Mar Fan & Co. He is an independent non-
executive director and chairman of the board audit committee
of Standard Bank Asia Limited. He is also an independent non-
executive director and chairman of the audit committee of
Minmetals Land Limited and Man Yue International Holdings
Limited. He was formerly an Independent Non-Executive Director
and Deputy Chairman of Mitsumaru East Kit (Holdings) Limited
until 7 July 2008. He was the President of Hong Kong Society
of Accountants (now known as Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants) in 1991. Mr. Mar is an Honorary Fellow of
the Lingnan University. He joined the Board in September 2004.

POON YUEN LING

aged 41, is the Company Secretary of the Company. She is
an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Company
Secretaries and The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators. She joined the Group in April, 1994, with over 10
years of experience in company secretarial and administration
areas.
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The Group has been relentless in raising its corporate governance
standard. The Group believes that it is the key for business
development and safeguard shareholders’ interest. The Group
has been upholding the management principle of “people
interest, pragmatism, creativity and systematic management”,
and through a set of rules and regulations, strengthen its internal
control and risk management. At the same time, through
public and full disclosure of information on a timely basis, the
Group is eager to increase its transparency, accountability
and thus corporate value. The Board meets regularly and it
has in place an Audit Committee, a Remuneration Committee
and a Management Committee under the Board. On the risk
management front, the Group has set up a Risk Management
Advisory Committee to monitor and assess risk on regular
basis, raise risk management standard and evaluate investment
projects. With regards to the technological risk management
mechanism, the Group has set up an Engineering Technical
Management Committee which is responsible for technology
assessment of investment projects. For financial control, the
Group insists on stringent budget management, and formed
the Budget Approval Management Committee, focusing on
monitoring construction and operation budgets. In January
2009, the Group set up an Operations Management Committee
of Everbright Environment for its fast growing environmental
protection business. The Operations Management of Everbright
Environment will conduct regular meetings to discuss and resolve
critical issues of the environmental protection business to ensure
the business has a rapid yet healthy growth. At the same time,
the Group has set up an Internal Audit Department to perform
internal audits on the Group’s investment projects regularly to
raise the Group’s management standard.

The Code on Corporate Governance set out in Appendix 14
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited was duly adopted by the Board
as the code on corporate governance practices of the Company.

For the year ended 31 December 2008, the Company had
complied with the provisions of the Code and some of the
recommended best practices as set out in the Code.
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Composition and function

The Board comprises ten directors, of which seven are executive
directors and the remaining three are independent non-executive
directors.

As at 31 December 2008, the directors were:

Name of Director Title

Mr. Tang Shuangning Chairman

Mr. Zang Qiutao Vice-chairman
Mr. Li Xueming Vice-chairman
Mr. Chen Xiaoping Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Philip Fan Yan Hok

Mr. Raymond Wong Kam Chung

General Manager
Chief Financial Officer

Ms. Zhang Weiyun Executive Director

Sir David Akers-Jones Independent

Non-executive Director

Mr. Aubrey Li Kwok Sing Independent

Non-executive Director

Mr. Selwyn Mar Independent

Non-executive Director

In accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company,
subject to the manner of retirement by rotation of directors
as from time to time prescribed under the Listing Rules and
notwithstanding any contractual or other terms on which any
director may be appointed or engaged, at each annual general
meeting, one-third of the directors for the time being (or if their
number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not
less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation, provided
that every director (including those appointed for a specific term)
shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years.
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Composition and function (continued)

The position of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are
held by separate individuals, with a view to maintain an effective
segregation of duties between the management of the Board
and the day-to-day management of the Group’s business and
operation.

The Board meets regularly throughout the year. Under the
lead of the Chairman, the Board is responsible for approving
and supervising the overall strategy and policies of the Group,
approving annual budget and business plans, assessing
the Group’s performance and supervising the work of the
management. All directors have access to board papers and
related materials, and are provided with adequate information
on a timely manner. The directors of the Company may, if
necessary, seek legal or other independent professional advice at
the expense of the Company.

In respect of regular board meetings and audit committee
meetings, the agenda is sent out to the directors at least fourteen
days before the meeting and the accompanying papers are sent
at least three days before the meeting for information.

As an integral part of good corporate governance, the Board has
established the following committees with specific written terms
of reference which deal clearly with the committee’s authority and
duties:

1. REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises Mr. Zang
Qiutao (Chairman), the Vice-chairman of the Board, and
three independent non-executive directors of the Company,
namely Sir David Akers-Jones, Mr. Aubrey Li Kwok Sing
and Mr. Selwyn Mar. Its main duties include offering advice
to the Board on the matters pertaining the remuneration
policy and remuneration structure of the directors and senior
management of the Company. The terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee are disclosed on the website of
the Company.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee has reviewed
the remuneration policy and structure of the executive
directors and senior management of the Company, and
offered advice on the same to the Board.

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ KEIFX AR 22 A)

HAREBEE)
TRERITRER BB NRALEE  £ESF
SEEMEBEBELE A RERBUEANR

pa

1

EXenNFEANEHME - EXTFRET - EF
SREHERERASENRERARBOR - 1t
EFEREREBE  SMARERR - ARE
BEEEBNIIF - 2RESHARSHEFTEX
HREBEN  UEREERHTNER - £&
ENBERT  ARRESARINEAERSEM
BYMEXER  ARERAARART -

EHNEEEeRNENZRE SRR R
FMEZA&d TOXRADE  MEEEESAE
B e dReRmRL=RAEE S

ADBTEERZEGKEAREN -

REREHERNERER  EFGMILTHUT
MEEE  YERASEZESABRESR
RREHARERE G CRIENBE

1. FZEE
BEHFMEZEehESS T EEINERE
(EEXRE) =B IFNTESREER
BEL  FEERERTHREFELLMANK B
IZBEERRARREERSREEAR
MERFMBREIRBRESTEREEZ
- AREFHZEenBREEECEHIIN
ZA/NGI: D EEVA AN

RAFEER  FHEZESCER T AREH
TEENREEEABNFHIMBOR RRE -
WREESRE T ARES -



ANNUAL REPORT 2008 —ZZ)\&F4F%#

‘066‘

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (D& 8k EE

Composition and function (continued)

1.

2.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued)

The remuneration of all the directors and their respective
interest in share options are set out in note 8 to the financial
statements and under the “Share option scheme” paragraph
in the report of the directors of this Annual Report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee, comprising all three independent non-
executive directors of the Company, namely Sir David Akers-
Jones (Chairman), Mr. Aubrey Li Kwok Sing and Mr. Selwyn
Mar, is primarily responsible for reviewing the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group, as well as
discussing and reviewing the internal control and financial
reporting matters of the Group. The terms of reference of
the Audit Committee are disclosed on the website of the
Company.

During the year, the Audit Committee has reviewed with
the management and KPMG, the Company’s auditors, the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
and discussed the Group’s internal control and financial
reporting matters, including review of the annual results for
the year ended 31 December 2007 and the interim results
for the six months ended 30 June 2008.

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Management Committee comprises Mr. Chen
Xiaoping (Chairman), the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, Mr. Philip Fan Yan Hok, the General Manager
of the Company, Mr. Raymond Wong Kam Chung, the
Chief Financial Officer of the Company, Mr. Hu Yanguo,
the Assistant to General Manager of the Company and Mr.
Yang Zhigiang, the Manager of the Legal Department of the
Company. The Management Committee is the decision-
making body for day-to-day operation and its main duties
include performing the duties assigned by the Board as
well as exercising the authority and rights authorized by the
same. The general mandate in relation to the Management
Committee in written form has been established.

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ REIFX AR 22 A)

HREBEE)

1.

E eI EAC Y
BEERNFM M B R D BTSN AF
B BRRME \REFSRE BT
g —BR-

FRZLEE
BERZEGREBIBYIENTES &
mERBERLT(REXFE)  FHRELENRS
fRIERSEAANK  EXEZREBRENAEH
FrERaN 2 5T RRISR BRI - 55w Mt ad A&
EELMBRRESEE - AHERZEEN
B EEZ S HIINARFMUEA o

RAFEER  BEZZEGCREEENALR
AIAZ AN R 5 G Rt B E S P BB AN R E
Rz ST BER R ER - W ERA KB
NEMEELRMBERESEE(BREHNAR
RAEE-TTLF+-A=1T—HILZFE
RELBE_TT)\FERNA=ZTHIEXRER
Z AP ERE)ETTR R o

EEZRE

ERZEGNKE BB TRAESR N TEE
(BEXRE)  AKEBCBELE  WiSeE
HERESEA  ABRIRBIRAAIE R o A ROE R
BB ERELE - EEZEGRAEER
FRERL - AXBRERRETESSE
ENBREMITEEME TRENEEN - &
BRZERCRESEN—RIERE -



ANNUAL REPORT 2008 —ZZ)\&F4% ‘ 067 ‘ CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ KEIFX AR 22 A)

The following shows the number of regular board meetings TFRERANFEARQ B FFRITHTHESTS L
and committee meetings held during the year as well as the ZE&&zAEBNESERSLRERE -
attendance rate of each director.

Attendance rate R EL
Board of Remuneration Audit Management
Name of Director Directors Committee Committee Committee
4.2 EEE FMWESE BREEE EBZEE
Mr. Tang Shuangning FEELLE 2/4 0/1 N/A N/A
(Note 1) (Hit1) NEf TER
Mr. Zang Qiutao EER A 4/4 1/1 N/A N/A
(Note 2) (H17t2) NEF NER
Mr. Li Xueming ZEmRE L 2/4 N/A N/A N/A
NER NER NER
Mr. Chen Xiaoping BRNEAEAE 4/4 N/A N/A 10/10
NER NER
Mr. Philip Fan Yan Hok SBLBEE 4/4 N/A N/A 09/10
NER NEF
Mr. Raymond Wong Kam Chung = $pEa% 4 4/4 N/A N/A 10/10
NER NEF
Ms. Zhang Weiyun RERZL 4/4 N/A N/A N/A
NER NaEA NER
Sir David Akers-Jones EREET 4/4 1/1 2/3 N/A
NER
Mr. Aubrey Li Kwok Sing R E A 4/4 1/1 3/3 N/A
NER
Mr. Selwyn Mar SiRRLE 4/4 1/1 3/3 N/A
NER
Notes: izt -

7. Mr. Tang Shuangning resigned as a member and the Chairman of the 1. &
Remuneration Committee of the Company with effect from 20 January [l
2009.

EREAER-_TTNF— AT RBTALARH

LEQCBRER -

2. Mr. Zang Qiutao was appointed as the Chairman of the Remuneraton 2. EIELEER —TTNF—A - THHEEEALNAT
Committee of the Company with effect from 20 January 2009. FTMEE R 2ERE -
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The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
should be separate. The Chairman’s responsibility is to manage
the Board and the Chief Executive Officer’s responsibility is to
manage the Company’s business. The division of responsibilities
between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer is clearly
established.

The main duties of the Chairman include providing leadership
for and overseeing the functioning of the Board; formulating
overall strategies and policies of the Company; ensuring that
all directors of the Board are properly briefed on issues arising
at Board meetings and giving each director an opportunity to
express his/her view at board meetings; ensuring that directors
receive adequate information, which must be complete and
reliable, in a timely manner; ensuring that the Board works
effectively and discharges its responsibilities; ensuring that all key
and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely
manner; drawing up and approving the agenda for each board
meeting taking into account, where appropriate, any matters
proposed by the other directors for inclusion in the agenda;
taking responsibility for ensuring that good corporate governance
practices and procedures are established; encouraging all
directors to make a full and active contribution to the Board’s
affairs and take the lead to ensure that the Board acts in the best
interests of the Company; ensuring that appropriate steps are
taken to provide effective communication with shareholders and
that views of shareholders are communicated to the Board as a
whole; and facilitating the effective contribution of directors and
ensuring constructive relations between executive directors and
non-executive directors.

The duties of the Chief Executive Officer include taking
responsibility for the Group’s operation and management;
implementing decisions and plans approved by the Board;
making day-to-day operational and managerial decision; and
coordinating overall business operations.
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Pursuant to the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules, the Board is of the view that all independent
non-executive directors are independent and the Company has
received an annual confirmation of independence from each
of the independent non-executive directors of the Company
pursuant to the Listing Rules.

All three independent non-executive directors hold office for a
term of two years until 31 December 2009, and are subject to
retirement and re-election in accordance with the Company’s
Articles of Association.

In accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company,
the directors will have the power from time to time and at any time
to appoint any person as a director to fill a casual vacancy in the
Board, or as an addition to the existing Board. For nomination,
consideration will be made to the qualifications of the nominee.
The Company has not established a nomination committee.

The Group has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions.

Having made specific enquiry of the directors, all directors had
complied with the required standard of dealings as set out in the
Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2008.

It is the Company’s responsibility to ensure shareholder’s interest.
To do so, the Company maintains on-going dialogue with
shareholders to communicate with them and encourage their
participation through annual general meetings or other general
meetings.

Registered shareholders are notified by post for the shareholders’
meetings. Notice of meeting contains agenda, proposed
resolutions and postal voting form.

All registered shareholders are entitled to attend annual and
extraordinary general meetings, provided that their shares have
been recorded in the Register of Shareholders.
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Shareholders who are unable to attend a general meeting may
complete and return to the Company’s Share Registrar the
proxy form enclosed with notice of meeting to give proxy to
their representatives, another shareholder or chairman of the
meetings.

Right to demand a poll has been included in circular of the
Company accompanying notice convening general meeting of
the Company and has been read out by the chairman at the
general meeting of the Company.

It is the auditors’ responsibility to form an independent opinion,
based on their audit, on the Company’s financial statements
and to report their opinion solely to the Company, as a body, in
accordance with section 141 of the Companies Ordinance, and
for no other purpose. They do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of the
independent auditor’s report.

Apart from the provision of annual audit services, KPMG, the
Group’s external auditors, also carried out interim review of
the Group’s results and provided other financial services in
compliance with the requirements under the Listing Rules and the
Occupational Retirement Scheme Ordinance.

For the year ended 31 December 2008, KPMG, the external
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the Group:

2008

—EBEN\E

HK$°000

BETT

Annual audit services FEEZRE 2,900

Interim review services EH P ERAERDS 448

Other services HAb RS 325

3,673
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The Board has full responsibility for the Group’s internal
control system, which includes the establishment of a defined
management structure with specified limits of authority. The
system is designed to help the achievement of business
objectives of the Group, safeguard assets against unauthorized
use or disposition, ensure the maintenance of proper accounting
records for the provision of reliable financial information for internal
use or for publication and ensure compliance with relevant
legislation and regulation. The internal control system is designed
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The key procedures that the Board established to provide
effective internal controls are as follows:

- Organizational Structure
An appropriate organizational structure is in place with
defined operating policies and procedures as well as
responsibility and lines of authority.

— Authority and Control
The executive directors and senior management are
delegated with respective levels of authorities to carry out
the corporate strategies and policies and the related matters
formulated by the Board.

- Budgetary Control and Financial Reporting
The Group implements budget management, and financial
budget is executed upon approval by the Board. Relevant
procedures have been established to assess, review and
approve major capital and recurrent expenditures, and
regular review and comparison between operating results
and the budget are made.

The Group has established appropriate internal control
procedures to ensure the keeping of accurate and complete
accounting and management records on a timely basis.
Examination and review are carried out regularly to ensure
that the financial statements are properly prepared in
conformity with the generally accepted accounting principles,
the Group’s accounting policies and the applicable laws and
regulations.

- Internal Auditing
The Group has regularly conducted internal audit to review
whether the internal control procedures are implemented
appropriately.

The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control system. This review covered
all material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management functions.
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The directors confirm that they are responsible for the preparation
of the Group’s financial statements.

The finance management department of the Company is taken
charge by the Chief Financial Officer. With the assistance of the
finance management department, the directors ensure that the
Group’s financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with relevant regulations and applicable accounting
principles.

A statement by KPMG, the auditors of the Company, about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is
included in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 92 to 93.

The Company recognizes the importance of good
communications with shareholders and the investment
community. Briefings and meetings with institutional investors
and analysts are conducted regularly to provide them with up-
to-date and comprehensive information about the Group’s
development. Annual and interim reports offer comprehensive
operational and financial performance information to shareholders
and the annual general meeting of the Company provides a
forum for shareholders to exchange views directly with the Board,
which together help enhance and facilitate communication
with shareholders. The Company also maintains a website
(http://www.ebchinaintl.com) which enables shareholders,
investors and the general public to have access to the information
of the Company on a timely basis.

At the 2008 annual general meeting of the Company, a separate
resolution was proposed by the Chairman in respect of each
separate issue, including re-election of directors. The Chairman
of the Board and all members of the Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee attended the meeting to answer
questions of shareholders.

On 18 December 2008, an extraordinary general meeting of the
Company was held to consider and pass an ordinary resolution
to approve a discloseable and connected transaction, details of
which was set out in a circular to shareholders of the Company
dated 1 December 2008. All members of the independent
board committee attended the meeting to answer questions
of shareholders. The ordinary resolution was duly passed by
independent shareholders by way of poll at the meeting.
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The directors have pleasure in submitting their annual report
together with the audited financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2008.

China Everbright International Limited (“the Company”) is a
company incorporated and domiciled in Hong Kong and has its
registered office and principal place of business at Room 2703,
27th Floor, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong
Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities and other particulars of the subsidiaries are set
out in note 17 to the financial statements.

The analysis of the principal activities and geographical locations
of the operations of the Company and its subsidiaries (“the
Group”) during the financial year are set out in note 13 to the
financial statements.

The information in respect of the major customers and suppliers
of the Group respectively during the financial year is as follows:

The largest customer BAR

Five largest customers in aggregate AARFE
The largest supplier BAMER

Five largest suppliers in aggregate AARHERAT

At no time during the year have the directors, their associates or
any shareholder of the Company had any interest in these major
customers and suppliers.
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In June 2004, Qingdao EB-VW Waste Water Treatment
Co., Ltd. (“Qingdao EB-VW”, a subsidiary of the Company)
entered into an operation and maintenance agreement
with Qingdao Veolia Water Operating Company Limited
(“Qingdao Veolia”, an associate of the Group). Pursuant to
the agreement, Qingdao EB-VW will subcontract to Qingdao
Veolia the provision of the operation and maintenance
services in respect of the waste-water treatment plants (“the
Plants”) in Qingdao, the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”).
During the year ended 31 December 2008, service fee for
the operation and maintenance of the Plants paid/payable
to Qingdao Veolia amounted to HK$39,237,000 (2007:
HK$27,742,000).

In June 2004, Qingdao EB-VW entered into a waste-water
treatment agreement with Qingdao Municipal Drainage
Company (“Qingdao Drainage”, a minority shareholder of
Qingdao EB-VW). Pursuant to the agreement, Qingdao
EB-VW will provide waste-water treatment services
and other related services to Qingdao Drainage on an
exclusive basis. During the year ended 31 December 2008,
waste-water treatment revenue received/receivable from
Qingdao Drainage amounted to HK$75,388,000 (2007:
HK$69,944,000).

In June 2004, Qingdao EB-VW entered into a technical
assistance agreement with Veolia Water Asia Limited (“Veolia
Asia”, a subsidiary of a minority shareholder of the Group).
Pursuant to the agreement, Veolia Asia will provide technical
assistance to Qingdao EB-VW in respect of the operation
and maintenance of the Plants in Qingdao, the PRC. During
the year ended 31 December 2008, technical assistance
fee paid/payable to Veolia Asia amounted to HK$2,209,000
(2007: HK$2,223,000).

In November 2007, Everbright Water (Jiangyin) Limited (“EB
Water Jiangyin”, a subsidiary of the Company) and Jiangyin
City Xin Guo Lian Investment and Development Co., Ltd.
(“Xin Guo Lian”) entered into a waste-water treatment service
agreement with Jiangyin Construction Bureau and Jiangyin
Finance Bureau to provide waste-water treatment services
and other related services. During the year ended 31
December 2008, waste-water treatment revenue received/
receivable from Jiangyin Finance Bureau amounted to
HK$65,830,000 (2007: HK$NIl).

@)
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The independent non-executive directors of the Company have
reviewed these connected transactions and confirmed that such
transactions were:

entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Group;

conducted either on normal commercial terms or, if there are
not sufficient comparable transactions to judge whether they
are on normal commercial terms, on terms no less favourable
to the Group than terms available to or from independent
third parties; and

in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The directors have requested the auditors of the Company to
perform certain agreed upon procedures on the continuing
connected transactions and have received a letter from the
auditors as required under Rule 14A.38 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“the Listing Rules”).

@)

Further to the transactions included in the circular to
shareholders dated 10 December 2007, on 19 March 2008,
the Company announced that:

) On 18 March 2008, Everbright Water (Wuxi) Holdings
Limited, the holding company of EB Water Jiangyin,
entered into a joint venture supplemental agreement with
Xin Guo Lian in relation to the change in total investment
and business scope of EB Water Jiangyin.

(i)  On 18 March 2008, EB Water Jiangyin entered into a
sewage piping network asset transfer agreement with
The State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission of Jiangyin People’s Government
(“Jiangyin State-owned Assets Commission”), pursuant
to which, EB Water Jiangyin agreed to acquire and
Jiangyin State-owned Assets Commission agreed to
transfer the sewage piping network built in the urban
area of Jiangyin city, the PRC at a total consideration
of RMB267,441,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$285,974,000).
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Further to the transactions included in the circular to
shareholders dated 10 December 2007, on 19 March 2008,
the Company announced that: (continued)

(i) On 18 March 2008, EB Water Jiangyin entered into a
concession right supplemental agreement with Jiangyin
Construction Bureau, pursuant to which, Jiangyin
Construction Bureau granted a right to EB Water
Jiangyin to operate and maintain the sewage pipeline
network as referred to (i) above for a period of 30 years.

(ivy On 18 March 2008, EB Water Jiangyin entered into a
waste-water treatment service supplemental agreement
with Jiangyin Construction Bureau and Jiangyin Finance
Bureau in respect of the adjusted fee for the waste-water
treatment services and other related services provided
by EB Water Jiangyin.

The transactions constituted discloseable and connected
transactions as defined by the Listing Rules and were
announced by way of an announcement by the Company
on 19 March 2008. Details of the transactions have been
included in the circular to shareholders dated 9 April 2008.

On 10 November 2008, the Company entered into a sale
and purchase agreement with Everbright Real Estate Limited
(“Everbright Real Estate”, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
controlling shareholder of the Company, China Everbright
Holdings Company Limited), pursuant to which, the
Company agreed to sell and Everbright Real Estate agreed to
acquire the entire issued share capital of, and shareholder’s
loan to, Sino Villa Holdings Limited at a consideration of
HK$193,273,000.

On the same date, the Company entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with Everbright Real Estate, pursuant to
which, the Company agreed to sell and Everbright Real Estate
agreed to acquire the entire share capital of Riseland Limited
at a consideration of HK$2,634,000.

The transactions constituted discloseable and connected
transactions as defined by the Listing Rules and were
announced by way of an announcement by the Company
on 11 November 2008. Details of the transactions have been
included in the circular to shareholders dated 1 December
2008.

@)
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The profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2008
and the state of the Company’s and the Group’s affairs as at that
date are set out in the financial statements on pages 94 to 203.

Profits attributable to shareholders, before dividends, of
HK$365,391,000 (2007: HK$360,079,000) have been transferred
to reserves. Other movements in reserves are set out in note 31
to the financial statements.

An interim dividend of HKO.6 cent per share (2007: HKO.6 cent
per share) was paid on 29 October 2008. The directors now
recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK1 cent per
share (2007: HK1 cent per share) in respect of the year ended 31
December 2008.

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year
amounted to HK$1,273,000 (2007: HK$NIl).

Details of the movements in fixed assets during the year are set
out in note 14 to the financial statements.

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in note 31(c) to the financial statements.
Shares were issued during the year on exercise of share options.

There were no purchases, sales or redemptions of the
Company’s listed securities by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries during the year.
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The directors during the financial year were:

Executive directors

Tang Shuangning, Chairman

Zang Qiutao, Vice-chairman

Li Xueming, Vice-chairman

Chen Xiaoping, Chief Executive Officer

Fan Yan Hok, Philip, General Manager

Wong Kam Chung, Raymond, Chief Financial Officer
Zhang Weiyun

Independent non-executive directors
Sir David Akers-Jones

Li Kwok Sing, Aubrey

Mar Selwyn

In accordance with articles 73, 77, 78 and 79 of the Company’s
Articles of Association, Mr Li Xueming, Mr Chen Xiaoping, Mr
Wong Kam Chung, Raymond and Ms Zhang Weiyun retire from
the board at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The independent non-executive directors are appointed for a term
of two years until 31 December 2009 and subject to retirement
in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association as
indicated above.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within
one year without payment of compensation, other than normal
statutory obligations.
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The directors and chief executive of the Company who held office 12 ZA&AA AR {E & 5 K HA S (&5 35215 R E B T
at 31 December 2008 had the following interests in the shares, FEZ2=NTETHABER AR ELMAT
underlying shares and debentures of the Company, its holding — #séfE R~ - R-ZENF+ - A=+—H#&ET
companies, subsidiaries and other associated corporations (within =~ Z AR BIEZE N T BT A BRZBERAR] -
the meaning of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”) HiZRE R 7] » B AR REMBME AR (FER
at that date as recorded in the register of directors’ and chief &% KHIE M) Z %D ~ ¥R HD MEHF AT
executives’ interests and short positions required to be kept  #EA 2RI ¢

under section 352 of the SFO:

() Long position in shares of equity derivatives of the () RAQATRGEBRASTEIEZHFE

Company
Nature of Number of
interest shares Percentage
Name of director EENZ e e E [=},)7 4
(ordinary shares)
(BBR)
Fan Yan Hok, Philip B Personal & A 8,000,000 0.25%
Wong Kam Chung, Raymond =i85a Personal {f& A 1,500,000 0.05%
Li Kwok Sing, Aubrey T2 Personal {f& A 1,000,000 0.03%

(i) Long position in underlying shares of equity (i) RAQTHEERPRAGTETLAEZHFE
derivatives of the Company

Number of
equity
derivatives Number of
Nature of held underlying
interest BEiEE shares Percentage
Name of director EElE e FTETASE HrkB2E Bt
(share options)  (ordinary shares)
(FERR#E) (BBR)
Zang Qiutao IS Personal A 4,000,000 4,000,000 0.13%
Li Xueming Z=E2BH Personal  {EA 22,000,000 22,000,000 0.70%
Chen Xiaoping PR /NS Personal  {EA 23,000,000 23,000,000 0.73%
Fan Yan Hok, Philip B Personal  {EA 2,000,000 2,000,000 0.06%
Wong Kam Chung,
Raymond =852 Personal  fELA 3,000,000 3,000,000 0.10%
Zhang Welyun K= Personal {AA 5,000,000 5,000,000 0.16%

Sir David Akers-Jones RS Personal  {EA 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.08%
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(i) Long position in underlying shares of equity
derivatives of the Company (continued)
All the above shares and underlying shares of equity
derivatives (being unlisted and physically settled) were
beneficially owned by the directors concerned. The
percentage shown was calculated based on the number of
issued shares of the Company as at 31 December 2008.

Further details relating to the options granted to the directors
and chief executive of the Company are set out in the section
“Share option scheme” below.

Apart from the foregoing, none of the directors and chief
executive of the Company or any of their spouses or children
under eighteen years of age has interests or short positions in
the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company,
or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or other
associated corporations, as recorded in the register required
to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies.

The Company has a share option scheme which was adopted
on 26 May 2003 whereby the directors of the Company are
authorised, at their discretion, to invite employees of the Group,
including directors of any company in the Group, to take up
options to subscribe for shares of the Company. The purpose
of the scheme is to provide an opportunity for employees of the
Group to acquire an equity participation in the Company and
to encourage them to work towards enhancing the value of the
Company and its shares for the benefit of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole. The share option scheme shall be valid
and effective for a period of ten years ending on 25 May 2013,
after which no further options will be granted.

(i) AERQFEERORASTEIRZFR(E)

bty RAERRMBRASTETA(E LT
LREYEE)DRARESTERRNA - £X
PRBERZBALARRRR T N\F+ =
A=t—HEZTROHHRETE -

BRAK
Rt Ey

# -

REAAEENTETRAERLE
HE—HHBEN T X BT S —

B EXFTt &SN - MARBIREESME
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BER  ARASEEREBITHRABRE
F 2 EARBE T NN T2 F R BER
NE] - BEAEFHERATE - M m sk E R
BRAEZBD - HERO REFTHEEERE
FRBFIRIBLTAREFETESFRHLZ
RESTRIRAMGRNRR 2 EHIORE

AABRE —(EAERETE - BEEN_FF
=FRAAZTNBERA - Bt - KABEFREK
AR EEFASERES (RREAEEEAKE
NAZER) EMAREARNR B 2 BEHE -
AEEARHEETASERE  EREFZ2ER
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Mzt BHTHE - BAARRARERD ZEE -
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The exercise price of options is the highest of the nominal value
of the shares, the closing price of the shares on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“the Stock Exchange”) on the
date of grant and the average closing price of the shares on the
Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant. The options are exercisable six months (or a
later date as determined by the directors of the Company) after
the date on which the options are granted for a period up to ten
years or 25 May 2013, whichever is earlier.

The total number of securities available for issue under the share
option scheme as at 31 December 2008 was 254,831,170
shares (including options for 79,934,000 shares that have been
granted but not yet lapsed or exercised) which represented
approximately 8% of the issued share capital of the Company at
31 December 2008. In respect of the maximum entitlement of
each participant under the share option scheme, the number of
securities issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted to each participant in any 12-month period is limited to 1%
of the Company’s ordinary shares in issue.

Offer of an option shall be deemed to have been accepted when
the letter comprising acceptance of the option duly signed by the
grantee together with a remittance of HK$1 is received within 28
days from the date of offer. The share option scheme will expire
on 25 May 2013.
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At 31 December 2008, the directors and employees of the
Company had the following interests in options to subscribe for
shares of the Company (market value per share at 31 December
2008 was HK$1.43) granted at nominal consideration under the
share option scheme of the Company. The options are unlisted.
Each option gives the holder the right to subscribe for one
ordinary share of HK$0.10 each of the Company.

No. of

No. of shares
options  acquired on No. of
outstanding exercise options
atthe of options  outstanding
beginning during atthe
of the year the year year end
£4) FERTRE 8

R-ZZEZNF+_A=1+—H8  KRAREEKE
BEMRBAR ARG 2 BREP IS N HED
(RZZBENFE+-_A=+—RHBzE8BRHEAS
#1.4370) - BABARIETIRIE AN A Bl IS ARAE AT
EEREARERL - E@ABREYE W -
AR EBRR HERE T35 8 ARE — AR R SR EES
¥£0.107CHY L 3BAR 2 BEF) -

* Market
value per * Market
Period share at value per
during date of share on
which grantof  exercise of
options are Exercise options options

Date  exercisable price per AR HElRiE

HATEZ  BRERA  HATEZ granted g share  RHBEHZ i
Directors g= BRiENE  ZRbBE  BRENE Rt B4 Tl BRAER Bt B

ZangQuiao  EilE 2,000,000 - 2000000 3August2006  3August2007  HK$0.85 HK$0.85 =
“EERE 05My 2013 ER0sT  BK08HT

—R/

\R=H g

NR=RZ
“3-=F
nA-tAA

2,000,000 - 2000000 3August2006  3August2008  HK$0.85 HKS$0.85 -
“ZENE tBMay2013 Aot A0S
J\A=H |

NR=RZ
“3-=F
nA-+HA
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No. of

No. of shares * Market
options  acquired on No. of value per * Market
outstanding exercise options Period share at value per
atthe of options  outstanding during date of share on
beginning during atthe which grantof  exercise of
of the year the year year end options are Exercise options options
1) ERfTiE F& Date  exercisable price per AR *RElRHE

MAMTEZ  BMERERA  HATEZ granted Felig share  RHBEHZ i
Directors g= BRiENE  2RbBE  WRENE Rt B4 2Tl ERAER Bt B

Li Xueming TEmH 9,000,000 - 9000000 29 September  29March 2004 HK$0.296 HK$0.296 -
2003 to25Mey2013 0206 EH0.2067T
ZFE- “EERE
AAZtNR ZA=thRZE
=
AA=tER
9,000,000 - 9,000,000 29 September 29 September  HK$0.296 HK$0.296 -
2003 004t X026 AB0.2067
—F%= 25 May 2013
AAZHhA “TEME
AAZTNRZE
5%
AA=tER
2,000,000 - 2000000  3August2006 3 August 2007 HK$0.85 HK$0.85 -

“EEE t025May2013 B85 AH0.857T
NNA=H g

NR=RZ

“Z-=

AA=TTA

2,000,000 2,000,000 3August2006 3 August 2008 HK$0.85 HK$0.85 -
“EERE t025May2013 08T B0 857
\R=H “TIN\E
NB=H%
“T-cF
AA=TTA
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No. of

options

outstanding

atthe

beginning

of the year

£4)

WAL

Directors Bz RRExE

ChenXiaoping ~ [/)\F 9,000,000

9,000,000

2,500,000

2,500,000

‘084‘

No. of
shares
acquired on
exercise

of options
during

the year
EhfTE
RRRIER
ZIRir%E

wE

No. of
options
outstanding
atthe

year end
8
AT
RRiEYE

9,000,000

9,000,000

2,500,000

2,500,000
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Date
granted
=L

29 September
2003
—EE=£

—TT—

AAZthA

29 September
2003
“TI-F

AAZthA

3 August 2006
ey
N\A=H

3 August 2006
“EENE
NA=H

Period
during
which
options are
exercisable
Rk
ZATHEH

29 March 2004
to 25 May 2013
ek
ZH‘+HBi
5%
AAZtEA

29 September
200410

25 May 2013
ZEERE
HH_+H51
“F-c=f
RA=1HA

3 August 2007
t0 25 May 2013
Z5EE
}\H_Elj:
“F-=F
RRA=tEA

3 August 2008
to 25 May 2013
—5EN\E
}\H_E!j:
“F-=F
BA=THA

Exercise
price per
share

BRiTEE

HK$0.296
7502067

HK$0.296
702067

HK30.85
0857

HK30.85
0857

* Market
value per
share at
date of
grant of
options
PR
RHiegz
ShRmE

HK$0.296
70,0067

HK$0.296
40,0067

HK$0.85
0,857

HK$0.85
0,857

* Market
value per
share on
exercise of
options
Tl
friggz
SR{E
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Directors Ex
FanYanHok,  BCE
Philp

Wong Kam Hif
Chung,
Raymond

—TT\FER

No. of
options

outstanding

atthe
beginning
of the year
£4)
HR{THEZ
falkiEsE

2,000,000

1,500,000

1,500,000

‘085‘

No. of
shares
acquired on
exercise

of options
during

the year
EhfTE
FRRIER A
ZIRr%E

No. of
options
outstanding
atthe

year end
8
HFRITEZ
RRiEYE

2,000,000

1,600,000

1,600,000

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED A Bl KEIFR AR A A

Date
granted
=L

3 August 2006
ERENF

TR

NA=H

3 August 2006
“2ENE

—R/

NA=H

3 August 2006
=

—R

NA=H

Period
during
which
options are
exercisable
Rl
ZATHEH

3 August 2008
to 25 May 2013
—5EN\E
NR=RZE
e -

—< -

AA=TTA

3 August 2007
to 25 May 2013
ZEELE
NA=R%
2
AA=tER

3 August 2008
to 25 May 2013
“TI)\E
NR=RZE
“F-F
RR-t&A

Exercise
price per
share

BRiTEE

HK30.85
0857

HK30.85
0857

HK30.85
%0857

* Market
value per
share at
date of
grant of
options
Pk
RHiegz
SRE

HK$0.85
0857

HK$0.85
0857

HK$0.85
0857

* Market
value per
share on
exercise of
options
Tl
friggz
SRE
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No. of

options

outstanding

atthe

beginning

of the year

£4)

HR{THEZ

Directors Bz RRExE

ZhangWein  KE= 2,000,000

2,000,000

500,000

500,000

‘086‘

No. of
shares
acquired on
exercise

of options
during

the year
EhfTE
RRRIER
ZIRir%E

wE

No. of
options
outstanding
atthe

year end
8
AT
RRiEYE

2,000,000

2,000,000

500,000

500,000
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Date
granted
=L

29 September
2003
—EE=£

—TT—

AAZthA

29 September
2003
“TI-F

AAZthA

3 August 2006
ey
N\A=H

3 August 2006
ey
N\A=H

Period
during
which
options are
exercisable
Rk
ZATHEH

29 March 2004
to 25 May 2013
“TIME
ZH‘+HBi
2
HA=1HA

29 September
200410

25 May 2013
ZEERE
HH_+H51
“F-c=f
RA=1HA

3 August 2007
t0 25 May 2013
Z5EE
}\H_Elj:
“F-=F
RRA=tEA

3 August 2008
to 25 May 2013
—5EN\E
}\H_E!j:
“F-=F
BA=THA

Exercise
price per
share

BRiTEE

HK$0.296
7502067

HK$0.296
702067

HK30.85
0857

HK30.85
0857

* Market
value per
share at
date of
grant of
options
PR
RHiegz
Sk

HK$0.296
70,0067

HK$0.296
40,0067

HK$0.85
0,857

HK$0.85
0,857

* Market
value per
share on
exercise of
options
Tl
friggz
SR{E
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Directors EE
Sir David BR

Akers-Jones

Employees EE

—FEN\EEH

No. of
options
outstanding
atthe
beginning
of the year
£4)
HRTEZ
ke

Bt 500,000

500,000

11,491,000

17,500,000

‘087‘

No. of
shares
acquired on
exercise

of options
during

the year
EhfTE
FRRIER A
ZIRr%E

{4,797,000)

{4,260,000)

No. of
options
outstanding
atthe

year end
8
HFRITEZ
RRiEYE

500,000

500,000

6,694,000

13,240,000

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED A Bl KEIFR AR A A

Date
granted
=L

29 September

2003
—2E=

—TT—

NAZThA

29 September

2003
—2E=

—TT—

NAZTHA

3 August 2006
= L

TR

NA=H

3 August 2006
“2ENE

—R

NA=H

*  being the weighted average closing price of the Company’s ordinary — *
shares immediately before the dates on which the options were granted
or exercised, as applicable.

Period
during
which
options are
exercisable
Rl
ZATHEH

29 March 2004
to 25 May 2013
“ZENE
=A-thAZ
—F=

AA=TTA

29 September
200410

25 May 2013
ZEERE
AAZTNRZE
5%
AA=tER

3 August 2007
to 25 May 2013
Z5EtE
NEZBE
e -

—< =

AA=TTA

3 August 2008
to 25 May 2013
—5EN\E
NR=RZE
2
iz it

BIARAR

Exercise
price per
share

BRiTEE

HK$0.296
B 802967

HK$0.296
B 802967

HK30.85
0857

HK30.85
%0857

* Market
value per
share at
date of
grant of
options
Pk
RHiegz
Sk

HK$0.296
40,0067

HK$0.296
FB%0.0067

HK$0.85
50,857

HK$0.85
50,857

) B #ART 2 hnse g (g -

* Market
value per
share on
exercise of
options
Rl
friggz
SRE

HKS2.74
0 74T

HKS1.68
A 68T

TR R R B E R AT R RAEE
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The options granted to the directors are registered under the
names of the directors who are also the beneficial owners.
Information on the accounting policy for share options granted
and the weighted average value per option is provided in
note 1(r)(i) and note 30 to the financial statements respectively.

Apart from the foregoing, at no time during the year was the
Company, or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors
of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate.

The Company has been notified of the following interests in the
Company’s issued shares at 31 December 2008 amounting to 5%
or more of the ordinary shares in issue:

China Everbright Holdings Company PR REEBR AT
Limited (“CEH”) (Note) (TRXR&ER ) (HE)

Note: Out of the 1,758,595,910 shares, 1,758,215,910 shares are held by
Guildford Limited (“Guildford”). Guildford is owned as to 55% by Datten
Investments Limited (“Datten”) and the remaining 45% by CEH. Datten
is wholly-owned by CEH. The remaining 380,000 shares are held by
Everbright Investment & Management Limited (“EIM”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CEH. Accordingly, CEH is deemed to be interested in the
1,758,215,910 shares held by Guildford and the 380,000 shares held
by EIM.

Apart from the foregoing, no other interests required to be
recorded in the register kept under section 336 of the SFO have
been notified to the Company.

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ REIFX AR 22 A)

BRTEE2BRENNEE LB - MRS
TARGRA A - BHDEH MBI &R
5 RS 2 M 23 BB 2 B9 BB A
TRRMI R — (O RHIEE= -

(R EXFESN - EAFREAEAER - Ao
7« EEAERAR - MEBARSKERME QR
WESEEMALH  BEARFRCEFAHEEER
AR B SHAEAEMEN B 2 B S EFHFMEG

Sz
ME o

AAREEN _ZETN\F+_A=+T—BHEARX
NRIBEBETRM 2 S ED BT EBBS% A
EZBERAT

Percentage

Long position of total
in ordinary issued shares
shares held L2EEET
P iERey e Rz E5EE
1,758,595,910 approximately 55.94%
#155.94%

Kzt - #£1,758,5695,9108& & 5+ EA1,758,215,9100%
T3 Guildford Limited([ Guildford 1)#58 ° Guildford
JyeDatten Investments Limited([Datten )&
55%M%HE + Eir45%RIH N AEBEIFH - Datten’
HREEZ2EH B A - E#r380,0008%017 A
HAAREEZ2EMB AR AR EEIRER AR
([FRIHEEIR)IFA - Huth - e REEBIE B
BGuildfordFTiEH 2 1,758,215,910R% A% 15 K e K
BB 2 380,000/% 81 °

B EXPmi &SN - ANR R BEEA B A M /ARD
BIMKIRE S M B IRHIE33616F E 2 B
N2 Az ©
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Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors of the Company as at
the date of this annual report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float under the Listing Rules.

No contract of significance to which the Company, or any of
its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was
a party, and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.

As at the date of this annual report, as far as the directors are
aware, Mr Li Xueming and Mr Fan Yan Hok, Philip are both
non-executive directors of HKC (Holdings) Limited, a company
incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability, whose shares
are listed on the Stock Exchange and its business activities
include property development and investments, alternative
energy investment and management, and infrastructure and
construction, of which, property investment, infrastructure, and
alterative energy investment, in particular, waste-to-energy, are
considered to compete or likely to compete with the business of
the Group. Although, both Mr Li Xueming and Mr Fan Yan Hok,
Philip are non-executive directors of HKC (Holdings) Limited,
they do not engage in the daily operation of HKC (Holdings)
Limited and thus the Group is capable of carrying on its business
independently from HKC (Holdings) Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual report
and as far as the director are aware, none of the directors or
their respective associates had any interests in a business which
competes or may compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
business of the Group or any other conflicts of interests with the
Group.

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Company
and the Group as at 31 December 2008 are set out in notes 25,
27 and 28 to the financial statements.
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A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 204 and
205 of the annual report.

Particulars of the major properties of the Group are shown on
page 206 of the annual report.

The Company provides retirement benefits to all local eligible
employees in Hong Kong under an approved defined contribution
provident fund (“the ORSO Scheme”). The ORSO Scheme is
administered by trustees, the majority of which are independent,
with its assets held separately from those of the Company. The
ORSO Scheme is funded by contributions from employees
and employers at 5% each based on the monthly salaries of
employees. Forfeited contribution may be used to reduce the
existing level of contribution by the Company.

As from 1 December 2000, the Group also operates a Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (“the MPF Scheme”) under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance and not previously covered by the ORSO
Scheme. The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement
scheme administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF
Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required
to make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$20,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The employees of the subsidiaries in the PRC are members of
the retirement schemes operated by the local authorities. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of
their payroll to these schemes to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to these schemes is the
required contributions under the schemes.

The Group’s total contributions to these schemes charged to
income statement during the year ended 31 December 2008
amounted to HK$6,446,000.
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The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the
independent non-executive directors to be independent.

KPMG retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
reappointment. A resolution for the reappointment of KPMG as
auditors of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

By order of the board

Tang Shuangning
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 March 2009
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(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Everbright International Limited (“the Company”) set out on pages
94 to 203, which comprise the consolidated and company
balance sheets as at 31 December 2008, and the consolidated
income statement, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory notes.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of these financial statements
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility
includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal control
relevant to the preparation and the true and fair presentation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. This report is made solely to
you, as a body, in accordance with section 141 of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ REIFX AR 22 A)
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In
making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal
control relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 December 2008 and of the Group’s profit and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

20 March 2009
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o A4S 3L
A }EJ/IEL
For the year ended 31 December 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE =2 EN\FE+= A=+—H IFEE (LUBKE)

2008 2007
—EEN\E ZETAF
Note $000 $000
BitsE Fr T
Turnover x| 3&13 1,862,509 1,347,852
Direct costs and operating expenses BERANSEER (1,208,838) (887,897)
653,671 459,955
Other revenue Henlas 4 28,819 35,726
Other income Hib A 4 52,378 24,543
Administrative expenses TRER (127,128) (99,555)
Valuation gains on investment properties REMEGER 14 - 19,202
Profit from operations TERT 607,740 439,871
Finance costs B%ER 5() (147,188) (72,507)
460,552 367,364
Share of loss of associate FriGEE A REE 6 - (478)
Profit before taxation Rt AT A 5 460,552 366,886
Income tax Fri5#i 7(a) (95,161) (6,807)
Profit for the year AEERT 365,391 360,079
Attributable to: FEEERe :
Equity shareholders of the Company ARERE 10 & 31 339,018 337,932
Minority interests DEIRER R 31 26,373 22,147

Profit for the year AEEET 31 365,391 360,079
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 8% =T N\F+ = f=+—HIFENEEEE)

2008 2007
ZEBNE ZETAF
Note $'000 $000
BisE T T
Dividends payable to equity shareholders  FER{TFAATRE
of the Company attributable to the year: ZAREERS : 11
Interim dividend declared during the year FREERTHRE 18,843 18,753
Final dividend proposed after the balance HERRERDRAERE
sheet date 31,438 31,367
50,281 50,120
Earnings per share SEEH 12
Basic K 10.80 centsfll 10.89 centsfll|
Diluted (2007: restated) e (ZETHE : 51) 10.59 centsfll 10.55 centsfll|

The notes on pages 104 to 203 form part of these financial HNE—AENBEZ S —_EEZ =B WA
statements. UL EMBHRE 2 —HBH o
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At 31 December 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) A —ZZEN\F+—F=+—HB(ABETE)

Non-current assets

Fixed assets

- Investment properties

— Other property, plant and
equipment

Intangible asset

Goodwill

Interest in associate

Other financial assets

Other receivables and deposits

Gross amounts due from
customers for contract work

Deferred tax assets

Current assets

Inventories

Debtors, other receivables,
deposits and prepayments

Gross amounts due from
customers for contract work

Pledged bank deposits

Deposits with bank

Cash and cash equivalents

Current liabilities

Bank loans
- Secured
- Unsecured

Creditors, other payables and
accrued expenses
Current taxation

Net current assets

Total assets less current
liabilities carried forward

Note
Bt
EREEE
BEEEE 14(a)
—BANE
—Hix - BE
B
B EE 15
RS 16
(ANl 3o 18
Hip s & E 19
Hiblaoa kite 20
ElEFE4HTR
FBLAE 21
BEREEE 29(0)
RBEE
FE 22

FEUERSR « EfbfEdk

FE - e RBEAFE 20
EREFAHTR

FURAE 21
BRI TER 23
RITER

BE MRS FEY 24

nEAR
RITER 25

—BEH
—EIEA

FENBRR - AL

IR LT R 26
N 29(a)
REEEFH
REERAY

BREBR

2008
—EEN\E

$000 $000

FiT FiT

19,574

144,999

164,573

577,754

46,133

22,336

1,386,280

2,686,012

26,538

4,909,626
11,501
421,444
250,052
109,349
27,574
562,132
... 1,891,052
370,377
175,664
546,041
471,031
9,165
... 1,026,237

364,815

5,274,441

2007
“TTLE

$000 $000

T T

200,922

103,604

304,526

568,882

46,133

59,577

690,019

1,752,995

35,561

3,457,693
5,923
307,985
122,617
60,518
16,084
554,863
. 10679%
121,286
21,446
142,732
334,426
6,400
______ 483568

| 5844w

4,042,125
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At 31 December 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) A —ZZENF+—-F=+—HB(ABETE)

Total assets less current
liabilities brought forward

Non-current liabilities
Bank loans

- Secured
- Unsecured

Other loans

Loans from ultimate holding
company

Deferred tax liabilities

NET ASSETS

CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Share capital
Reserves

Total equity attributable to
equity shareholders of the
Company

Minority interests

TOTAL EQUITY

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

20 March 2009.

Chen Xiaoping
BR/INE
Director

BEFE

The notes on pages 104 to 203 form part of these financial

statements.

Note
FidaE

BEEART
BRI

¥rREaRE
RITER 25

—HER
—EIEA

UJ]Zr

L

=N 27
XIRTERR A

ER

hﬂlﬂ Jhm
HE
i

28
ETHAEAE 29()

BEFH
IRA R 31(e)

B
s

KATIRRIEN
1A
YRR ER

e

2008
k-2 J ¢

$000 $000

FiT Fi

5,274,441
1,178,690
604,862
1,783,552
68,064
212,958
78,826

2,143,400

3,131,041

314,378

2,505,237

2,819,615

311,426

3,131,041

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED  #r Bl KEIFR AR A A

2007

“ETAF

$:000
T

1,131,882

160,834

1,292,716

106,377

39,606

$000
T

4,042,125

1,438,699

2,603,426

313,472
2,137,619

2,451,091
162,335

2,603,426

EFZeR _TTNFA - tHARERFAE

17e

Philip Fan Yan Hok
BIE
Director

EFE

HENE—ATHAEEE -
EMBHRERZ B ©

BE=A 2l A



ANNUAL REPORT 2008 —ZZ)\&F4F%#

‘098‘

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ REIFX AR 22 A)

At 31 December 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) A —ZZEN\F+—F=+—HB(ABETE)

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

Interest in subsidiaries
Other financial assets

Current assets
Other receivables, deposits

and prepayments
Cash and cash equivalents

Current liabilities
Bank loans

- Secured
- Unsecured

Other payables and
accrued expenses

Net current assets

Total assets less current
liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Secured bank loans

Loans from ultimate
holding company

NET ASSETS

kRBEE

Wx - BB KR
B RS
HiEHEE
REYAE

Hith IR -

®e RFEMFUR
e kAT EED

RERR
RITER

—HER
— &R

Hit AR
EtER

REAEFH

BEER
REAR

kRBEHE
BEMRITER

BRISERNRIER

BEFH

2008

“FTN\E

Note $°000
Bt FiT
14(b)
17
19
15,456
24 190,110
______ 205,566
25
30,000
100,000
130,000
38,933
______ 168,933
25 107,500
28 100,420

3,971
2,109,235
6,573

2,119,779

36,633

2,156,412

207,920

1,948,492

2007
—ETAF

$000 $000

T Fr

4,022

1,638,640

6,639

1,649,301
29,881
240,213
______ 270,094
11,428
11,428
34,434
_______ 45,862

224,232

1,873,533
17,678

17,678

1,855,855
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CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Share capital
Reserves

TOTAL EQUITY

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

20 March 2009.

Chen Xiaoping
BRI
Director

EE

The notes on pages 104 to 203 form part of these financial

statements.

AR bttE

2N
E4

1EAE

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ KEIFX AR 22 A)

2008 2007

i = J¢: 3 —TELF
$000 $000 $000 $000
Fr Fi T T
314,378 313,472
1,634,114 1,542,383
1,048,492 1,855,855

8

SEER-ERNEZ A=+ ARARFAE

-\
=

Philip Fan Yan Hok
PR
Director

EE

ENE-—ATMOEEF_BAZT=BZ2MaT R
EMgHRERZ —#1D o
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) &%= —

Total equity at 1 January

Net income recognised
directly in equity:

Share of exchange reserve of
associate

Exchange differences on
translation of financial
statements of
subsidiaries and associate

Changes in fair value of
available-for-sale securities

Net income for the year recognised
directly in equity

Net profit for the year

Reserves realised on
disposal of subsidiaries

Transfer from fair value reserve
to profit or loss on disposal
of available-for-sale securities

Total recognised income and
expense for the year

Attributable to:
- equity shareholders of

the Company
— minority interests

Dividends declared:
- by the Company to equity
shareholders

- by non-wholly owned subsidiary

to minority shareholder

R—RA—B a8

B AR TERD
ZWINTFER -

PRGBS 1]
5 il
HEHBRRR
NG Lp S
BRELZ
EXER
HEEFONE

2%

ERN SRR
ARERWANFE

RERFEA
HEMBARIE
B 21
HEREEAFEK
DA AR
BREADX

KFEECHZBA
R4

AR5
—RATRE

—DEBCR R

RIS,

—ARAXNTF
R

—F2EWBAR
XN FLEBR

‘100‘

TE\F+- A=+ B EEOUBE )

2008
“EE\E
Note $°000
BieE Tt
2,603,426
31 =
31 155,926
31 (37,484)
118,442
31 365,391
31 (30,718)
31 -
______ 453,115
408,659
44,456
______ 453,115
(50,210)
(1,685)

(51,895)

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ REIFX AR 22 A)

2007
—ETAF
$000 $000
T Fr

2,113,196

35,882

36

143,322

18,565

161,923

360,079

(11,792)

______ 510,210
474,328
_..510210
(49,523)
(620)

(50,143)
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) HE —Z T )\F+_-A=+—HILFE(ABEE)

2008 2007
k-2 J ¢ —ETTLF
Note $000 $000 $000 $000
FidaE Fr Fr T T
Movements in equity arising EAATRER
from capital transactions ETEERRS
with equity shareholders MEEZ i
of the Company: g .
- shares issued under share —IREER T2
option scheme BTG 31 7,690 22,077
- equity-settled share-based ~ —BARM LT
transactions IRAZE 5 31 2,385 8,086
_______ 10,075 .....%0163
Movements in equity arising 2 EMBAT
from transactions between HEDEIRE
non-wholly owned BITX5
subsidiary and its minority mEEZ
shareholder: e
— capital contrioution received ~ —3E2AKIBA R
by non-wholly owned s (VG
subsidiary from minority WEFTS 2
shareholder HE Tt 16320 -
Total equity at 31 December R+=A=+—HZ
s 3,131,041 2,603,426

The notes on pages 104 to 203 form part of these financial

statements.

ENFE-—ATNEEEF_AT=A 2T ALt

E/BIMER 2 —FFMD
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) &%= —
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CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ REIFX AR 22 A)

2008 2007
ZEBN\E ZETAF
Note $000 $000
BitsE Fr T
Operating activities TEEH
Profit before taxation MR AT E A 460,552 366,886
Adjustments for: SR
— Valuation gains on investment properties —REMEGER 14 - (19,202)
— Depreciation e 5(c) 12,922 7,132
- Amortisation of intangible asset —E A EEH 5(c) 23,843 21917
— Finance costs —B%ER 5() 147,188 72,507
— Dividend income from listed securities — FTEHEREWA 4 (1,186) (4,417)
— Bank interest income —RITHEWA 4 (7,515) (17,693)
— Share of loss of associate —FriGEsE A EEE 6 = 478
— Profit on disposal of subsidiaries —HENBRARZEF 4 (51,778) -
— Net gain on sale of other property, —HEEYE  BERERE
plant and equipment FTiSE $ 58 4 (600) (860)
— Profit on sale of other financial assets —HEHMWFBEE 2 ZF 4 - (23,683)
~ Equity-settled share-based payment expenses  — LARRD S5 2 IRANAS S s 5(0) 2,385 8,086
— Effect of foreign exchange rates changes -Exgy e 12,457 38,268
Operating profit before changes in SESLEEHIZ
working capital wamH 598,268 449,419
Increase in inventories FEEM (5,235) (2,215)
Increase in debtors, other receivables, FEMCERSR - Bt MR
deposits and prepayments e RIEFFIRE M (832,953) (318,655)
Increase in gross amounts due from customers  EWE S A X TIRAIE
for contract work HEEEIE (960,830) (792,862)
Increase in creditors, other payables and FEMBRI - EfbfEF0E
accrued expenses N e & N 127,357 69,170
Cash used in operations TEHRZRE (1,073,393) (595,143)
Interest received EIHE 7,515 17,537
People’s Republic of China (‘PRC”) income BERREARLM
tax paid (THEMEH (20,889) (9,324)
Net cash used in operating activities ST e 2 IRE A (1,086,767) (586,930)
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) &%= —

‘103‘

ZTN\F+ - A=+ —BIEFEABETE)

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED  #r Bl KEIFR AR A A

2008 2007
—EBN\E T
Note $'000 $000
BitsE W T
Investing activities BEES
Payment for the purchase of fixed assets HBERTEEZR (54,208) (15,335)
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets HeE Imfiﬁﬁﬁ@f X 1,627 2,751
(Increase)/decrease in pledged bank deposits 2 IEIRIRITER (3E0) / N (45,326) 38,796
Increase in deposits with bank |ATIFFIE M (10,559) (5,175)
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries, HENBARMERIE
net of cash disposed (BMBHEEZER i) 33 187,088 -
Dividend received from listed securities EM EmESRE 878 497
Return of investment from unlisted securities #J: M%7 & B R 65 7,010
Decrease/(increase) in loan receivable TEWEIERL /(3Ehn) 79,755 (75,061)
Proceeds from sale of other financial assets ﬁ = HMI R EEMSHIE - 30,765
Net cash generated from/(used in) REEFELE(BR)2
Ll Rew® e (157%2)
Financing activities BhEEE)
Proceeds from new bank loans R TE RS 5E 1,158,742 611,200
Repayment of bank loans ERRITER (340,372 (131,372)
Proceeds from new loans from ultimate RISERARFEERAE
holding company A 200,000 —
Repayment of loans from ultimate (BB RIRITAS
holding company (100,000) -
Proceeds from other loans HMERSHIA 67,416 -
Contributions received by non-wholly owned 2 EH B A FIN D B R
subsidiary from minority shareholder gz &5 116,320 -
Proceeds from shares issued under share RIERE IR T 213 7T
option scheme WA ETSsIa 7,690 22077
Interest paid BERAFE (146,768) (72,507)
Dividend paid to equity shareholders of EHK&E%%%E
the Company (50,210) (49,523)
Dividend paid to minority shareholder ERNPERERE (1,685) (620)
Net cash generated from financing activities MEEBIMELZHEFH AL 379285
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents H& RIS EEWRLFE (16,314) (223,427)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R—B—BZH&RIREZEEY 554,863 756,763
Effect of foreign exchange rates changes ~ [EZE &2 2& 23,583 21,527
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December R+=—A=+—HZRER
BReEEY 24 562,132 554,863
The notes on pages 104 to 203 form part of these financial FHNE—EZWNEEZE _—_EZT=H 2T A1t

statements.

EMBHRERZ 7B °
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& 5B 8R4 -

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective
term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“the Listing Rules”). A
summary of the significant accounting policies adopted
by the Group is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early
adoption for the current accounting period of the
Group and the Company. Note 2 provides information
on any changes in accounting policies resulting from
initial application of these developments to the extent
that they are relevant to the Group for the current and
prior accounting periods reflected in these financial
statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2008 comprise the Company and its
subsidiaries and the Group’s interest in associate.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except
that the following assets and liabilities are stated at their
fair value as explained in the accounting policies set out
below:

— investment property (see note 1(g)); and

— financial instruments classified as available-for-sale
securities (see note 1(f)).
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(b)

(c)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(continued)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application
of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and estimates with a significant risk of
material adjustment in next year are discussed in
note 40.

Subsidiaries and minority interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control
exists when the Group has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to
obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control,
potential voting rights that presently are exercisable are
taken into account.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into
the consolidated financial statements from the date
that control commences until the date that control
ceases. Intra-group balances and transactions and any
unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from
intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way
as unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is no
evidence of impairment.

(b)

(c)
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(c) MBARRDBRRER ()

(c) Subsidiaries and minority interests (continued)

Minority interests represent the portion of the net
assets of subsidiaries attributable to interests that
are not owned by the Company, whether directly or
indirectly through subsidiaries, and in respect of which
the Group has not agreed any additional terms with
the holders of those interests which would result in the
Group as a whole having a contractual obligation in
respect of those interests that meets the definition of a
financial liability. Minority interests are presented in the
consolidated balance sheet within equity, separately
from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the
Company. Minority interests in the results of the Group
are presented on the face of the consolidated income
statement as an allocation of the total profit or loss
for the year between minority interests and the equity
shareholders of the Company.

Where losses applicable to the minority exceed the
minority’s interest in the equity of a subsidiary, the
excess, and any further losses applicable to the minority,
are charged against the Group’s interest except to
the extent that the minority has a binding obligation to,
and is able to, make additional investment to cover the
losses. If the subsidiary subsequently reports profits,
the Group’s interest is allocated all such profits until the
minority’s share of losses previously absorbed by the
Group has been recovered.

Loans from holders of minority interests and other
contractual obligations towards these holders are
presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated
balance sheet in accordance with notes 1(0) or (p)
depending on the nature of the liability.

In the Company’s balance sheet, an investment in a
subsidiary is stated at cost less any impairment losses
(see note 1(k)), unless the investment is classified as held
for sale.
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(d) Associates (d) B QT

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company
has significant influence, but not control or joint control,
over its management, including participation in the
financial and operating policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity
method and is initially recorded at cost and adjusted
thereafter for the post acquisition change in the Group’s
share of the associate’s net assets, unless it is classified
as held for sale. The consolidated income statement
includes the Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-
tax results of the associate for the year, including any
impairment loss on goodwill relating to the investment in
associate recognised for the year (see notes 1(e) and (k)).

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest
in the associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil
and recognition of further losses is discontinued except
to the extent that the Group has incurred legal and
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of
the associate. For this purpose, the Group’s interest in
the associate is the carrying amount of the investment
under the equity method together with the Group’s long-
term interests that in substance form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associate.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associate are eliminated
to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associate,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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(e) Goodwill

U]

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of a business
combination or an investment in an associate over the
Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units
and is tested annually for impairment (see note 1(k)). In
respect of associates, the carrying amount of goodwill
is included in the carrying amount of the interest in the
associate.

Any excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of
the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over the cost of a business combination or an
investment in an associate is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

On disposal of a cash generating unit or an associate
during the year, any attributable amount of purchased
goodwill is included in the calculation of the profit or loss
on disposal.

Also in accordance with the transitional arrangements
under HKFRS 3, goodwill which had previously been
taken directly to reserves (i.e. goodwill which arose
before 1 January 2001) will not be recognised in profit or
loss on disposal or impairment of the acquired business,
or under any other circumstances.

Other investments in equity securities

The Group’s and the Company’s policies for investments
in equity securities, other than investments in subsidiaries
and associates, are as follows:

Investments in equity securities are initially stated at
cost, which is their transaction price unless fair value can
be more reliably estimated using valuation techniques
whose variables include only data from observable
markets. Cost includes attributable transaction costs,
except where indicated otherwise below. These
investments are subsequently accounted for as follows,
depending on their classification:
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(9)

Other investments in equity securities (continued)
Investments in securities held for trading are classified
as current assets. Any attributable transaction costs
are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. At each
balance sheet date the fair value is remeasured, with any
resultant gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss does
not include any dividends or interest earned on these
investments as these are recognised in accordance with
the policies set out in notes 1(u)(v) and (viii).

Investment in equity securities that do not have a
quoted market price in an active market and whose
fair value cannot be reliably measured are recognised
in the balance sheet at cost less impairment losses
(see note 1(k)).

Investments in securities which do not fall into any of
the above categories are classified as available-for-sale
securities. At each balance sheet date the fair value
is remeasured, with any resultant gain or loss being
recognised directly in equity. Dividend income from these
investments is recognised in profit or loss in accordance
with the policy set out in note 1(u)(viii). When these
investments are derecognised or impaired (see note
1(k)), the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised
directly in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

Investments are recognised/derecognised on the date
the Group commits to purchase/sell the investments.

Investment property

Investment properties are land and/or buildings
which are owned or held under a leasehold interest
(see note 1(j)) to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation.

Investment properties are stated in the balance sheet
at fair value. Any gain or loss arising from a change
in fair value or from the retirement or disposal of an
investment property is recognised in profit or loss. Rental
income from investment properties is accounted for as
described in note 1(u)(vi).

FESRABEE)

(f)

(9)

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ KEIFX AR 22 A)

HRABHREE)
HIEESRAB BHIRERGEARE
ﬁ% EEIER ZRAREERIER
wRPHER  c NEELEER Ai%ﬁ‘ﬁ'
BEAnE FBzREBEREBRKTRE
R e ETEﬁI\L%EFEENUZ%%/?EEIT
E?ﬁfﬁélﬁb—r&ﬁﬁﬁfﬂﬁﬁ SZEMRE
A B BAEEERKRE B EIRW
5 —(U)(v) R (Vi) ET S BUR HERR o

fiaf P AN 78 4R B A B T 45 3 S T 5 3R
BREAABEERERTE @ BIZFR
BHEBREABRTURNEREEEE
BERAR(RME—(K)

H A DB Lt E I AR R B 8 518 B B
HAGESRS N ELER  o8H
HEARE RZREBESEENER

EFIEEDL/\ ° Tﬁf—ilﬂ:—ﬁxﬁﬁﬁ ZH M&ANEZ
B EE—(u )(wn)ﬁﬁ%@ﬂ( RIER - B4k
BRESREANNSFRELAREB(R

B aE — ())HT SoRT E B i P R
2 Bitms B Ee RN B RPER -

RESGNAEEAGEA EHE A
R TER -

REW=R
BREMEEREHERSMERLTE
RERBESBA R, HEREEZ -
R ST (RHEE—() -

?xéf#%% VEERBRPEAAET
P A ERBMELRBENER
f‘kﬁ’iﬁﬁ?EZEﬂ%%Eﬁﬁ 5 &
RHER - REVMEZHS WAL
FE—(u)(vi)PrEE AR o



ANNUAL REPORT 2008 —ZZ)\&F4F%#

‘no‘

BA RS ERaR Y AL

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& 5B 8R4 -

(h) Other property, plant and equipment

@

Other property, plant and equipment are stated in the
balance sheet at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses (see note 1(k)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment are determined
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the item and are recognised
in profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

— buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated
over the shorter of the unexpired term of lease and
their estimated useful lives, being no more than
50 years after the date of completion.

— Leasehold improvements 10 years or over the

remaining term of the
lease, if shorter

—  Fumniture and fixtures

—  Motor vehicles, electronic
equipment and other
fixed assets

510 10 years
310 12 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part
is depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset
and its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Intangible asset (other than goodwill)

The Group recognises an intangible asset for its toll
bridge operating right arising from a service concession
arrangement as it has a right to charge for usage of
the concession infrastructure. Intangible asset received
as consideration for providing construction services
in a service concession arrangement is measured at
fair value upon initial recognition. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the intangible asset is stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses (see
note 1(K)).

Amortisation of intangible asset is charged to profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life
of 30 years. Both the period and method of amortisation
are reviewed annually.
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(i) Leased assets
An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series
of transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group
determines that the arrangement conveys a right to use
a specific asset or assets for an agreed period of time
in return for a payment or a series of payments. Such
a determination is made based on an evaluation of
the substance of the arrangement and is regardless of
whether the arrangement takes the legal form of a lease.

(i)  Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by the Group under leases
which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership are classified as being
held under finance leases. Leases which do not
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the Group are classified as operating
leases, except that land held for own use under an
operating lease, the fair value of which cannot be
measured separately from the fair value of a building
situated thereon at the inception of the lease, is
accounted for as being held under a finance lease,
unless the building is also clearly held under an
operating lease. For these purposes, the inception
of the lease is the time that the lease was first
entered into by the Group, or taken over from the
previous lessee.

(i) Assets acquired under finance leases

Where the Group acquires the use of assets under
finance leases, the amounts representing the fair
value of the leased asset, or, if lower, the present
value of the minimum lease payments, of such assets
are included in fixed assets and the corresponding
liabilities, net of finance charges, are recorded as
obligations under finance leases. Depreciation is
provided at rates which write off the cost of the
assets over the term of the relevant lease or, where
it is likely that the Group will obtain ownership of the
asset, the life of the asset, as set out in note 1(h).
Impairment losses are accounted for in accordance
with the accounting policy as set out in note 1(k).
Finance charges implicit in the lease payments
are charged to profit or loss over the period of the
leases so as to produce an approximately constant
periodic rate of charge on the remaining balance of
the obligations for each accounting period.

1)

HEEE

AR B E KRB T ARBALL
R RIE BN RSN — R HIFIAM
RHERENERTEEE - BALH
(BRE-ERZFH—FINRZ)HEHE
SHE - AEEzEwmIOERGERY
ZAERHAMEL - X T REBLER
BEBHE ZRETA -

() AEBEHBZEEZDE
RARERBEEERAZEEM
5 MAEBEHEELRBRINEER
ZRBREMNEEBENEE - RIF
MEERDEAREREMEERA
ZEE TeEBRBANNEERE
ZRBEME T AEEZEE TS
BARENE  ERECEHER
EERzLHmE MEQAARESR
eI HERERNE 22
£ nrREDRGE  BEFER
BEREMERAEAK  ENEH
BREDTEREELEHERERE
ARRSN - BT E - AT HEZE
EASBEERILHEEZR - %8
A E AT AR Z B -

(i) WRIEBEHEBAZEE
NEAREREREHEESEE
EREBN  ASHENEESR
EARBERKERENKERERE
(A ABEE)JIERIEEE - MiH
FRE(EHRMBER) S
BMEMEAE - TERERBANHE
EHREBEEZAIERAFH(IMAS
BRAEMSEEMERE) NG
1 PEHERAR - BRAR AT E A F
HAFDIN M —(h) - RIBEERR
B RE —(K) Pl < @R BUR ARR - 1
ENFAENTBERAREERR
APABERA - EFEEH TR
M58 MER R RREA
G



ANNUAL REPORT 2008 —ZZ)\&F4F%#

Mm‘

BA RS ERaR Y AL

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& 5B 8R4 -

(i) Leased assets (continued)
(i) Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under
operating leases, payments made under the leases
are charged to profit or loss in equal instalments
over the accounting periods covered by the lease
term, except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be
derived from the leased asset. Lease incentives
received are recognised in profit or loss as an
integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
made.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating
lease is amortised on a straight-line basis over the
period of the lease term except where the property is
classified as an investment property (see note 1(g)).

(k) Impairment of assets

)

Impairment of investments in equity securities and
other receivables

Investments in equity securities (other than
investments in subsidiaries and associate: see
note 1(k)(ii)) and other current and non-current
receivables that are stated at cost or amortised
cost or are classified as available-for-sale securities
are reviewed at each balance sheet date to
determine whether there is objective evidence
of impairment. Objective evidence of impairment
includes observable data that comes to the
attention of the Group about one or more of the
following loss events:

significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

— it becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor; and
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(k) Impairment of assets (continued)

U

Impairment of investments in equity securities and

other receivables (continued)

— a significant or prolonged decline in the fair
value of an investment in an equity instrument
below its cost.

If any such evidence exist, any impairment loss is
determined and recognised as follows:

— For unguoted equity securities carried at
cost, the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the carrying amount of the
financial asset and the estimated future cash
flows, discounted at the current market rate
of return for a similar financial asset where the
effect of discounting is material. Impairment
losses for equity securities are not reversed.

— For trade and other current receivables and
other financial assets carried at amortised
cost, the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future
cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition of
these assets), where the effect of discounting is
material. This assessment is made collectively
where financial assets carried at amortised
cost share similar risk characteristics, such
as similar past due status, and have not been
individually assessed as impaired. Future cash
flows for financial assets which are assessed for
impairment collectively are based on historical
loss experience for assets with credit risk
characteristics similar to the collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an
impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be linked objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment loss was recognised, the
impairment loss is reversed through profit or
loss. A reversal of an impairment loss shall not
result in the asset’s carrying amount exceeding
that which would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years.
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(k) Impairment of assets (continued)

Impairment of investments in equity securities and

other receivables (continued)

—  For available-for-sale securities, the cumulative
loss that has been recognised directly in equity
is removed from equity and is recognised in
profit or loss. The amount of the cumulative
loss that is recognised in profit or loss is the
difference between the acquisition cost (net of
any principal repayment and amortisation) and
current fair value, less any impairment loss on
that asset previously recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss
in respect of available-for-sale equity securities
are not reversed through profit or loss. Any
subsequent increase in the fair value of such
assets is recognised directly in equity.

Impairment losses are written off against the
corresponding assets directly, except for impairment
losses recognised in respect of debtors included
within debtors, other receivables, deposits and
prepayments, whose recovery is considered doubtful
but not remote. In this case, the impairment losses
for doubtful debts are recorded using an allowance
account. When the Group is satisfied that recovery
is remote, the amount considered irrecoverable is
written off against debtors directly and any amounts
held in the allowance account relating to that debt
are reversed. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously charged to the allowance account are
reversed against the allowance account. Other
changes in the allowance account and subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off directly
are recognised in profit or loss.
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(k) Impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at each balance sheet date to identify
indications that the following assets may be impaired
or, except in the case of goodwill, an impairment
loss previously recognised no longer exists or may
have decreased:

— property, plant and equipment (other than
properties carried at revalued amounts);

— intangible asset;

— investments in subsidiaries and associate
(except for those classified as being held for
sale); and

—  goodwill.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, the
recoverable amount is estimated annually whether
or not there is any indication of impairment.

—  Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its net selling price and value in use.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset.
Where an asset does not generate cash inflows
largely independent of those from other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating
unit).
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(k) Impairment of assets (continued)
(i) Impairment of other assets (continued)

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ REIFX AR 22 A)

FIESBAESE)

(k) EEFBRE)
(i) EtEEZFEEE)

— Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss whenever the carrying amount of an asset,
or the cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-generating
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-
generating unit (or group of units) and then,
to reduce the carrying amount of the other
assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro
rata basis, except that the carrying value of an
asset will not be reduced below its individual
fair value less costs to sell, or value in use, if
determinable.

— Reversals of impairment losses
In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit
or loss in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.

(iii) - Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to
prepare an interim financial report in compliance
with HKAS 34, Interim financial reporting, in respect
of the first six months of the financial year. At the
end of the interim period, the Group applies the
same impairment testing, recognition, and reversal
criteria as it would at the end of the financial year (see
notes 1(k)(i) and (ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period
in respect of goodwill and available-for-sale equity
securities carried at cost are not reversed in a
subsequent period. This is the case even if no loss,
or a smaller loss, would have been recognised had
the impairment been assessed only at the end of
the financial year to which the interim period relates.
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o

Inventories

Inventories, mainly comprise spare parts and
consumables used in the repairs and maintenance of
the waste-water treatment plants, waste-to-energy
power plants and solid waste landfill, are carried at cost
less provision for obsolescence. Cost is calculated using
the weighted average cost formula. When inventories
are consumed, the carrying value of those inventories is
recognised as an expense in profit or loss.

(m) Construction contracts

(n)

The accounting policy for contract revenue is set out
in note 1(u)(i). When the outcome of a construction
contract can be estimated reliably, contract costs are
recognised as an expense by reference to the stage of
completion of the contract at the balance sheet date.
When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed
total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised
as an expense immediately. When the outcome of a
construction contract cannot be estimated reliably,
contract costs are recognised as an expense in the
period in which they are incurred.

Construction contracts in progress at the balance
sheet date are recorded in the balance sheet at the
net amount of costs incurred plus recognised profit
less recognised losses and progress billings, and are
presented in the balance sheet as the “Gross amounts
due from customers for contract work” (as an asset) or
the “Gross amounts due to customers for contract work”
(as a liability), as applicable. Progress billings not yet paid
by the customer are included in the balance sheet under
“Debtors, other receivables, deposits and prepayments”.

Debtors, other receivables, deposits and
prepayments

Debtors, other receivables, deposits and prepayments
are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter
stated at amortised cost less allowance for impairment
of doubtful debts (see note 1(k)), except where the
receivables are interest-free loans made to related
parties without any fixed repayment terms or the effect
of discounting would be immaterial. In such cases,
the receivables are stated at cost less allowance for
impairment of doubtful debts.
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(o)

(p)

(q)

)

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair
value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are
stated at amortised cost with any difference between
the amount initially recognised and redemption value
being recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings, together with any interest and fees payable,
using the effective interest method.

Creditors, other payables and accrued expenses
Creditors, other payables and accrued expenses are
initially recognised at fair value. Except for financial
guarantee liabilities measured in accordance with note
1(t)(i), creditors, other payables and accrued expenses
are subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity
at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
cash flow statement.

Employee benefits

(i)  Short-term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are
accrued in the year in which the associated services
are rendered by employees. Where payment or
settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present
values.
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() Employee benefits (continued)

(i)

(i)

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees
is recognised as an employee cost with a
corresponding increase in a capital reserve within
equity. The fair value is measured at grant date using
the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model, taking
into accounts the terms and conditions upon which
the options were granted. Where the employees
have to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options, the total
estimated fair value of the options is spread over the
vesting period, taking into account the probability
that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share
options that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised
in prior years is charged/credited to the profit or loss
for the year of the review, unless the original employee
expenses qualify for recognition as an asset, with a
corresponding adjustment to the capital reserve. On
vesting date, the amount recognised as an expense
is adjusted to reflect the actual number of options
that vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the
capital reserve) except where forfeiture is only due
to not achieving vesting conditions that relate to the
market price of the Company’s shares. The equity
amount is recognised in the capital reserve until
either the option is exercised (when it is transferred
to the share premium account) or the option expires
(when it is released directly to retained profits).

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a
result of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed
formal plan which is without realistic possibility of
withdrawal.
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(s) Income tax (s) Frs®i

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that
they relate to items recognised directly in equity, in which
case they are recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their
tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused
tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and
the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse
either in the same period as the expected reversal of the
deductible temporary difference or in periods into which
a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be
carried back or forward. The same criteria are adopted
when determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax assets
arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate to the
same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and
are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which
the tax loss or credit can be utilised.
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(s) FRE®i(&)

(s) Income tax (continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the
initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part
of a business combination), and temporary differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that,
in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls
the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in
the case of deductible differences, unless it is probable
that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at each balance sheet date and is reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow the related tax benefit to be
utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that
it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution
of dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the
related dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the
Group has the legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously; or

EMLLME§§&%%ZHEW%%
D BIE N AT AR S 07 SN2 7
ﬁﬁﬁﬁzﬁkﬁﬁ BRREREL
FESHRMNMERAEBN 2 BENL
BE(EETABERA G D)
AR BBERHERBHRE TSI B B
2 MARHER  RRRAKER
MT%%EMW HETﬁihXTK
RERE 2 B Z= RN AR THIRE
C AIRBRRATBEEAR R 2 R -

JERER  RIE A SE R IRREEN B

T s BRMEE 2 TR AR & fﬁ‘k/ﬁfaﬁt PN
El%ﬁﬁ&jig%ﬁﬁz%ﬁfu 5 IRIE

MIAEEN BB TMERBRE -

AEBeEBEEE BFHEHEERAER
EZREE - MRTBAREREREMZ
fi%%%ﬁﬁﬁljbxiﬁﬁﬁfﬂZﬁi‘%ﬂ¥ © Bk
E & A T LA - tnR & AT REERIS 2
52 FERRTL AR - E?Dﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂ?u
B o

DRI B PTEE 2 BINABHEXNE
E‘QHX Z,EE\EEEEM\E‘I%J/Aﬁﬁnu"

7R HR 75 TR 4 ik MR A T R A R N
8 HEBEDRIIRRIALEAE A o
ERNRREANEEEERE EHAEFEAR
HIRIR B E M AT IR B B2 TR
KEERT & TR SMESE - RIARHRIAE
ErRREARERE  REEHAE
ERHHEEHRIRAIE

ERAHRAEENRAE - ARF
SAKEEENFEBE - KEtE
RINZHREENBERRE X



ANNUAL REPORT 2008 —ZT )\ 44 ‘ 122 ‘

BA RS ERaR Y AL

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& 5B 5FRR4) -

(s) Income tax (continued)

in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

— the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled
or recovered, intend to realise the current tax
assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a
net basis or realise and settle simultaneously.

() Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities
()  Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require
the issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified
payments to reimburse the beneficiary of the
guarantee (“the holder”) for a loss the holder incurs
because a specified debtor fails to make payment
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the
fair value of the guarantee (being the transaction
price, unless the fair value can otherwise be reliably
estimated) is initially recognised as deferred income
within creditors, other payables and accrued
expenses. Where consideration is received or
receivable for the issuance of the guarantee, the
consideration is recognised in accordance with
the Group’s policies applicable to that category of
asset. Where no such consideration is received or
receivable, an immediate expense is recognised in
profit or loss on initial recognition of any deferred
income.
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() Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities (continued)

)

(i)

Financial guarantees issued (continued)

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised
as deferred income is amortised in profit or loss
over the term of the guarantee as income from
financial guarantees issued. In addition, provisions
are recognised in accordance with note 1(t)(ii) if
and when (i) it becomes probable that the holder
of the guarantee will call upon the Group under
the guarantee, and (ii) the amount of that claim
on the Group is expected to exceed the amount
currently carried in creditors, other payables and
accrued expenses in respect of that guarantee i.e.
the amount initially recognised, less accumulated
amortisation.

Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group or the
Company has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be
made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.
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(u) Revenue recognition
Provided it is probable that the economic benefits
will flow to the Group and the revenue and costs,
if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is
recognised in profit or loss as follows:

()

(i)

(i)

Construction contracts

When the outcome of a construction contract
can be estimated reliably, contract revenue
and expenses are recognised in profit or loss
in proportion to the stage of completion of the
contract.

The stage of completion is assessed by reference
to surveys of work performed. When the outcome
of a construction contract cannot be estimated
reliably, contract revenue is recognised only to the
extent of contract costs incurred that are likely to
be recoverable. An expected loss on a contract is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Service concession arrangement

Revenue relating to construction services under
a service concession arrangement is recognised
based on the stage of completion of the work
performed, consistent with the Group’s accounting
policy on recognising revenue on construction
contracts (see (i) above). Operation or service
revenue is recognised in the period in which the
services are provided by the Group. When the
Group provides more than one service in a service
concession arrangement the consideration received
is allocated by reference to the relative fair values of
the services delivered.

Toll bridge revenue
Toll bridge revenue, net of business tax, is
recognised on usage of the bridge.
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(u) Revenue recognition (continued)

v)

(iv) Revenue from waste-water treatment plants, waste-
to-energy power plants, methane-to-energy power
plants and industrial solid waste landfill operation
services
Revenue from waste-water treatment plants, waste-
to-energy power plants, methane-to-energy power
plants and industrial solid waste landfill operation
services are recognised when the related services
are rendered.

(v) Finance income
Finance income is recognised as it accrues using
the effective interest method.

(vi) Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases
is recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments
over the periods covered by the lease term, except
where an alternative basis is more representative
of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the
use of leased asset. Lease incentives granted are
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payments receivable.

(vii) Property management fee income
Property management fee income is recognised
when the related services are rendered.

(viij) Dividends
Dividend income from listed investments is
recognised when the share price of the investment
goes ex-dividend.

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date.
Exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss.
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)

(w)

Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair
value are translated using the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the dates the fair value was determined.

The results of foreign operations are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the
transactions. Balance sheet items are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the balance sheet date. The resulting exchange
differences are recognised directly in a separate
component of equity. Goodwill arising on consolidation
of a foreign operation acquired before 1 January 2005
is translated at the foreign exchange rate that applied at
the date of acquisition of the foreign operation.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
amount of the exchange differences recognised in equity
which relate to that foreign operation is included in the
calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred, except to the extent
that they are capitalised as being directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to
get ready for its intended use or sale.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost
of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for
the asset are being incurred, borrowing costs are being
incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare
the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or
ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to
prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale
are interrupted or complete.
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(x) Related parties

For the purposes of these financial statements, a party is

considered to be related to the Group if:

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ KEIFX AR 22 A)

A BNESHE)

(x) BAEEAAL
EAREEARY - 0

() the party has the ability, directly or indirectly through () ZATERENEEXHEEZRE—E

B EM B HREMS - EALHRES

(i)

i)

(i)

(vi)

one or more intermediaries, to control the Group
or exercise significant influence over the Group in
making financial and operating policy decisions, or
has joint control over the Group;

the Group and the party are subject to common
control;

the party is an associate of the Group or a joint
venture in which the Group is a venturer;

the party is a member of key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent, or a
close family member of such an individual, or is an
entity under the control, joint control or significant
influence of such individuals;

the party is a close family member of a party referred
to in (i) or is an entity under the control, joint control
or significant influence of such individuals; or

the party is a post-employment benefit plan which is
for the benefit of employees of the Group or of any
entity that is a related party of the Group.

Close family members of an individual are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that individual in their dealings with the
entity.
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(y) Segment reporting (v) 2&8|E

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group
that is engaged either in providing products or services
(business segment), or in providing products or services
within a particular economic environment (geographical
segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are
different from those of other segments.

In accordance with the Group’s internal financial
reporting system, the Group has chosen business
segment information as the primary reporting format
and geographical segment information as the secondary
reporting format for the purposes of these financial
statements.

Segment revenue, expenses, results, assets and
liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment
as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable
basis to that segment. For example, segment assets
may include inventories, debtors and property, plant and
equipment. Segment revenue, expenses, assets and
liabilities are determined before intra-group balances
and intra-group transactions are eliminated as part of
the consolidation process, except to the extent that
such intra-group balances and transactions are between
group entities within a single segment. Inter-segment
pricing is based on similar terms as those available to
other external parties.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred
during the period to acquire segment assets (both
tangible and intangible) that are expected to be used for
more than one period.

Unallocated items mainly comprise financial and
corporate assets, interest-bearing loans, borrowings, tax
balances, corporate and financing expenses.
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The HKICPA has issued the following new Interpretations
and amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective for the
current accounting period of the Group and the Company:

- HK(FRIC) 11, HKFRS 2 — Group and treasury share
transactions

— HK(FRIC) 12, Service concession arrangements™

—  HK(IFRIC) 14, HKAS 19 — The limit on a defined
benefit asset, minimum funding requirements and their
interaction

—  Amendment to HKAS 33, Eamnings per share

- Amendment to HKAS 39, Financial instruments:
Recognition and measurement, and HKFRS 7, Financial
instruments: Disclosures — Reclassification of financial
assets

*  The Group has early adopted HK(IFRIC) 12 during the accounting
year ended 31 December 2007.

The following sets out further information on the adoption of
amendment to HKAS 33 for the current and prior accounting
periods reflected in their financial statements.

HKAS 33, Earnings per share

In order to comply with the amendments to HKAS 33,
the Group has changed its accounting policy relating to
the calculation of diluted earnings per share. Under the
new policy, the fair value of any goods or services to be
supplied to the Group in the future under the share option
arrangement shall be included in the exercise price of
the share options when calculating the diluted earnings
per share. The new accounting policy has been applied
retrospectively with comparatives restated as shown in
note 12(b).

Except for amendment to HKAS 33, these HKFRS
developments have had no material impact on the Group’s
financial statements as either they were consistent with
accounting policies already adopted by the Group or they
were not relevant to the Group’s and the Company’s
operations.
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CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ KEIFX AR 22 A)

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation
that is not yet effective for the current accounting period (see
note 41).

The principal activities of the Group are construction,
environmental protection project operation (waste-water
treatment plants, waste-to-energy power plants, methane-
to-energy power plants and industrial solid waste landfill),
environmental technology and construction management,
toll bridge operation, property investments and management
and investment holding.

Turnover represents the revenue from construction contracts,
revenue from waste-water treatment plants, waste-to-energy
power plants, methane-to-energy power plants and industrial
solid waste landfill operation services, finance income, toll
bridge revenue, rental income and property management fee
income. The amount of each significant category of revenue
recognised in turnover during the year is as follows:

Revenue from environmental water

projects construction services Wz

Revenue from environmental energy RIREEIRIE B i ERRTS
projects construction services Wz

Revenue from environmental water RIRKBEIEB BE R
projects operation services Wz

Revenue from environmental energy RIRERIERES
projects operation services AR Uas

Finance income A

Toll bridge revenue W BER R E

Gross rentals from investment properties KENERE LS

Property management fee income MEEBRBIA

RIRKISE R & MRS

AEEYEERETARASHHERARLE
M ER S RE( AT+ —) -

AEBEZEEBEES Iﬁ{%lﬁﬁi“
O5/KEER - MERERER - ARES
ﬁ&I%. fé‘??@fﬁﬁ%) f&ﬁﬂ?ﬁ&l

2R  WEBREE PERENRER
&&ﬁ? f% ©
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B R REEER AREE f&l%
[E] 68 BE W) IR IR 15 2 8 2 IR M e ~ ISR
A WEFRKE  HSRARMEER
BRA - FABELXETHERNTEET
2 BRI T

2008 2007
2% —EFTLRF
$000 $000
T T
505,460 297,402
595,006 546,478
241,642 194,104
138,362 75,557
254,206 124,954
107,589 9,477
15,825 13,127
4,419 3,753

1,862,509 1,347,852
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CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED R B KEIFR AR A R

2008 2007
—EEN\E “TTLHF
$°000 $'000
Fr T
Other revenue Hipleis
Bank interest income RITHI BUA 7,515 17,693
Dividend income from listed securities FiEHZBRBWRA 1,186 4,417
Others Hih 20,118 13,616
28,819 35,726
Other income Hipt A
Profit on disposal of subsidiaries (note 33) HEHRBARZEFI(HF=1TZ) 51,778 =
Profit on sale of other financial assets HEEMITSEE 2 27 - 23,683
Net gain on sale of other property, plant and HEEMYIE « BER&E2
equipment F 600 860
52,378 24,543
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting): BRRATENE NG (Gt A) -
2008 2007
—EEN\E “TTLHF
$°000 $'000
Fr T
(8) Finance costs: @ HBEM :
Interest on bank advances wholly BRRFENZEERE
repayable within five years ZBITEFZFIE 28,502 1,413
Interest on other bank advances and HihsRITER R EMER
other loans ) 116,192 61,094
Interest on loans from ultimate RSN BB
holding company ) 2,494 -
147,188 72,507
(b) Staff costs: o) BIRAK:
Contributions to defined contribution TR TR
retirement plan 5% 6,446 5,467
Equity-settled share-based payment PRS2 RAR S
expenses (note 30) X (=) 2,385 8,086
Salaries, wages and other benefits ¢ TEREMET 95,339 78,925
104,170 92,478
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (2B RSN - A SRS ETE)

5. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (continued)
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
(continued)

A BRBAEAE)

BEATBRME M, (GEA)

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ KEIRR A IR A A)

(&)

() Otheritems: (© HAER :

Amortisation of intangible asset B A EEH 23,843 21,917
Depreciation e 12,922 7132
Net foreign exchange gain B H e S5 (20,853) (13,541)
Auditors’ remuneration G kA
— audit services — IR 3,348 2,79%
- other services —E RS 325 410
Operating lease charges: minimum CEHEBH

lease payments =OHEER
— hire of premises —YEHE 1,579 2,059
Rentals receivable from properties RUERSRER

less direct outgoings of $1,087,000 ¥ #11,087,0007T

(2007: $925,000) (ZFZHF : 925,0007T) (14,738) (12,202)

6. SHARE OF LOSS OF ASSOCIATE 7~. FTiGEtE A\ S EsiE

Share of loss of associate before taxation
Share of associate’s taxation

FRGRE DRI BRI B -
FiABE N AIBR -

(478)

(478)
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(a) Income tax in the consolidated income statement

(a) REBHRATHWAEBS

represents:
2008 2007
—TENE —ETLF
$000 $000
Fr T
Current tax - PRC income tax KEABIE — PEIFTEH
Provision for the year AEE R 23,460 15,018
Under/(oven-provision in prior years BEFERETE/(BF) 194 (809)
23,654 14,209
Deferred tax REHIE
Origination and reversal of temporary TRERVESL
differences e 71,507 8,274
Effect of change in tax rate HERE ”LTUJRIE
on opening balances of LN k7
deferred tax - (15,676)
71,507 (7,402)
95,161 6,807

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made
in the financial statements as the Group sustained a
loss for Hong Kong Profits Tax purpose during the year.
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax was made in
2007 financial statements as the tax losses brought
forward from the previous years exceeded the estimated
assessable profit for the year. Taxation for the PRC
operations is charged at the appropriate current rates of
taxation ruling in the PRC. During the year, certain PRC
subsidiaries are subject to tax at 50% of the standard tax
rates or fully exempt from income tax under the relevant
tax rules and regulations.

AR AFEARNEB 2 BEBEBKILRE
MAEF - B AEETEE—STTN
FEMBRRABBFEBELERE -

HMRE_SELFEAEEZREEY
R TR IBFE DR AT F R IEE
B B ASETEEZFEZHBER
KRB BFERIELBE - PRHEKZ
MBEZEPEHBETHNERREGE - F
AN BREEBABBEEERER BT+
M B R AR IR AE R R 50% 58 AN A TR =X,
ED BN R BMFTIER -
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(a) REBVHERAMTWAEBSR - (&)

(a) Income tax in the consolidated income statement

represents: (continued)

On 16 March 2007, the Fifth Plenary Session of the
Tenth National People’s Congress passed the Corporate
Income Tax Law of the PRC (“new tax law”) which
became effective on 1 January 2008. According to the
new tax law, the standard PRC Enterprise Income Tax
rate is 25%. Furthermore, the State Council of the PRC
passed the implementation guidance (“lmplementation
Guidance”) on 26 December 2007, which sets out the
details of how the existing preferential income tax rate
will be adjusted to the standard rate of 25%. According
to the Implementation Guidance, income tax rate for the
PRC subsidiaries of the Group, which are eligible to a
100% or 50% relief from PRC Enterprise Income Tax,
will be gradually changed to the standard rate of 25%
over a five-year transition period.

In addition, under the new tax law, with effect from 1
January 2008, non-resident enterprises without an
establishment or place of business in the PRC or which
have an establishment or place of business but the
relevant income is not effectively connected with the
establishment or a place of business in the PRC, will be
subject to withholding income tax at the rate of 10%
on various types of passive income such as dividends
derived from sources in the PRC. Pursuant to the
double tax arrangement between the PRC and Hong
Kong effective on 8 December 2006, the withholding
income tax rate will be reduced to 5% if the investment
by the Hong Kong investor in the invested entities in
the PRC is not less than 25%. On 22 February 2008,
the Minister of Finance and State Administration of
Tax approved Caishui (2008) No.1, pursuant to which
dividend distribution out of pre-2008 retained earnings
of foreign investment enterprises will be exempted from
withholding income tax. Withholding income tax of
$20,236,000 has been recognised in respect of profits
derived in the PRC during the year ended 31 December
2008.

NR-_ZEZT+F=ZA+B: FEFET+
EEEARRERASEAARE mﬁﬂ
(RBEGEMRSRRFHFIE]D)
N_ZTTEN\F—A—BRBEEW @ﬁﬁ
Bk PRCEMSHRIZEEREA
25% ° AN - FEIREHRER -_ETLF
+Z A+ NBEBAEGERES ([ EE
511 - EREFIBRITEBAESHEEN
AR EIZER KRR ZFFIE - BIEE
MetEsl  AEBETHBEMNEB AR (A
‘T?ﬁiﬁﬁm¥\%%%¢l¢¥
BHE)ZAEHEERATREB
E%Wﬁimﬁﬁ BT R25% o

tESN - REBFBE =TT N\F—A
—Hie  WIHFEPBRKIKEFRHERE
s 2 EER M - HEF R
HEFERBLE D - EEARAE
B N 3E ER 7 R B AR 37 3k AR B AT 2 b Bh
EAZIEERDNYE  BERZEHBK
AR 2 I B ) 1 10% 1 R 54
NTERAER - RIEPEERE 2 HET
_L]IEA_?y/\¢+ H/\HE)&ZEJE
ERMLH WEAREENHEZE
STREBEZIRETDN25% » TBIRAT
BHERLES% - R_EENF A
Z+ =B BB EBERBGEBRE
B F1(2008) 5 157 @ It - INE B EK
B-ZENFAREB AT Z R EDRA
BREBABIRAGEH - REEZZZT
NE+T_A=+—HBILFE  @BRER
EEZ B - ARAIGRSHERIBEZA
15%120,236,0007T °
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(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and (b) REABEGFEZHET HESHER
accounting profit at applicable tax rates: ZHER
2008 2007
—BI\g “TTLHF
$'000 $000
Fr T
Profit before taxation BEiRIBF 460,552 366,886
Notional tax on profit before taxation, RERERBAER G A AR
calculated at the rates ZBREHBE
applicable to profits in the tax SRRV RIAFEE 2
jurisdictions concerned HEHE 110,412 67,589
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TAHIRX 2 BiER 2 5,033 3,999
Tax effect of non-taxable income IERTWAZ FHIES 2 (16,819) (9,784)
Tax effect of profits entitled to tax AIZRHEREREEEL
exemption in the PRC ARz Fiag & (26,316) 1,717)
Tax effect of utilisation of unused tax HREBEFEER %Fﬁ [EE R
losses not recognised in prior years ZAEEE 2 BiAT £ = (8972)
Tax effect of unused tax losses R BARER 2 AIEIER
not recognised AR E 2,421 216
Tax effect of withholding tax TERFS fR%’I HEIRTB A
on undistributed profits of RO REF 'JZW‘%?JL
PRC subsidiaries 20,236 -
Effect on deferred tax balances HEEBEHRLETIR
resulting from change in tax rate w2 = (23,715)
Under/(over)-provision in prior years BEFER % TR/ (BF) 194 (809)
Actual tax expense EBRRHIEX H 95,161 6,807
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Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 161 of RIEE B FHERI)EE 1611651 3R 2 2= = i
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is as follows: ca N
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits scheme 2008
Directors’ inkind Discretionary contributions Share-based ZFTNEF
fees g Z0 bonuses Bfkst2]  Sub-total  payments Total
St REMHE PR #R Mt RiMER i
(Note)
(PtaE)
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
T T T T T T T
Executive directors HiTES
Tang Shuangning EEE - 25 - - 25 - 25
Zang Qiutao EiE - 1,694 - - 1,694 170 1,864
Li Xueming & - 1,689 - - 1,689 170 1,859
Chen Xiaoping BN - 2,165 2,850 - 5,015 213 5,228
Fan Yan Hok, Philip BLE - 1,808 1,150 147 3,105 170 3,275
Wong Kam Chung, Raymond #4584 - 1,470 950 120 2,540 128 2,668
Zhang Weiyun K= - 8713 - - 873 43 916
Independent non-executive  BIFEHTES
directors
Sir David Akers-Jones ERfiiet 130 40 - - 170 = 170
Li Kwok Sing, Aubrey TEE 120 40 - - 160 = 160
Mar Selwyn EmR 120 40 - - 160 - 160

370 9,844 4,950 267 15,431 894 16,325
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N EEWNE(F)

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

Executive directors BirEE

Tang Shuangning BEE - 10 - - 10 - 10

Zang Qutao HikE - 1699 - - 1699 511 2210

Li Xueming 0 - 1689 - - 1689 511 2,200

Chen Xiaoping B NE - 2,165 2,800 - 4965 639 5,604

Fan Yan Hok, Phiip o - 1808 1,100 144 3,052 511 3,563

Wong Kam Chung, Raymond ~ &35E2 - 1,190 850 101 2,141 384 2,525

Zhang Weiyun RET - 873 - - 873 128 1,001

Huang Chaohua BOE (N-TEtH

(resigned on 18 May 2007) HA+\REHE) - 425 - - 42 (274) 151

Wang Mingquan T (R=Z5t%

(resigned on 16 July 2007) tATABEH) = 20 S - 2 (4o7) (437)

Chen Shuang (resigned on Bk (M-ZEHE

23 November 2007) T-B=t+=RAgHE) - 20 - - 20 55 75

Independent non-executive  BIFHITES

directors

Sir David Akers-Jones ERGET 110 45 - - 155 - 155

Li Kwok Sing, Aubrey ZEHE 100 4 - - 145 - 145

Mer Sehwyn 5k 100 45 - - 145 - 145
310 10,034 4750 245 15,339 2,008 17347

Note: These represent the estimated value of share options granted
to the directors under the Company’s share option scheme.
The value of these share options is measured according to
the Group’s accounting policies for share-based payment
transactions as set out in note 1(r)(iij and, in accordance with
the policy, includes adjustments to reverse amounts accrued
in previous years where grants of equity instruments are lapsed
prior to vesting.

M - HARBAARBREIR TES 2B
Bz AFHEE - WEEREZEERAS
B 238 LA AR 32 A5 2 PR 22 5 2 & At UK (RF
SE—(n()FTE - MRBEEHEERE - a8
BEBRATANGRBAISREZBERT » 3
B —FE 2 B0 -

The details of the share options are disclosed under the
paragraph “Share option scheme” in the report of the directors
and note 30.

BRABREFERNESSREBRET
B —ERME=T -
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Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, all are
directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 8.

The consolidated profit attributable to equity shareholders
of the Company includes a profit of $93,532,000 (2007:
$119,452,000) which has been dealt with in the financial
statements of the Company.

Reconciliation of the above amount to the Company’s profit

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ REIFX AR 22 A)

hasmmMENACHRES  BHEN
M FBERHEEN

KRR BRREMLMEASENIERF
93,532,0007c ( ZEZE 4 : 119,452,000
TL)BIARRE ZHEHRERA ©

Pl eBBEFARRRBMEROT -

for the year:
2008 2007
—BENE S
$'000 $000
Fr T
Amount of consolidated profit attrioutable to BIAARA R BRE
equity shareholders dealt with in the IR IE AR A B
Company'’s financial statements 93,532 119,452
Final dividends from subsidiary attributable B R EE R
to the profits of the previous financial year, MEBARBAMREAR
approved and paid during the year ORI 2 BRE 39,240 -
Company's profit for the year (note 31(0) FENARRIRBH (HE=1—(0) 132,772 119,452

(a) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the

(a) BRI FARARRZAFERE

Company attributable to the year

2008 2007
—BENE “TTLHF
$°000 $000
T T
Interim dividend declared and paid of BEREZSHERE
0.6 cent per ordinary share FREBROGL (ZTZLF -
(2007: 0.6 cent per ordinary share) FEmo.6l) 18,843 18,753
Final dividend proposed after the REEBEEE D RAIE
balance sheet date of 1 cent per TR
ordinary share (2007: 1 cent per (ZZ2ZtF  FREBRIL)
ordinary share) 31,438 31,367
50,281 50,120

The final dividend proposed after the balance sheet date
has not been recognised as a liability at the balance

sheet date.

REE BREZD KA RIS B ARES
BRERRBE -
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(b) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the
Company attributable to the previous financial
year, approved and paid during the year

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED  #r Bl KEIFR AR A A

(b) BRE—EHRFE  ARFAHREL
XNATFEIFRRZENKRE

2008 2007
—TENE e 3
$'000 $000
Fr T
Final dividend in respect of the previous BRL—EEREE - URFR
financial year, approved and BoE S 2 RERR B
paid during the year, of 1 cent per FREERIU(ZSTLE
ordinary share (2007: 0.6 cent per B RAR0.61L)
ordinary share) 31,367 18,462
Special dividend in respect of the BREE—ZZ F+-_A=+—HI
financial year ended 31 December 2006, VBEE  TREHE_TTLF
approved and paid during the year ended +-A=t+—HIFE#E
31 December 2007, of 0.4 cent per W 2 5 RIIR B B A%
ordinary share LBAR0.475L - 12,308
31,367 30,770
(a) Basic earnings per share (a) BREXRZEF
The calculation of basic eamnings per share is based on BRERZF HIRRA R AT BRRR

the profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of
the Company of $339,018,000 (2007: $337,932,000)
and the weighted average number of 3,138,338,000
ordinary shares (2007: 3,101,829,000 ordinary shares) in
issue during the year, calculated as follows:

15 & F339,018,0007T( — BT 4 :
337,932,0007T) R FAB BT E B
hn#E S 5 £13,138,338,000/% L@ (—
TT 4 : 3,101,829,0000% & A% ) 5t
o HFEARAMT ¢

Weighted average number of ordinary shares BB AR -1 2
2008 2007
—BI\E i S
’000 ‘000
Fix T
Issued ordinary shares at 1 January R—A—HBEETLER 3,134,721 3,076,012
Effect of share options exercised (note 31(c)(i)) B/ TEEEAKIE 2 2 (=1 —()i) 3,617 25,817

Weighted average number of W+-—B=+—Hz

ordinary shares at 31 December SRR IR S 21 3,138,338 3,101,829
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(b) Diluted earnings per share (b) BREEER
The calculation of diluted earings per share is based on BREERT DIRA R A BB R R E
the profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of 16 & ¥ 339,01 8,00075 (ZEZEF:
the Company of $339,018,000 (2007: $337,932,000) 337,932,0007T ) K I iE A% hn i 7 15 X
and the weighted average number of 3,202,232,000 3,202,232,000 % LHX (= 55 +F
ordinary shares (2007 (restated): 3,204,354,000 ordinary (E3R) : 3,204,354,000 A% & 38 % ) =t
shares), calculated as follows: o HetE AT -
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) BAR -T2 (#5E)
2008 2007
—BI\g e 3
(restated)
(BR)
’000 ‘000
Fix T
Weighted average number of ordinary shares W+ = A=+—H 2 L@k
at 31 December A% 3,138,338 3,101,829
Effect of deemed issue of shares under the WA RIRBA A RIHEARIE
Company’s share option scheme for nil HEIEERTIRD
consideration (note 30) (ffsE=1) 63,894 102,525

Weighted average number of ordinary shares A+ A=+—Hz L@k
(diluted) at 31 December TS (EE) 3,202,232 3,204,354
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Segment information is presented in respect of the Group’s
business and geographical segments. Business segment
information is chosen as the primary reporting format
because this is more relevant to the Group in making
operating and financial decisions.

Business segments
The Group comprises the following main business segments:

Environmental energy The construction and operation
project construction of waste-to-energy power
and operation plants, methane-to-energy

power plants and industrial
solid waste landfill to generate
revenue from construction
services, revenue from operation
services as well as finance

income.
Environmental water The construction, upgrade and
project construction operation of waste-water
and operation treatment plants to generate

revenue from construction and
upgrading services, revenue
from operation services as well
as finance income.

Environmental technology The conduct of environmental
and construction protection technology
management research projects and

the provision of construction
management services to
generate management and
consultancy fee income.

Infrastructure construction The construction and operation
and operation of a toll bridge to generate
revenue from construction

service and toll fee revenue.

Property investmentand ~ The leasing and management
management of office premises and shopping
arcades to generate rental and
management fee income and
to gain from the appreciation in
the properties’ values in the long

term.

ﬁ%ﬁéﬂ?ﬁ&$$.Z%ﬂ‘“ﬂﬂﬁlﬁ“‘wﬁ
HER - HREBSHERERERZE
BERVBHRREBEBRRN  HERBRRED
aB{= /u\mjigﬂé_t"

ETE
AREBZ TERBHEMT
RIREEIRIAR BRI S E IR I

BENEE BEEER - AREEM
N T Bl 58 Rx W) B 12
% o BRER 2 AR 15 M
a3 EE RS E R
WA ©

RIRKEIER BBEE - BENES
BiENEE H7KERIER - WREUEE
HEpE RSN - B

ARAE Uz M B ISR

BRAREETE BRETRERRFE
=g THE MERIEEER
7% DABRERE 12 K JBA

BRAKA -

R - DARRBUZ 35 AR5
m R ERR K o

MERENEE SRHEEREERQE
B LES - AR
ENEEBWRA - AR

YEEEZREE
h BREUK AR o
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CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ REIFX AR 22 A)

Business segments (continued) EBKDE(E)
Environmental Environmental
energy project water project
construction and construction and
operation operation
IriREERIEE RRKIBIEE
BERES BiEREE
2008 2007 2008 2007
“ETNE —TTHE ZBTNE —TTLF
$'000 $000 $'000 $000
¥ T Tt T
Revenue from external customers KENREP U 844616 683043 890,060 550452
Inter-segment revenue A ERE MR = = = -
Other revenue and other income REMAEFEM
from external customers WiES R E AU A 16,281 14,323 4,688 5,342
Unallocated other revenue and ADEEME R
other income Hi A\ = = = =
Total Yol 860,897 702,366 894,748 555,794
Segment results DEREELE 288,161 205,778 225,534 150,637
Unallocated operating income RAOBEEWAR
and expenses X
Profit from operations LERF
Finance costs BSER
Share of loss of associate PN RlEE - = = (478)
Income tax TS
Profit after taxation BRI EF
Depreciation and amortisation KEEHEREH
for the year 1,969 1,217 4,084 1,306
Valuation gains on investment REYZFERH
properties = - = -
Segment assets DEEE 2,371,782 1573873 2,763,470 1,552,013
Interest in associate NG 3 - - - _
Unallocated assets AOEE
Total assets BEHE
Segment liabilties NEBE 151,087 120,152 274,075 162,257
Unallocated liabilities Ao aRE
Total liabilities BfEEE
Capital expenditure incurred AEEREER
during the year BANEY 2,171 4,848 16,663 3,731
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Environmental
technology Infrastructure
and construction construction and
management operation Property investment Inter-segment
R R BE and management elimination Consolidated
IREE BERER YERERER SHEREIRSE &8
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
ZEBENE —TTHF ZBTN\E —TTLF ZEENE —TTtH ZBEN\E Tt ZBBN\E —TTLH
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Fr T Fr T Fr T F T T T
- - 107,589 92,477 20,244 16,880 - - 1,862,509 1,347,852
105,773 236,279 - - - - (105,773) (236,279 - -
445 943 1,713 1,230 51,864 1,826 - - 74,991 23,664
- - - - - - - - 6,206 36,605
106,218 237,222 109,302 98,707 72,108 18,706 (105,773)  (236,279) 1,943,706 1,408,121
47,076 99,707 74,901 63,594 63,318 30,302 (58,308)  (111,491) 640,682 438,527
(32,942) 1,344
607,740 439,871
(147,188)  (72,507)
- - - - - - - - - (478)
(95,161) (6,807
365,391 360,079
2,292 570 24,026 22,065 334 841
- - - - - 19,202
84,768 24,106 722,580 673,504 35,132 264,805 - - 5977,7132 4,088,301
322,946 437,382
6,300,678 4,525,683
26,941 33,422 3,825 2,013 435 6,531 - - 456,363 324,375
2,7113274 1,597,882
3,169,637 1,922,257
32,659 1,055 117 70 1,354 479
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Geographical segments

The Group’s business participates in two principal economic
environments. Hong Kong and other parts of the PRC are

h & 2 56

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ REIFX AR 22 A)

AEBEBRERMEEIRLHERE -
FELRTEEMESARERBZEE

the major markets for the Group’s business. % o
In presenting information on the basis of geographical E2iESBEER - HHRERAE
segments, segment revenue is based on the geographical FPRFEMABFTEEE - nHEERER
location of customers. Segment assets and capital FXAIABERMME AT EERE o
expenditure are based on the geographical location of the
assets.
2008 2007
—BI\g e 3
$'000 $000
Fx T
Revenue from external customers: TAINAEPUES -
Hong Kong aE 345 311
Other parts of the PRC ==Ych=w ] 1,862,164 1,347,541
1,862,509 1,347,852
2008 2007
—BI\g —TTLF
$000 $000
Fr T
Segment assets: DEEE
Hong Kong BB 294,849 429,081
Other parts of the PRC =)=l 6,005,829 4,096,602
6,300,678 4,525,683
2008 2007
—BI\g “TTtF
$000 $000
Fr T
Capital expenditure incurred during the year: REERNELNEARS :
Hong Kong BB 1,120 3,241
Other parts of the PRC =)= il 53,088 12,094
54,208 58888
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(a) The Group (a) =&
Motor
Leasehold vehicles,
improve-  electronic
ments,  equipment
fumiture  and other Total
and fixtures  fixed assets fixed
Land and HEYE KREEF Investment assets
buildings %f& Rk REREM  Sub-total properties  EFEE
T RIEF RRE BETEE Nt RENE ]
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $'000
T T T T T T
Cost or valuation: BAES 1 :
At 1 January 2008 R=EE\F-H—H 131,912 6,547 29,527 167,986 200,922 368,908
Exchange adjustments (& 5 R 880 21 2,120 3,271 11,500 14,771
Addtions EE 31,815 5515 16,878 54,208 - 54,208
Disposals He
- through disposal of —FRHENBAT
subsidliaries (note 33) (fzE=1=) (1,359) - (731) (2,090) (192,848) (194,938)
- others — it = (508) (1,436) (1,944) = (1,944)
At 31 December 2008 R-EENE
—A=1-H 163,248 11,825 46,358 221,431 19,574 241,005
Representing: R%:
Cost WANE 163,248 11,825 46,358 221,431 - 221,431
Valuation - 2008 fHE-ZZENF - - - - 19,574 19,574
163,248 11,825 46,358 221,431 19,574 241,005
Accumulated depreciation: ZitifE
At 1 January 2008 R=EE\F-H—H 53,856 1,048 9,478 64,382 - 64,382
Exchange adjustments B i R 120 4 733 897 - 897
Charge for the year AEETE 4,500 1,937 6,485 12,922 - 12,922
Written back on disposal HERED
- through disposal of —BRHENBRAT
subsidiaries (note 33) (H#=1=) (423) = (429) (852) = (852)
- others —Efty - (64) (853) (917) - (917
At 31 December 2008 NZZZ\F+-A=1+—H 58,053 2,965 15,414 76,432 - 76,432
Net book value; IRE%E
At 31 December 2008 RZFT)\E+-A=1t—H 10519 8,860 30,944 144,999 19,574 164,573
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14. FIXED ASSETS (continued)
(a) The Group (continued)

1t BIE&E(E)
(a) &&EME (&)

Cost or valuation: RA B E -
At1 January 2007 RZZEE+FE-F—H 130,092 3,006 19,697 162,795 168,308 321,103
Exchange adjustments [ 5 % 1,353 213 1,284 2,850 13,412 16,262
Addtions e 2,349 3,533 9,453 15,335 = 15,335
Disposals e (1,882) (205) (907) (2,994) - (2,994)
Fair value adjustment ARERR = - - - 19,202 19,202
At 31 December 2007 RIZTHE

+-A=t-H 131,912 6,547 29,527 167,986 200,922 368,908
Representing: f%:
Cost BAE 131,912 6,547 29,521 167,986 = 167,986
Valuation - 2007 HE-—TELF - - = = 200,922 200,922

131,912 6,547 29,521 167,986 200,922 368,908

Accumulated depreciation: ZtifE
At1 January 2007 W-EE+F—A—H 51,007 510 6,147 57,664 = 57,604
Exchange adjustments [ 5 3R 191 3 465 689 - 689
Charge for the year KEEE 2,789 649 3,694 7,132 - 7,132
Writen back on disposal & & (131) (144) 628) (1,103) - (1,103)
At 31 December 2007 RZEZ+F+-A=t—-H 53856 1,048 9478 04,382 = 064,382
Net book value: FRES(E :
At 31 December 2007 RZEZ+F+-A=t-H 78056 5,499 20,049 103,604 200,922 304,526
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(b) The Company (b) &AF]
Furniture Total
Office Leasehold and fixed
equipment improvements fixtures Motor assets
BAZE HEYE RER vehicles BTEE
R i kB RE L E
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
T T Tr T T
Cost: BA(E :
At 1 January 2008 R-ZT\F—H—H 949 2,278 381 2,320 5,928
Addtions wE 38 131 - 1,011 1,180
At 31 December 2008 RZZEEN\F+-_A=1—H 987 2,409 381 3,331 7,108

Accumulated depreciation:  E:HifE

At 1 January 2008 R-EE/\$—A—H 427 450 45 984 1,906
Charge for the year REEHE 153 593 37 448 1,231
At 31 December 2008 RZZE\E+-A=1+—A 580 1,043 82 1,432 3,137
Net book value: BRERE :

At 31 December 2008 R-EE\#+-A=1+—H 407 1,366 299 1,899 3971




ANNUAL REPORT 2008 —ZZ/)\F4F#

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BARsER R M

2|

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (¥ ZA7ERASN © FIE SEAEERTH)

14. FIXED ASSETS (continued)

(b) The Company (continued)

0 EE&EE)
(b) RRAT(E)

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ KEIRR AR A A)

Cost: BAfE :

At 1 January 2007 R-EE+F—A—H 1,313 = 11 2,023 3,347
Additions wE 334 2,278 370 297 3,279
Disposals HE (698) - - - (698)
At 31 December 2007 RZZTZ+F+-A=1+—H 949 2,278 381 2,320 5,928
Accumulated depreciation: ZiHifE

At 1 January 2007 R-ZEZ+F—A—H 982 - 8 630 1,620
Charge for the year KEEHE 143 450 37 354 984
Written back on disposal HERE D (698) - - - (698)
At 31 December 2007 RZEZ+F+-A=1+—H 427 450 45 984 1,906
Net book value: FREFE :

At 31 December 2007 RZZZ+F+-A=1+—H 522 1,828 336 1,336 4,022
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(c)

(d)

Investment properties of the Group were revalued as
at 31 December 2008 on an open market value basis
calculated by reference to net rental income allowing
for reversionary income potential. The valuations
were carried out by an independent firm of surveyors,
Greater China Appraisal Limited, who have among their
staff association members of Hong Kong Institute of
Surveyors with recent experience in the location and
category of property being valued.

The analysis of net book value of properties is as
follows:

() "EBEZREMEENR _TT/\F 1+
A=1t—BREFAGFE AL FH
TWAMFEZ ARATEETER - &
BB EMITREFEERARE
T -HPBTIREBHEMBEEEE
# E B EE R AT R
ERRER

(d) MEREFEZDHUE :

The Group
AEE
2008 2007
—EEN\E “EETLF
$°000 $'000
Fit T
In the PRC i
Hong Kong: B
— medium-term leases —hHHE 59,823 61,859
Other parts of the PRC: R E iR
— medium-term leases —hHHE 64,505 215,751
- long leases —RHEE a4 1,368
124,769 278,978
Representing: RE :
Land and buildings T REF 105,195 78,056
Investment properties REWE 19,574 200,922

124,769 278,978
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(e) Fixed assets leased out under operating leases
The Group leases out properties under operating leases.
The leases typically run for an initial period of one to two
years, with an option to renew the lease after that date at
which time all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases
includes contingent rentals.

All properties held under operating leases that would
otherwise meet the definition of investment property are
disclosed as investment property.

The Group’s total future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases are receivable as

follows:
Within 1 year —ER
After 1 year but within 5 years —FRERFA

(e) RELLEHERH ZEEEE

AEBRBKEHENHEYE - Ll
E2FHMEALNF BB —EMF - A
EREYN  ERARASEENS
7] o LEESHIBEXEEST -

MARBEEHERALENTAIRED

AEERBENAERHNEEHEERR
FER R BRIENT FRARBRLANT

The Group
F5E
2008 2007
—TENE 8 o3
$000 $000
T T
882 3,955

= 362

882 4,307




ANNUAL REPORT 2008 —ZZ)\&F4% ‘ 151 ‘ CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ KEIFX AR 22 A)

BA RS ERaR Y AL

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (kBB RSN © FiB & EABETHE)

The Group
X5E
$000
FiT
Cost: BAE :
At 1 January 2008 R-ZTZT\F—H—H 682,658
Exchange adjustments PE i = 39,534
At 31 December 2008 RZZET\F+-_A=1—H 722,192
Accumulated amortisation: BT -
At 1 January 2008 AZET\F—H—H 113,776
Exchange adjustments [Ruﬂﬁ 6,819
Charge for the year INEEE# Y 23,843
At 31 December 2008 R-ZZEN\F+-A=1+—H 144,438
Net book value: BREF(E -
At 31 December 2008 RZEET\F+-_A=+—H 577,754
Cost: BAE :
At 1 January 2007 RZBZ+F—F—H 634,210
Exchange adjustments PE i = 48,448
At 31 December 2007 RZET+F+ZA=+—H 682,658
Accumulated amortisation: BTy -
At 1 January 2007 R-ZE+F—HF—H 84,561
Exchange adjustments 0 5 7,298
Charge for the year INEEE# Y 21917
At 31 December 2007 R-ZZ+F+-A=1+—H 113,776
Net book value: BREF(E :
At 31 December 2007 RZET+F+-_A=+—H 568,882
The amortisation charge for the year is included in “Direct REFEETAGEBRRZIBEEKA R
costs and operating expenses” in the consolidated income RS A o

statement.
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The Group
F5E
$'000
Fr
Cost: R {E :

At 1 January 2007, 31 December 2007 RZZZ+F—A—H —FZtF+_A

and 31 December 2008 =+—AR—TT\F+_A=+—H 46,133

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing
goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units
(“CGU”) identified according to business segment as follows:

BEHBECRSEEEN 2 HRBIRA

AEEZREBHADEEEFAIHBIZIR
CHEEBMIT :

The Group
F5E

2008 2007

—BI\g “TTLF

$'000 $000

Fr T
Environmental energy project construction RIREERIER
and operation (waste-to-energy B REe

power plant project) (AR ERERIER ) 11,255 11,255
Environmental water project construction RIFKBIER

and operation BiEREE 9,538 9,538

Infrastructure construction and operation Rt NES
(toll bridge project) (W EBBIRIER ) 25,340 25,340
46,133 46,133

The recoverable amount of the respective CGU is determined
based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved
by management covering a five year period. Discount
rates of 10% — 12% have been used for the value-in-use
calculations. Management determined the budgets based
on independent professional traffic studies and/or service
agreements governing the relevant operations. The discount
rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the
relevant segments.

No impairment is considered necessary at 31 December
2008 and 2007.

fﬁéi?ﬁﬁzﬁﬂlﬁz@%{%Eﬁﬁﬂ%‘?ﬁ)ﬂ{%ﬁ
ATE o EAERBEEECRECATF
M EE 2IREREMT - BRFTEFER
BEZERX[I0%E12% - BEEERIE
BUBERBREMER KEEEME
1% 2 BR75 1) & Fzrﬁ*ﬁ_ﬁaﬁ%% c TEAZ
IR ERRBAERE e RMEHE D
2R

RIBBENFR-_ZBTLFT_HA=1—
B BHEEREARERE -
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The Company
ARAT

2008 2007

—EEN\E —ETLF

$°000 $000

Fr T

Unlisted shares/capital contrioutions, at cost SEETRRG/HERE - BAE 328,080 466,277
Amounts due from subsidiaries Bl NGIE 3,257,016 2,683,867
3,585,096 3,150,144
Less: impairment losses w  FEEEE (1,440,357) (1,404,051)
2,144,739 1,746,093
Amounts due to subsidiaries JENHB A RZIR (35,504) (107,453)
2,109,235 1,638,640

Amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries are unsecured, interest
free and not expected to be recovered within one year.

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries
which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the
Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise

stated.
Place of
establishment/
incorporation
and operation
Name of company 3L/ sEMALAL
ATEE RIEE I,
Everbright PRC
Environmental ]

Energy (Changzhou)

Co., Ltd. * (note (d))
FRIRREGR(EM)

BRRA ()

Particulars of
issued and paid
up capital
BETR
HERFEH

RMB137,520,000
ARE
137,5620,0007T

g/ () B AT EREER &
BREHTER—FREE -

ATNEIHBAKEESE BEEXRER
KREBHXEZHBLRBEN - BREHTH

i BT ARIN 9 A B AR o

Proportion of ownership interest

AL
Group’s held by
effective the held by a
interest  Company subsidiary
FEEZ  BAAT BMEBAT
BREL tEL] oL
100% - 100%

Principal
activity

TEEH

Design,
construction,
operation and
management of
waste-to-energy
power plant

Ef s B
REBAIFR
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Proportion of ownership interest

Place of AR
establishment/ Particulars of  Group’s held by
incorporation issued and paid  effective the held by a
and operation up capital interest  Company subsidiary

Name of company 3L/ EEftAkIL EBTR 4KEZ BF5AT GHEAT

AT EHE REZIHE HERFEN BERER L] o]

Everbright PRC USD19,300,000 100% - 100%
Environmental i 19,300,000% 7T
Energy (Jiangyin)

Co., Ltd. * (note (d))

KARRERCTR)
BRAF (M)

Everbright PRC  RMB318,000,000 Note (a) - Note ()
Environmental F ARKE FizH(a) BiEHa)
Energy (Suzhou) 318,000,0007T
Limited (“EB Energy
(Suzhou)”) #

(note (d))

FARIRIRRER (BRM)
BRAR(FHXRER
(&M) D)#(fiizE(d)

Everbright PRC UsD2,100,000 100% - 100%
Environmental e 2,100,00037C
Energy (Suzhou)

Methane-to-Energy
Co., Ltd. * (note(d))
KRBRRER (@*JH)
BREFEERA
(FIE)

Everbright PRC USD11,520,000 100% - 100%
Environmental EF 11,520,00037C
Energy (Yixing)

Co., Ltd. * (note(d))
f:ﬁiaﬁ%am (EH)
BRA

(Mﬁz(d))

Principal
activity

TEEH

Design,
construction,
operation and
management of
waste-to-energy
power plant

it - B
REBAIFR G
LEm

Design,
construction,
operation and
management of
waste-to-energy
power plants

Rt i EE
REBNEITE

Design,
construction,
operation and
management of
methane-to-
energy power

et B
REBRE
%35

Design,
construction,
operation and
management of
waste-to-energy
power plant

Rt E B
&Efiiﬁ& Wi

XEH



ANNUAL REPORT 2008 —Z% /\4 4} ‘ 155 ‘ CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED B¢ AR B R A 7

BA RS ERaR Y AL

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (f& 2E:8ASN - FiB S ELBIKEE)

Proportion of ownership interest

Place of AL
establishment/ Particulars of  Group’s held by
incorporation issued and paid  effective the held by a
and operation up capital interest Company subsidiary  Principal
Name of company  F3L, /&AL B¥TR 4EEZz ©BEAT  HMBAS  actvity
R REZHE HERAEY ERED et e IEER
Everbright PRC USD10,000,000 100% 100% - Provision of
Environmental ] 10,000,000t construction
Protection management
Engineering services
(Shenzhen) R TIREERG
Co., Ltd.x
FARBRR TIRBI
CRINBRAF
Everbright PRC $4,000,000 100% 100% - Conduct of
Environmental ] 4,000,0007T environmental
Protection Technology protection
Development technology
(Beijing) Limited* research projects
KRRREHEER ETRERRHR
(ER)BRARN IR
Everbright PRC USD4,865,000 100% - 100%  Design,
Environmental H 4,865,000%7C construction,
(Suzhou) Solid Waste operation and
Treatment Co., Ltd. * management of
(note (d)) industrial solid
FRBR (BN ) EEE waste landfil
BEREER AR Ret - BE
(PH() BERER
TXREREY
b
Everbright Water PRC $55,000,000 100% - 100%  Design,

(Boxing) Limited * H 55,000,0007T construction,
(note (g)) operation and
HAKB(HH)) maintenance of
BRAR (M) waste-water
treatment plant
St s EE

RERE

A7KERIERR
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Proportion of ownership interest

Place of EERELRLL B
establishment/ Particulars of  Group’s held by
incorporation issued and paid  effective the held by a
and operation up capital interest Company subsidiary
Name of company  F{3L/ZERALIL EETR F5EZ ©BFATF HHEBEAS
ATEE RIEE M HEBEAEE BERER L] 2]
Everbright Water PRC  RMB360,000,000 70% - 70%
(Jiangyin) Limited # i AR
(note (e)) 360,000,0007T
HAKBOIER)
BRAFH(FHEE)
Everbright Water PRC USD23,580,000 100% - 100%
(Ji'nan) Limited * FE 23,580,000% 70
(note (€))
HAKH(ERE)
BRAA(FizEE)
Everbright Water PRC RMB22,024,000 100% - 100%
(Jinan Licheng) ] AR
Limited * (note (e)) 22,024,0007T
AR (R )
BRAF ()
Everbright Water PRC USD27,058,000 100% = 100%
(Zibo) Limited * H 27,058,0005 T
(note (e))
HAKBCEE)BRA
(H3Ee)

Principal
activity

TREY

Design,
construction,
operation and
maintenance of
waste-water
treatment plants

Het B EE

KBRS
SIKE IR R

Operation and
maintenance of
waste-water
treatment plants

BERBERE
AIKEEIERR

Design,
construction,
operation and
maintenance of
waste-water
treatment plant

ket B
ST 1%%
STk IR

Design,
construction,
operation and
maintenance of
waste-water
treatment plants

Ret o BE B
REERE
K EIERR
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Proportion of ownership interest

Registered under the laws of the PRC as foreign investment

enterprise.

Registered under the laws of the PRC as sino-foreign co-operative

joint venture.

Place of BE GBI
establishment/ Particulars of  Group’s held by
incorporation issued and paid  effective the held by a
and operation up capital interest Company subsidiary  Principal

Name of company  F3L, /&AL B¥TR 4EEZz ©BEAT  HMBAS  actvity

R REZHE HERAEY ERED et e IEER

Everbright Water PRC $35,000,000 100% - 100%  Design,

(Zibo Zhoucun) H 35,000,0007T construction,
Water Purification operation and
Co., Ltd. * maintenance of
(note (g)) waste-water

HARKHE() «“@ﬂﬁ) treatment plant
FRBRA Rat o BiE - EFE
(FizEe)) R#ERE

K ERIERR

Qingdao EB-VW PRC USD15,257,000 Note (b) - Note (b) ~ Construction,
Waste Water i 15,257,0003 7T Fid3E (o) Bz (o) operation and
Treatment Co., Ltd. maintenance of
(“Qingdao EB-VW”) waste-water
(note (g)) treatment plants

HEERETKERE s g
BRAA R#ERE
([ESKE)" N
(FzEE))

Fuzhou Guang Min PRC  RMB224,730,000 Note (c) - Note ()  Development,
Road and Bridge F AR FiizE(c) HizE(c) construction,
Construction & 224,730,0007T operation and
Development maintenance of
Company Limited atoll bridge
(‘FZGM)¢ % 2 B

BN B ER R#ERE
FEBRAT W ERBR
(R 1)

On Land Limited Hong Kong 2 shares of 100% = 100%  Property

BRAERAR e $1 each investment

MR GREE MERE
17CHR

IR B AL MBI B E R

R BLZZE M 39N & TEA &P 3
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Everbright Environmental Energy (Suzhou) Holdings Ltd, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and the foreign joint venture
partner of EB Energy (Suzhou), is committed to contribute the full
amount of EB Energy (Suzhou)’s registered capital. Net profit, after
payment of an agreed sum of RMB880,000 annually to the PRC
joint venture partner of EB Energy (Suzhou), of EB Energy (Suzhou)
is fully attributable to Everbright Environmental Energy (Suzhou)
Holdings Ltd.

EB-VW HK Holding Company Limited (“‘EB-VW”), an 60% owned
subsidiary of the Company and the foreign joint venture partner
of Qingdao EB-VW, is committed to contribute 60% of Qingdao
EB-VW'’s registered capital. The remaining 40% registered capital
is contributed by the PRC joint venture partner. EB-VW is fully
entitled to the net profit of Qingdao EB-VW for the first 14 years
of the joint venture period. From the 15th year of the joint venture
period onwards, the net profit of Qingdao EB-VW is to be shared
by EB-VW and the PRC joint venture partner on a 98:2 basis.

Greenway Venture Limited (“Greenway”), an 80% owned subsidiary
of the Company and the foreign joint venture partner of FZGM,
is committed to contribute the full amount of FZGM’s registered
capital. The remaining 20% in Greenway is owned by China
Everbright Holdings Company Limited, the Company’s ultimate
holding company. Net profit (after payment of an agreed sum
ranging from RMB600,000 to RMB2,500,000 annually to the PRC
joint venture partner of FZGM) of FZGM should first be applied
for the repayment of capital and advances made by Greenway.
After the capital and advances made by Greenway have been fully
repaid, the net profit of FZGM (after payment of an agreed sum to
the PRC joint venture partner mentioned above) is to be shared by
Greenway and the PRC joint venture partner on a 90:10 basis.

Pursuant to the joint venture agreement of FZGM, FZGM was
granted a right to construct, operate and maintain a toll bridge
in Fuzhou city, the PRC. After the completion of the toll bridge
construction, FZGM has an operating period of the toll bridge for a
period of 30 years commencing from January 2003. Upon expiry
of the operating period, FZGM will transfer all the fixed assets and
the operating right to the PRC joint venture partner. The toll fee is
based on the type of vehicles and it is subject to the approval from
the relevant local government authorities. During the operating
period, FZGM has the obligation to maintain the toll bridge in good
condition.

The service concession agreement does not contain a renewal
option. Both the grantor and FZGM have the rights to terminate
the agreement in the event of a material breach of the terms of the
agreement.

Operating right of the toll bridge is recognised as an intangible asset.

FIESBAESE)

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ REIFX AR 22 A)

Bt -

(@)

ARE 2 2EWNE R RIFRIAEIR(EF) I|)$7\\\
BEBHARRRERGM)ZERERA
AEE AN RBEIR (BN ) 2BEME A - z‘zj(
BER (BRM) 2% B (E & & N 19 E IR A
R#880,0007t TH 77 & BB HK) BRI K
RIRGEIR (BN EBRERRFIAE °

RAGER60% E < M E A RRE %tﬂz*ﬂ\
BEBHARBIIHKBERZERARA
(Hnjiﬂiiﬁﬁ”?% /f/\ﬁ%trjzm%?ﬂﬁéf
R BRT40%KHP T EEBRHELE - LR
URREEHETHFAI2BEATE LR
FERA - MAETHEREHE 5B
FEFE RSB LIER TTA& ER RS2

Z LB

AN B HE B 80% HE 55 2 Y B A B F& % B BR 4B
29N A & E 1 Greenway Venture Limited
(fGreenwayJ)J?K AEANEEEEEERE
Zli Greenway 2 T 20% 7 2 FH R A 8] 2 & &

TRNBIRBENAEEGRARMES - KEK
ﬁzaa%ﬂ(?ttiﬁzﬁn?AEM@O0,000
TTE ARY2,500,000t 2 HERETHF &
BRI ) S E St A AEEGreenwayE 2 2
BEARARERK - £2HEEGreenwayE X T2
BARAREBRE - HEEBZFEF (3
Fri S EREFTHHEERHR)BH

Greenway & 5 & & 5 f£1290:10,2 Lt 7] #
ﬁ °

IR B %Tﬁ% KBRS R
EFI%EJ\Imi%L REERE—GRER

R o EH&Z%?&E%%W?& FEBERHEA IR
ERRzEEE=-TF A_ZT=F—Ai
at o hi‘“*‘HﬁE/ﬁé SEIERERHEA B E
BERKZE 24@5’“*%#?&%‘ Y #15
*”ZH&ZE&iEﬁZ*EE mE  WEAFHEE
BB ER T AIEE - REZHR - XE
BREARTEREBERRERFMAN

PR 755 5 A 6 17p o 3
BB R B RN ik

THRIEBERWE -

BARE -BRTAR
GTEBERNERZIEN

WERRZELEBARBILEE -



ANNUAL REPORT 2008 —ZZ)\&F4%

Mw‘

BA RS ERaR Y AL

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (f& 2E:8ASN - FiB S ELBIKEE)

Notes: (continued)

@

The subsidiaries of the Group entered into service concession
arrangements with the local government authorities in the PRC
(“the grantors”). Pursuant to the service concession arrangements,
the Group has to design, construct, operate and manage waste-
to-energy power plants, methane-to-energy power plants and
industrial solid waste landfill in the PRC for a period of 25 to
30 years. The Group has the obligation to maintain the waste-
to-energy power plants, methane-to-energy power plants and
industrial solid waste landfill in good condition. The grantors
guarantee the Group will receive minimum annual payments in
connection with the arrangements. Upon expiry of the concession
periods, the waste-to-energy power plants and related facilities will
be transferred to the local government authorities.

The service concession arrangements do not contain renewal
options. The standard rights of the grantors to terminate the
agreements include failure of the Group to construct or operate the
waste-to-energy power plants, methane-to-energy power plants
and industrial solid waste landfill and in the event of a material
breach of the terms of the agreements. The standard rights of
the Group to terminate the agreements include failure to receive
payments for solid waste treatment service from the grantors and
in the event of a material breach of the terms of the agreements.

Revenue relates to the construction services provided in
constructing the waste-to-energy power plants, methane-to-
energy power plants and industrial solid waste landfill is recognised
as “Gross amounts due from customers for contract work” in the
financial statements.

The subsidiaries of the Group entered into service concession
arrangements with the local government authorities in the PRC
(“the grantors”). Pursuant to the service concession arrangements,
the Group has to design, construct and/or upgrade, operate and
manage waste-water treatment plants in the PRC for a period of 25
to 30 years. The Group has the obligation to maintain the waste-
water treatment plants in good condition. The grantors guarantee
the Group will receive minimum annual payments in connection
with the arrangements. Upon expiry of the concession periods,
the waste-water treatment plants and the related facilities will be
transferred to the local government authorities.

The service concession arrangements do not contain renewal
options. The standard rights of the grantors to terminate the
agreements include failure of the Group to construct, upgrade or
operate the waste-water treatment plants and in the event of a
material breach of the terms of the agreements. The standard rights
of the Group to terminate the agreements include failure to receive
payments for waste-water treatment service from the grantors and
in the event of a material breach of the terms of the agreements.

Revenue relates to the construction services provided in
constructing or updrading the waste-water treatment plants is
recognised as “Gross amounts due from customers for contract
work” in the financial statements.

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ KEIFX AR 22 A)

Mk : (&

(@)

2N 5 9 Y J88 % ) £ e B S RS A B ([ 1R T
A DRI RIS R TR SRR BE - RIBIRIS AT
rEERE  AKBEANTERE - 2E &
EREESIFERER  BAREEMET
XEREEAES  SE—_tRE=1TF K
SEAREMFNRREHER  BREER
N T2 B B2 R RS R AR © T AR
& RAEELENE - AEES A SFRIER
EIRFE TR » FPFaT RS MEmIR - BORITE
BB MBI RS R B BT

PRASIFRTAC R L HE MAB LIRS - KT AT
TTRRERMK IR 2 BN ARER
RS EE N NREER AREERL
TXEREREIEIES  URBREREERE
[ o AEEATEZERME LR BERE
B ORI T ARBEREDRIEREE -
AR BEGREERER

REE R R R R ER - BAREEM N T EE
B R I8 5 T IR UEE IR TG P 1S 2 AE B Mk a2
EFBHERPERSEEETFA O TIENA
#El -

2% 5 9 Y 88 % ) £ e B S R A B ([ 1R T
A DRI RIS R TR SRR BE - RIBIRIS AT
e AREARPERE - BER/X
B EENEETKEER - R tAE
=14 - AEEA B EERTKEERERLT
AT e BRFAER  BLERLHME - AKE
A & FIRIRERZRA - FRALEHE
ik - 57K R R AR R RR e 5 E M BT
R -

IRAS RS SR L I MABLERE - KT AT
TRRERENR L BEZBERRIE: AEER
BerRiE - BUESUEE)SUKBEIERR - A B tnha
REERNER - REEATERERNE
A IENBE: REENEE T ARFHKERR
BE  URBHEREENER

(R s ok A D5 7k B B R i SR (L S AR TS P 1S
ZHEBARRETBHRRTRBREEETFS
HTIRFIRMEEE | o
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B BB AN © BB EABETE)
The Group
F&E
2008 2007
—BI\g —TTLF
$'000 $000
Fr T
Share of net assets PTG B S8 = -
Details of the associate are as follows: B NRERAT
Proportion of ownership interest
BRI
Group’s held by
Form of Place of effective the held by a
business establishment interest  Company subsidiary  Principal
Name of associate structure  and operation rEEZ HEAS HMEAS activity
BEATEME EBREME RuUREENEY  BERER o) BE IEER
Qingdao Veolia Water Established PRC 21% = 21%  Operation
Operating Company Ay e of waste-water
Limited (“Qingdao treatment
Veolia”) plants
BRI EE B2k
BRAH IR
(IEBBALE])
Summary financial information on associate B AR MERE
2008 2007
—EBNE —TTLHF
$000 $000
Fr T
()  Operating results (Note) () sEEEEF)
Turnover e 39,379 25,661
Profit/(loss) before taxation BRERIAN/(BE) 2,382 (5,520)
Profit/(loss) after taxation BB &R (B8) 2,382 (5,520)
Group’s share of loss after taxation AEEMGEE AR
for the year attributable to the associate AEE Wmﬁﬁiﬁ\ — (478)
Note: Operating results of Qingdao Veolia is shared up to the Mzt ANEBEEESEILIEZ KL EEN
Group’s interest in the associate. HAhZi g R a2 Em AR o
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CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED  #r Bl KEIFR AR A A

Summary financial information on associate (continued) BENTDMBEEEE)
2008 2007
—TENE —ETLF
$°000 $000
T T
i) Balance sheet i) EEAER
Non-current assets IEFEEE 676 410
Current assets TEEE 12,379 11,137
Current liabilities mEaRE (13,650) (14,383)
Net liabilities BETE (595) (2,836)
Group’s share of net assets attributable RNEB RSN A)
to the associate BEFR - -
The Group The Company
X5E AAT
2008 2007 2008 2007
—TENE —TTAF —BEN\E “TTAF
$°000 $000 $°000 $000
Fr T Fr T
Avalilable-for-sale equity HERAK
securities: BE
- Listed in Hong Kong —&B M 15,763 52,938 - -
- Unlisted outside Hong Kong ~ — & & AIMMEIE EH 6,573 6,639 6,573 6,639
22,336 59,577 6,573 6,639
Market value of listed securiies _FEE%5 2 B 15,763 52,938 - -
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BARsER R M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (¥ ZA7ERASN © FIE SEAEERTH)

20. DEBTORS, OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS -t FEUCHERSR - R FEWRRIE « & RFEHF
AIE

AND PREPAYMENTS

Debtors JEMERR 98,091 53,511
Loan receivable e e - 75,061
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments HMEWEIE - 124 hIa 708 1,709,633 869,432
1,807,724 998,004
Less: Non-current portion B : FEENERER
— other receivables and deposits —HtEUGUERIRE (1,386,280) (690,019)
Current portion BIERERn 421,444 307,985

Included in “Debtors, other receivables, deposits and
prepayments” are debtors with the following ageing analysis
as of the balance sheet date:

[ YRR - M RUGOR - e RFAMK
TE |k BIERIREE - R GE B RE S
T

Current BNEA 73,248 47,515
Less than 1 month past due #HHR DA —1E B 7,670 5,996
1 to 3 months past due wE—Z=={EAH 3,732 -

More than 3 months but less than mEEA=EAE
12 months past due DR+ —{EH 13,441 -
98,091 53,511

Debtors are due within 30 days from the date of billing.
Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in note
32(a).

FEWAR N AREEHBEFT=THREHE -
AEBEERRZE —FTERHRH T
=t+=(a)-
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (kBB RSN © FiB & EABETHE)

Included in debtors, other receivables, deposits and
prepayments of the Group are debtors of $398,091,000 (2007:
$53,511,000) of which $6,994,000 (2007: $11,873,000)
and $23,923,000 (2007: $Nil) are due from a minority
shareholder and a related company respectively. Debtors
represent toll bridge revenue and revenue from waste-
water treatment plants, waste-to-energy power plants,
methane-to-energy power plants and industrial solid waste
landfill operation services. There was no recent history of
default in respect of the Group’s debtors. Based on past
experience, management believes that no impairment
allowance is necessary in respect of the past due balances
as there has not been a significant change in credit quality
and the balances are still considered fully recoverable. The
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.
No impairment loss was recognised by the Group at 31
December 2008 (2007: $Ni).

Other receivables, deposits and prepayments include
balances totalling $1,544,037,000 (2007: $750,991,000)
which bear interest at rates ranging from 6.12% to 7.83%
(2007: 6.12% to 7.02%) per annum and represent the
considerations paid for the acquisition of waste-water
treatment plants under TOT (transfer-operate-transfer)
arrangements, among which $123,097,000 (2007:
$98,099,000) and $497,852,000 (2007: $Nil) are due from
a minority shareholder and a related company respectively.
The amounts are not yet due for payment and will be settled
by revenue to be generated during the operating periods of
the TOT arrangements. No impairment loss was recognised
by the Group at 31 December 2008 (2007: $Nil).

The loan receivable at 31 December 2007 was unsecured,
interest bearing at 7.12%, due from an unrelated party and
repaid in full during the year.

All of the current portion of the above balances are expected
to be recovered or recognised as expense within one year.

AEBZRBKEER - HMEUWKIE -« &e
MIBRRIEF - BIEEKERR %ommm
T(ZZTZT+4F :53511,0007T) @ He
6,994,000 T (Z 2 F + £ : 11,873,000
J0) 23,923,000t ( ZEE L F: 433i)"
Bl A 1 Uk > B AR 3R 30 T8 [ B UK B B A )
IH o RUBRF AW BB R &Xaﬁm
BRIEMR - iR MIER TR - AREBEER KL
T¥EBREYIEIRES 2 BELREUKS - K
E@ZEW% KA W B K40 8% - IRIR
%ff%ﬁ Efiuu%ﬂ//\?fbﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ/\
%ﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁ ERAEEEZI &N
ik ------- AR A BERTDER AR 2EK
c AEBWERZZEHRITEEMIER
m°ﬁﬁ_ggﬂﬁ+ H_+ = $
EENERRITMEEESR( ST L4
) o

oh

ﬁmrw* R
= ,\1544037000
750,991,000 7T ) 2 %
6m%imwe_7;t$: 2%
'mmwﬁ%ﬂgoﬁﬁmﬂL& iE
—ER )L TRESKEERZE N
RE - HH 123,097,000 ( —TZ4F :
98,099,0007T ) % 497,852,000 ( —EZ +
F: ﬁ)ﬁ%ﬁ%d@kﬁ KT8 K i U
BARIFIE - BEEAKEEREHEN I
muwﬁwazﬁmiﬁm&E%%A
Tt RZFEENF+_A=+—H" &K
EENERRITMEESR( ST L4
/) o
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CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ REIFX AR 22 A)

The Group
X5E
2008 2007
—EEN\E “E2TLF
$°000 $'000
Fr T
Contract cost incurred plus recognised profits BEEAHNANLEERER
less anticipated losses B mIEEEE 3,215,255 1,989,022
Less: Progress bilings B EERIA (270,191) (113,410)
Net contract work BHTRFE 2,945,064 1,875,612
Representing: f%R:
Gross amounts due from customers for [EWEFAHTIEFE
contract work B
— Non-current —JFBNHER 2,686,012 1,752,995
— Current —BNHR 259,052 122,617
2,945,064 1,875,612
Included in gross amount due from customers for contract EREFEANIERIBAES - DREE

work are amounts of $290,055,000 (2007: $293,083,000)
and $161,290,000 (2007: $Nil) which are due from a minority
shareholder and a related company respectively.

Gross amounts due from customers for contract work
represent revenue from construction under BOT (build-
operate-transfer) arrangements or upgrade services under
TOT arrangements and bear interest at rates ranging from
6.12% to 7.83% (2007: 6.12% to 7.02%) per annum. The
amounts are not yet due for payment and will be settled by
revenue to be generated during the operating periods of the
BOT and TOT arrangements.

U DHIRRE 1@2900550007c(_iEiE
+ 4 1 293,083,0007T ) M JE Y BEEE A B X
T8161,290,0007C( —FZE+F : )

fﬂ&%ﬁé?@l%ﬂ*hléz@T%EBBABOT(
E-EE-ER )T T ZEERESRE
TOTLRH T 2R E TR  HIRFE R
B12% E7.83% (ZZEZTLF : 6.12% =
7.02% )5t EFE - BEFIEBARIAE
o WHELABOTRTOTZHE T 2 &R & HA ZE
XA o
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BB RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (¥ SZA7ERASN - FTE S EAEERTH)

22, INVENTORIES tLBE
Inventories in the balance sheet comprise: EEBERFINMFERRE

Plant materials and operating supplies BEMERESERR 10,379 5,223
Other raw materials HipRHE 1,122 700
11,501 5,923
23. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS ZiE BIRIRERITHER
The amounts are pledged to secure certain bank loans of the ZERBEEER  (ERAXEEE TIRT
Group. Bz B o
24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RIRERIREEEY

Deposits with banks BITER 153,989 250,692 137,181 207,800

Cash at bank and in hand RITRBRASE 408,143 304,171 52,929 32,413
562,132 554,863 190,110 240,213

Included in cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet REERREeRBESFEMEE TR

date are the following amounts denominated in a currency B BEREAER BB AN B

other than the functional currency of the entity to which they REBAL

relate:

United States Dollars I USD4,363 USD17,361 USD1,001 USD16,745
4,363%TT 17,361 7T 1,001E7T 16,7453 7T
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB ANIEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (¥ ZA7ERASN © FTE S EAEERTH)

24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued) HRIRERIEEEBM(Z)
Included in cash and cash equivalents are the following RekReEEBYBEETHTF N @A
deposits placed with related party bank: TIRITZ2FR

Deposits with related TERU B
party bank ANERIT 2175 3,562 16,542 798 4,269
25. BANK LOANS SHRTTHIRK - -
At 31 December 2008, the bank loans were repayable as R=ZFZNF+-A=+—H ROIEK
follows: ZIBFTEAME ¢

Within 1 year orondemand ~ —F A Ek 546,041 142,732 130,000 11,428
After 1 year but within 2 years ~ —E&{ERER 330,525 188,773 30,000 6,429
After 2 years but within 5 years  RFZBRFER 948,559 680,783 77,500 11,249
After 5 years hEE 504,468 423,160 - =

1,783,552 1,292,716 107,500 17,678

2,329,593 1,435,448 237,500 29,106
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At 31 December 2008, the bank loans were secured as
follows:

B BAEBEE)

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED  #r B¢ KEIFR AR A A

RZZBZNFE+-A=1+—RH - §i7
Zﬁi#ﬁl JUEAT

The Group The Company
F£E AT
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EEN\E ZTTLF —EFN\E —TTLF
$'000 $000 $'000 $000
T T Fr T
Bank loans RITEN
- secured — B 1,549,067 1,253,168 137,500 29,106
- unsecured — IR 780,526 182,280 100,000 -
2,329,593 1,435,448 237,500 29,106

Certain banking facilities of the Group are secured by certain
revenue and receivables in connection with the Group’s
service concession arrangements, bank deposits, mortgages
on fixed assets and shares of a subsidiary of the Company.
Such banking facilities, amounting to $1,793,850,000
(2007: $1,661,544,000), were utilised to the extent of
$1,549,067,000 (2007: $1,253,168,000) at 31 December
2008.

At 31 December 2008, the unsecured banking facilities,
amounting to $1,743,131,000 (2007: $539,624,000), were
utilised to the extent of $780,526,000 (2007: $182,280,000).
Among the unsecured banking facilities of the Group,
$1,066,511,000 (2007: $539,624,000) are guaranteed by
the Company and were utilised to the extent of $530,786,000
(2007: $182,280,000). All of the non-current interest-bearing
borrowings are carried at amortised costs. None of the non-
current interest-bearing borrowings is expected to be settled
within one year.

Included in bank loans are the following amounts
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency
of the entity to which they relate:

ZIS;ER%ﬁimﬂaéuﬁﬁlﬁ&i%%p%«
BTN zZE TR E R EWZE - R
ﬁﬁTA BEEEZBIARA TﬁETBﬁF
NAIZBROHEER R_ZEENEFE+ =
=+—H8 - £3t1,793,850,0007T (==
T F :1,661,544,0007T ) ZERITREE
2 & A 1,549,067,000 c (Z T ZE + F
1,253,168,0007T ) °

R-EENF+-_A=Z+—8 ' Eif
HIR{TRL & 2 & 88 & 1,743,131,000 JT
(ZEZ £ F 53962400071) )
@%7805260007E(: T T+ F o
182,2800 070 ) o i A& B EE AR
1TRLE - B, 066 511 000 (ZEEZ+
&F 539,624,0007E) B A A Bl E AR
37 2 8 530,786,000 T (=ZZEZE A F -
182,280,0007T) ° FTA FERNEAGT BB E
WA AR - TEEAFT A JERNERET B A&
BT ER—FAERE -

RTTEREE NIIFA - RARBEEERZ
ﬂﬁé?ﬁ?ﬁ%bﬁl\Zf%ﬁiu

3]]

The Group The Company
F£E AT

2008 2007 2008 2007
—TINE —TTLF —EEN\E “TTLF
’000 ‘000 ’000 ‘000
F F T F
United States Dollars ETT USD30,000 USD23,400 - -
30,0003 T 23,400%7T = -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (FxSA7ERASN © FTE SEAEERTH)

26. CREDITORS, OTHER PAYABLES AND i FETRRER « HAthFEATRRIE R FEG & A
ACCRUED EXPENSES

Bills payable APES S

- 25,735
Creditors, other payables and FERHERSR - EAbRERFUR
accrued expenses REstER 471,031 308,691
471,031 334,426
Included in “Creditors, other payables and accrued [FERERR - BN RIERESTER |+
expenses” are creditors and bills payable with the following BREENERRENRE  ERHZEFEBRZ
ageing analysis as of the balance sheet date: BRECOITIAT -

Due within 1 month or on demand — {8 AR R Bt Bk 55,682 11,261
Due after 1 month but within 3 months —Z={EARRNZH 22,629 23,986
Due after 3 months but within 6 months =&~NEAREIH 7,246 31,976
Due after 6 months NE BB R E 272,356 168,549

357,913 235,772
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Included in “Creditors, other payables and accrued
expenses” of the Group is an amount of $6,982,000 (2007:
$9,506,000) which is payable to an associate. The balance
is due within one month and represents service fee for
operation of waste-water treatment plants.

Apart from the above, there are balances totalling
$343,329,000 (2007: $224,977,000) which represent
construction payables for the Group’s BOT arrangements,
among which $6,295,000 (2007: $15,651,000) and
$28,684,000 (2007: $25,062,000) are due to related
companies and minority shareholder respectively. The
construction payables are current and not yet due for
payment. The amounts due to related companies and
minority shareholder are unsecured, interest free and
expected to be settled within one year.

Included in creditors, other payables and accrued expenses
are the following amounts denominated in a currency other
than the functional currency of the entity to which they relate:

ALE 2 EANERR - Al B 3A R &Rt
Bl BE—SRNT-RBEARLZ
7X186,982,0007C (= F T L4 : 9,506,000
L) » AEHR—EAREE - ARKES
KRB 2 R R -

Br bRt E SN - BA A $£343,329,0007T
ZTEEF : 224,977,00070 ) Z R
HAEGEAEEBOTLH T2 BETREN
I HA6,205000 (T +4F :
15,651,0007T ) % 28,684,000 ( — T F+
F : 25,062,0007T) 5 Bl AT T EE A 7
MEMFLEMRRZRIA - BETREN
FEERHRAEHER - BN T@ABA
AIRENTFLEBRRZAELERT %
B PEHEAR—FREE -

e R - HMttENFIBRET EREHE
THIFRIR - HAEEER 2B AN
ZEEREN

The Group The Company
F£E b /|
2008 2007 2008 2007
—TENE e 3 —BEN\E e 3
'000 '000 ’000 '000
T F = F
Euro B EUR311 EUR155 EUR311 EUR155
311ERZE 155BR % 311EEE 155BX %
United States dollars EyTH USD2,629 UsD1,193 USD2,542 USD533
2,629%TT 1,193% 7T 2,542% 7T 533% 7T
The Group rE

The loans are unsecured, interest-bearing at rates
announced by the People’s Bank of China, due to a local
government body and repayable in 2023.

The loans from ultimate holding company are unsecured,
interest free, except for loans of $100,000,000 which bear
interest at rates based on HIBOR+0.6% per annum (2007:
interest free), and not repayable within one year.

BERERSEER  RPBRARRITAM
ZEEFE  ERRNEMWRFHE 2
B WARZZ_=FHEE-

[ 7100,000,0007T 2 B R AR E B IRTTIA
EIFEEFBI0.6%t BIN—FTLF: &
B REERARERREEM 28K
BAN—FAERE
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29. INCOME TAX IN THE BALANCE SHEET Tt EEB BRI EH
(a) Current taxation in the balance sheet represents: (a) EEBBEXRFIANAPHRIES !

Provision for PRC income tax for the year RNEEPEMETEE 23,460 15,018
Provisional Tax paid BN (14,295) (8,618)
9,165 6,400
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (b) CERAEEREEERERS :
The Group rEE e
The components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities = RER B 'ﬁgﬁiﬁ A Ji%}Eﬁ fﬁlﬁ
recognised in the consolidated balance sheet and the (BE)/ REBHREAFEESHWT -

movements during the year are as follows:

At 1 January 2007 R-TEt+F
—H—A (13,358) 22,558 = 9,200
Exchange B 5 R
adjustments 2,061 186 - 2,247
Credited to profitorloss ~ sF ABZHE (6,664) (738) - (7,402)

At 31 December 2007 NZTELEF
+-A=+—H (17,961) 22,006 - 4,045
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(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:
(continued)

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED  #r B¢ KEIFR AR A A

(b) ERBEEHREERAE - (&)

The Group (continued) REE ()
Temporary
differences
on assets
recognised
under
HK(IFRIC) 12
RS EE (B Undistributed
MBRERE profits of
FEE)RE) Revaluation subsidiaries
E125RERRZ of properties MEBAST Total
BEZEFER YIEER FpikEF k]
$'000 $'000 $000 $'000
B T Fr T
At 1 January 2008 NZEENE
—A—A (17,961) 22,006 - 4,045
Exchange ME 5 =
adjustments (3,109) 1,274 194 (1,641)
Charged to profit EBRERPNG
or loss 51,271 - 20,236 71,507
Disposal through FBEEKENR
sale of HE(FF=1=)
subsidiaries
(note 33) - (21,623) - (21,623)
At 31 December 2008 NZEENE
+-A=+—H 30,201 1,657 20,430 52,288
The Group
F5E
2008 2007
—TENE “ETLF
$'000 $000
W T
Net deferred tax assets recognised on the NEEBERERERL
consolidated balance sheet ELEREEE TR (26,538) (35,961)
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised on NEABERBREARY
the consolidated balance shest EERIEEEFE 78,826 39,606
52,288 4,045
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(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note
1(s), the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets
in respect of cumulative tax losses of $24,241,000 (2007:
$21,820,000) as it is not probable that future taxable
profits against which the losses can be utilised will be
available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. The tax
losses do not expire under current tax legislation.

The Company has a share option scheme which was
adopted on 26 May 2003 whereby the directors of the
Company are authorised, at their discretion, to invite
employees of the Group, including directors of any company
in the Group, to take up options at nominal consideration
to subscribe for shares of the Company. The options are
exercisable six months (or a later date as determined by
the directors of the Company) after the date on which the
options are granted for a period up to ten years or 25 May
2013, whichever is earlier. Each option gives the holder the
right to subscribe for one ordinary share in the Company.

(c) RERELERBEE
RIBHIFTE—(s)FTE 2 25K - A%
@Iﬂﬁ’f%d’—ﬁfﬁmﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁw Lfﬁ
TEHEE24,241,000 T ( T+ 4F :
21,820,0007t) © REAEE @RS A
SEREIR N B BB KAl BEEUS B ER FE &L A
ﬁﬁ%éﬁlﬁiéﬁ? SLAEA o IRIFIVITITS
Bl - EaltaT K0 Es BN AR FE AR AR -

RAFRE —EBERELTE - AR :
_ﬂzﬂﬂ ‘f‘/\E'}?KZW Tfﬁlﬂf, $
%Z%?x$§7@@\ﬁppﬁ$%@{E,\(a%ﬁ’%
EERKE AR ZES ) ERARRBAR
BREARAKRND ZBRE - BRERRK
HBHRNER (IR RREFREZRE
FE)RBERRHEITEHRE ERFEAREZE
TESREZE—=FRAZTRAAEUAR
BERE) SBREBRERTHIEAARE
—IRANR B EBAR 2 AER o

’H

ek 4
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CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED R B KEIFR AR A R

FESRABEE)

The terms and conditions of the grants that
existed during the years are as follows, whereby all

(@) TXHIIFAERTEZBREZRE
R R AR - Bt - REBRENRD

options are settled by physical delivery of shares: BEYRR SR LR
Contractual
life of
Number of options
instruments Vesting conditions EikEz
XA ¥R BHEH
Options granted to directors:
BRTEZHERE:
- 0on 29 September 2003 40,200,000 Six months from the 9.7 years
- ZEZ=FAA=t+AhA date of grant 9.74
R AR
s EA
- 0on29 September 2003 49,700,000 One year from the 9.7 years
- —BEE=ENA-tHE date of grant 9.7%
AL A BiE
A—F
- on 3 August 2006 15,000,000 One year from the 6.8 years
- ZZZSENR=H date of grant 6.85
R B
A—F
- on 3 August 2006 15,000,000 Two years from the 6.8 years
- ZETRFENA=H date of grant 6.8F
R AR
AT
Options granted to employees:
RTEEZHERE
- 0on 29 September 2003 1,300,000 One year from the 9.7 years
- ZEZ=FAA=Zt+AA date of grant 9.7
R AR
A
- on 3 August 2006 18,000,000 One year from the 6.8 years
- —EERFN\AZ=H date of grant 6.8F
R AR
5
- on 3 August 2006 18,000,000 Two years from the 6.8 years
- —EERFN\AZ=H date of grant 6.8F
B B e
ATE
Total share options
BB E A2 157,200,000
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(b) The number and weighted average exercise prices
of share options are as follows:

(b) MEAEE 2 BB RNEFIGITEEMT ¢

2008 2007
—BE0\E “TTAF
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise exercise
price Number of price Number of
TnHEEY options DS options
fTiEE fElrtEsE 1728 FEIRERIE
Outstanding at the BRI R TIE
beginning of the period $0.5957T 88,991,000 $0.5297T 157,200,000
Exercised during the period EiRE 17{& $0.857¢ (9,057,000) $0.3767C (58,709,000)
Lapsed during the period ~ EfA2k4k - - $0.857T (9,500,000)
Outstanding at the end of ~ HIA& %K 1T{E
the period $0.5667T 79,934,000 $0.5957T 88,991,000
Exercisable atthe end of ~ ER4RA] 77718
the period $0.5667T 79,934,000 $0.4787T 60,991,000

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise
for shares options exercised during the year was $2.2
(2007: $3.2).

The options outstanding at 31 December 2008 had an
exercise price of $0.296 or $0.85 (2007: $0.296 or $0.85)
and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 4.4
years (2007: 5.4 years).

FRBITEBRERTTE B H 2 hntEF
BRER22T(ZETLF :3.27T) °

MNZZEENF+=-A=+—BHEkKITE
2 BB 2 1T{E 8 A0.2967T.8(0.85 7T
(ZEZT+ % :0.2967T80.857C) * M
IEFEHABR TENFHAAE44F (=
T 545F) o
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(c) Fair value of share options and assumptions

The fair value of services received in return for share
options granted is measured by reference to the fair
value of share options granted. The estimate of the
fair value of the share options granted is measured
based on Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model. The
contractual life of the share option is used as an input
into this model.

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ AEFX AR 2 A)

FESRABEE)

(c) BREZARERRBR
AEEAR D EREMES RS 2R

RERERBREZ AAENE - KR
E%Hﬂ%”z{éﬁr A BB N — &8

H [ EERAGE - BREZAY
FHAMERA 2 —HBAZE -

2008 2007
—EEN\E —TTHF
Fair value of share options and BREZ AR ERRR
assumptions
Fair value at measurement date NG A= AN ] $0.297¢ $0.297T
Share price I%(B $0.857¢ $0.857T
Exercise price 7B $0.857¢ $0.857¢
Expected volatility (expressed as weighted TR IR (LAl #8052 — 4T ER AR
average volatility used in the modelling HiREE B AR
under Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model) IEEEY R ) 52.13% 52.13%
Option life (expressed as weighted average life  BENXIESER (LAl 180572 — &F R |
used in the modelling under HiREE B WA
Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model) IS EE) 3years 3 yearstF
Expected dividends TEHHHX ) 2.28% 2.28%
Risk-free interest rate (based on BAE(BEINEESEE)
Exchange Fund Notes) 4.30% 4.30%
The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility TEHR R IR RIS SR Igst & (LABEIR#E 2
(calculated based on the weighted average remaining MEEHFGERHE) BRAERRAR

life of the share options), adjusted for any expected
changes to future volatility based on public available
information. Expected dividends are based on historical
dividends. Changes in the subjective input assumptions
could materially affect the fair value estimate.

There were no service conditions or market conditions
associated with the share options granted.

PRAIR BRI & *X/&%Zﬁ?“@] B

HREDRBEBERSEE - FIRAEH
TE“‘“Z """"" ET;T@%CTEZ%.:H%EZEKM

o

B % 2 i R R 4 B o (2 1] AR A5 1R 1 3
MG



ANNUAL REPORT 2008 —ZZ)\&F4F%#

‘ 176 ‘ CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ REIFX AR 22 A)
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(@) The Group (@) &%
Capital
redemption
Share Share Special reserve
capital premium reserve 2.3
iZ R in it (E YRl ke BE
$'000 $'000 $000 $'000
T T Fr T
At 1 January 2008 RZZEZNF—A—H 313,472 737,989 - 70
Dividends approved in respect of LEECHARE
the previous year (note 11) (fE+—) = = - -
Shares issued under share option BB 23T
scheme (note 31(c)(i) Bfn (== 906 9,429 - -
Exchange differences on translation Al =YNT) =N
of financial statements of O RRELVEL S
subsidiaries and associate - = = -
Reserves realised on disposal of HEMBARBER 7 HE
subsidiaries (note 33) ME=1=) - = S -
Equity-settled share-based transactions  LAR D 24 7 IR AR 5 - - - =
Changes in fair value of available-for-sale  FEEZEEALEE
securities = = - -
Profit for the year AEZEF - = = -
Capital contrioutions received by 2 EMBR RN HARFLER
non-wholly owned subsidiary from 52 LA
minority shareholder = = = -
Transfer to reserve fund ERSEES = = = =
Dividend paid to minority shareholder BYNTFLEBRR KR - - = =
Dividend declared in respect of AFEEERRE (M)
the current year (note 11) = = = -
At 31 December 2008 RZTT)\F+-A=1+—H 314,378 747,418 = 70
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Goodwill
arising on Minority

Capital consolidation  Exchange Fair value Reserve Retained interests Total
reserve SRR reserve reserve fund profits Total DERRE equity
EXfkis EEZHE ERRHE LLERE fkiEe  REERAN ] gE  ELER
$000 $000 $000 $'000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Fi T Fi Fi T Fi T Fi Fi
11,628 (12,614) 180,990 37,591 20,007 1,161,958 2,451,091 152,335 2,603,426
- - - - - (31,367) (31,367) - (31,367)
(2,645) - - - - - 7,690 - 7,690

- - 137,690 - - - 137,690 18,236 155,926
- 10,808 (30,565) - - (10,808) (30,565) (153) (30,718)

2,385 - - - - - 2,385 - 2,385
- - - (37,484) - - (37,484) - (37,484)

- - - - - 339,018 339,018 26,373 365,391

- - - - - - - 116,320 116,320

- - - - 10,530 (10,530) - - -
- - - - - - - ess)  (1689)
- - - - - (18,843) (18,843) - (18,843)

11,368 (1,806) 288,115 107 30,537 1,429,428 2,819,615 311,426 3,131,041
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB ANIEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (2B RSN - A SEAEETE)

31. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued) =R REEE)
(a) The Group (continued) (a) RX&EE (&)

At 1 January 2007 RZTZ+F—H—H 307,601 719,208 - 70
Dividends approved in respect of EFEEEHERS

the previous year (note 11) (Hi&E+—) - - - -
Shares issued under share option RT3 T

scheme (note 31(c)(i) B (HE=+—0©)) 5,871 18,691 - -

Share of exchange reserve of associate  FT{GEE& A RIE X B2 - - - -
Exchange differences on translation of  #E B A B RE 4 AR
financial statements of subsidiaries B iRREEZER =

and associate - - - -
Equity-settled share-based transactions JARRA 12 IRAR 5 - - - -
Available-for-sale securities: FEES:

— changes in fair value —RAR1EEE - - - -

— transfer to profit or loss on disposal ~ — HERERZIERE = = - -
Profit for the year AEERH - - - -
Transfer to reserve fund BRERES - - - -
Dividend paid to minority shareholder 2 3244 F D &R 2 A% &, = = - -
Dividend declared in respect of AEEEERKE (Et+—)

the current year (note 11) = - - _

At 31 December 2007 RZTZ+F+-A=+—H 313472 737,989 = 70
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6,027 (12614) 51,367 30,818 8639 884917 199,123 117073 2,113,196
- - - - - (80,770)  (30,770) - (30,770)
(2,485) - - - - - 22,077 - 22,077
= B 36 g = = 36 = 36
- - 129587 - - - 129587 13,785 143322
8,086 B = g - - 8,086 - 8,086
- - - 18,565 = = 18,565 - 18,565
- - - (11,792) - - (11,792) - (11,792)
- - - - - 337932 337932 22147 360,079
- - - - 11,368 (11,368) - - =
- - - - - - - (620) (620)
- - - - - (18753)  (18.758) - (18,753)

11,628 (12,614) 180,990 37,591 20,007 1,161,958 2,451,091 162,336 2,603,426
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B SRR MEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B BB AN © BB EABETE)
(b) The Company (b) &2 7]
Capital
redemption
Share Share Special reserve Capital Retained
capital premium reserve 2.3 reserve profits Total
kx REE BHRE 2 BORE W EFRE  RERA i
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
T T T T T T T
At 1 January 2007 WZEE+F
—A—A 307,601 719,298 - 70 6,027 722,767 1,755,763
Dividends approvedin ~ £EEE#E
respect of the previous TR 2
year (note 11) (KfsEt—) - - - - - (30,770) (30,770)
Shares issued under REERIETE)
share option scheme Bk (T
(note 31(c)fi) Q) 587 18,691 - - (2485) - 2,077
Equity-settled share- MRz
based transactions BAZ S - - - - 8,086 - 8,086
Profit for the year REERT = = - - - 119,452 119,452
Dividend declared in KEEEERES
respect of the current (BtaEt—)
year (note 11) - - - - - (18,753) (18,753)
At31December 2007  RZZEELF
+-R=1—H 313472 737,989 - 70 11,628 792,696 1,855,855
At 1 January 2008 RZZE\F
—A-A 313,472 737,989 - 70 11,628 792,696 1,855,855
Dividends approvedin -~ £EE R #AERE
respect of the previous ~ (fifsE—)
year (note 11) - - - - - (31,367) (31,367)
Shares issued under RIEERE: E
share option scheme Bk (T
(note 31(¢)) =) 906 9429 - - (2,645) - 7,690
Equity-settled share- MR 2
based transactions RAZ 5 - - - - 2,385 - 2,385
Profit for the year REERF = = = - - 132,772 132,772
Dividend declared in KEEEERES
respect of the current (H&t-)
year (note 11) - - - - - (18,843) (18,843)
At 31 December 2008 RZEENF
+=A=1—H 314378 747,418 - 70 11,368 875,258 1,948,492
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(c) Share capital

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED  #r Bl KEIFR AR A A

(c) BA&
() Authorised and issued share capital () ZEREETRA
2008 2007
—EEN\E “TTLF
No. of No. of
shares shares
& AR
’000 $°000 '000 $000
T FiT T T
Authorised: ETE
Ordinary shares of  SRE(E0.107T
$0.10 each 2L 5,000,000 500,000 5,000,000 500,000
Ordinary shares, TR BEITR
issued and THAR -
fully paid:
At 1 January K—A—H 3,134,721 313472 3,076,012 307,601
Shares issued REERETE
under share BT (D
option scheme 9,057 906 58,709 5,871
At 31 December Rt+=—A=+—8 3,143,778 314,378 3,134,721 313,472

(i)

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the
Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with
regard to the Company’s residual assets.

Shares issued under share option scheme

During the year ended 31 December 2008, options
were exercised to subscribe for 9,057,000 ordinary
shares (2007: $58,709,000 ordinary shares) in
the Company at a consideration of $7,690,000
(2007: $22,077,000) of which $906,000 (2007:
$5,871,000) was credited to share capital and the
balance of $6,784,000 (2007: $16,206,000) was
credited to the share premium account. $2,645,000
(2007: $2,485,000) has been transferred from the
capital reserve to the share premium account in
accordance with policy set out in note 1(r)(i).

(i)

EREFEAERERASEIR
BB - XRARBAE LA ER
BOEE—RRERE - LARAZ
RHpEEME MEERERZEEAR
ERER| -

RIZIE IR ST ) ZE TR (7
REBEE_EZENF+_A=+—
HIEFE  BRESEATER
f&#E + FREE9,057,000% A A 7] &
BR(ZZEZF : 58,709,000 f%
@A) - KRB 47,690,000 (=
TEA 4 : 22,077,0007T) o HE&
906,0007C(=ZTZ+4F 5,871,000
JT) B R AR  $27T6,784,0007T
(ZZZ+ £ : 16,206,0007T) BlIF2
AR EER ° 2,645,0000( =&
T4 : 2,485,0007T) B IR BB 5
—(N()FTEBER Z BT + WE ARG
BEREE R RER -
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(c) Share capital (continued)

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ REIFX AR 22 A)

FIESBAESE)

(i) Terms of unexpired and unexercised share options

at balance sheet date

(c) BA&(#&)
(i) RAEE H 85 K Z IR 3 R 7T

ZREIRIEZ IR

2008 2007
—TENE e S
Exercise period Exercise price Number Number
e 11668 8B 2H
29 March 2004 to 25 May 2013 “EENFE=A-+NHZE
—E—=FRA-+AHH $0.2967T 20,500,000 20,500,000
29 September 2004 to —TEMFAAZTNBE
25 May 2013 —E-=FRA-1+HHE $0.2967T 20,500,000 20,500,000
3 August 2007 to 25 May 2013 “ETHEFEN\A=ZHAE
—E—=FRA-+AHH $0.857T, 15,194,000 19,991,000
3 August 2008 to 25 May 2013 “ET)\EFENA=HAE
“ZT-=FRA=-tHA $0.857T 283,740,000 28,000,000
79,934,000 88,991,000
Each option entitles the holder to subscribe for one Eﬁﬂx% MTYTHEFBARRE—
ordinary share in the Company. Further details of Hx$ B RER o LEERR

these options are set out in note 30 to the financial
statements.

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves

()

(i)

Share premium and capital redemption reserve

The application of the share premium account
and the capital redemption reserve is governed by
Sections 48B and 49H respectively of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve comprises the fair value of
the actual or estimated number of unexercised
share options granted to employees of the Group
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy
adopted for share-based payments in note 1(r)(ii).

%Zi&—iéﬂ%ﬁéﬂﬁ%i&ﬂﬁi
=t

(d) FEHEEREH

()

(i)

fR17 5 1B R & A FE Ll # e

& 1D m B AR & & ANME Ol s < &
D RIS B R REH ) 48B 1K &
FAHEIRE o

B

B R B RERIEM G —(n) (i) e
LA E R 2 ST BRERE
REEFERTAKEREERRK
TEZBEEBRE 2 AE -
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CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ KEIFX AR 22 A)

FESRABEE)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(i)  Special reserve

On 5 January 2004, the Company announced its

intention to put forward a proposal for the reduction
of the Company’s share premium account by the
sum of $2,372,172,824 (i.e. accumulated losses of
the Company as at 30 September 2003) and the
application of the same amount of credit arising
from such reduction towards the elimination of
the accumulated losses of the Company. The
reduction of share premium account, approved
by the shareholders at the extraordinary general
meeting held on 2 February 2004, was confirmed
by an order made by the High Court of Hong Kong
(“the Court”) on 2 March 2004 and became effective
upon registration of the said order by the Registrar
of Companies in Hong Kong on the same date.

To safeguard the interests of the Company’s
creditors, the Company undertakes to the Court to
create a special reserve upon the reduction of share
premium account on the terms set out below:

() that for so long as there shall remain outstanding
any debt of or claim against the Company
which, if the date on which the reduction of
the share premium account of the Company
(“the Effective Date”) were the commencement
of the winding-up of the Company, would be
admissible to proof in such winding-up and the
person entitled to the benefit thereof shall not
have consented to the said reduction of share
premium account or agreed otherwise, the
Company shall credit to a special reserve in the
books of the Company (“the Special Reserve”):

— any amount arising by reason of a release
of any provision taken into account in
establishing the accumulated losses of the
Company shown in the balance sheet of
the management accounts of the Company
for the nine months ended 30 September
2003; or

(d) REEMEERENE)
(i) 15
m:ﬁﬁmi Hﬁa ZAN/N
EERE ElIPEZN T%@
Eﬂﬁﬁﬁzs72172824nxﬁﬂ¢:
HE-_TTE=FNA= +EZ%J
E18) - WKHIBR D RERME
EZE—@%@%%@%#&%$
NE)Z BETEE o HURARD R ER
FEER _ZZTWNF - A - HE1T
ZRREERIRE FERRERE - I
NR_EENME=A _AEFTESE
EBT (DAL DIEH B S T AR &
RARARER B REBRA R EME
B MBS EER -

BTREAQTBEAZ S - &
ARFSAR RS - BRI (5
IR — R R -
m

() MHRAAE R & E R A
M B(ERBE])(EZBA
ARaEsBARB)ARNEE
AIRBEGEBHBHIRTHERER -
Mtk EEEKBERAERDGE
BEFUENZE BB
a2 NMEPHEES R E £
tmmkﬁEF%$ﬁ J$

AIZEE T i B IH R AR R
%HZ%%%%U%%%%D
T~

— FAREEFAXRREER
—EE=FhA=TtHL
NEAZERKRBEPZE
ERBRAMRRAER
ZEMBERELEZ®
B
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(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
(i)  Special reserve (continued)

()

(i)

(continued)

— any amount received by the Company
as profit by way of distribution from a
corporation which was a subsidiary or an
associated company of the Company at
the Effective Date (a “subsidiary” or an
“associated company” respectively) which
is made by such subsidiary or associated
company out of profits available for
distribution prior to the Effective Date or any
dividend paid to the Company in respect
of any liquidation of a subsidiary or an
associated company commencing prior to
the Effective Date; and

the Special Reserve:
— shall not be treated as realised profits of the
Company; and

— shall, for so long as the Company shall
remain a limited company, be treated as an
undistributable reserve of the Company for
the purposes of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 32 of the Laws of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region of the
People’s Republic of China) or any statutory
modification or re-enactment thereof.

Provided always that:

(1) the Special Reserve may be applied for the

same purposes as a share premium account
may lawfully be applied;

FIESBAESE)

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ REIFX AR 22 A)

(d) REELERBNE)
(i) #FFIfARE (&)
0 (&)

— ARRQAR—RDBUEER
BEASRBFZEHE
EEARNERAH AR
NSNS N
(D RIEEAIHEAR K
(B AR MEMSRE
TyE B AT B A Al sk B &
A B F A 2B HA AT AT 4
DIERZ BRI - HARD
RILEMBHAIE F1R5
BITE) 2 KB D A sk B &
NEREATEZIRE + &

(i) FRIfEE -
— TEWEAERA AR ZEE
WEF K&

- REXRBAMDRAERA
Al REBEABEDI(REA
RAMBFERHTTH R
EPIBE=+—F)EBIR
R E B2 BB 2k
E7]  HEHER SRR T
Z AR IR o

f:

() 5 BB A e R R 4
B &A%
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(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
(i)  Special reserve (continued)

@)

the amount standing to the credit of the Special
Reserve may be reduced by an amount equal
to any increase, after the Effective Date, in
the share premium account of the Company
which results from an issue of shares (other
than for the purposes of any redemption or
purchase by the Company of its own shares)
for cash or other consideration or by way of the
capitalisation of distributable profits or reserves,
and the Company shall be at liberty to transfer
the amount so reduced to the general reserves
of the Company and the same shall become
available for distribution;

the amount credited to the Special Reserve in
accordance with the foregoing provisions of
this undertaking shall not at any time exceed
$1,762,999,500 (“the Limit");

the Limit may be reduced by the amount of any
increase, after the Effective Date, in the paid-up
share capital or share premium account of the
Company which results from an issue of shares
(other than for the purposes of any redemption
or purchase by the Company of its own shares)
for cash or other consideration or by way of the
capitalisation of distributable profits or reserves;

the Limit may be reduced upon the liquidation,
disposal or other realisation, after the Effective
Date, of a subsidiary, an associated company
or any of the financial or fixed assets of the
Company by the amount of the provision
made in relation to such subsidiary, associated
company or financial or fixed assets as at 30
September 2003 less such amount (if any) as
credited to the Special Reserve as a result of
such liquidation, disposal or realisation; and

FESRABEE)

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ KEIFX AR 22 A)

(d) EETEERBHE)
(i) # 5 E (E)

@

5 ol {48 2 P <2 B AT AR OB -
BHBAEEMABRR - FHHET
B (AR R B O EE AR
FBRMERIN RBRS A H
R EREBE A DIRE
A =k fef 8 T 5| B 2 B B A0 gt
BRI N2 8 - A7) R EE 5
AR D 2 BIEEAR DT Z — R
i MEBESRAEIIRZ
A

RIBAAGE 2 Eat iR B AR
R 2 & B EE A
1518:81,762,999,5007T ([ A
RER])

EAEMABE - BT (E
AAEIHERE SRR AT B &
BRONER @ s B R BB
BERCE 2 IRE N KT
SIBAR R E 2 B AR
i (ERRIE hn 2 Br] B B
FAMREE

REMBBR - 58 - ﬁ%
S LA E M 7 R E A
/NS E%AN/N TEHW%%
.Eégk'ﬁ_77 Eﬂ
R=+B#EENER
M“T&W%&lmé?%k
%Z/E{%ﬁgﬁ/miLﬁﬁ i

'''''' S INETARTE & 2 KRl
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(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(i)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Special reserve (continued)

(6) in the event that the amount standing to the
credit of the Special Reserve at any time
exceeds the Limit after any reduction of the
Limit pursuant to provisos (4) and/or (5) above,
the Company shall be at liberty to transfer the
amount of any such excess to the general
reserves of the Company and the same shall
become available for distribution.

The Special Reserve of $112,016,000 credited in
2004 was reduced to $Nil during the year ended
31 December 2006 due to an increase in the share
premium account of the Company which resulted
from an issue of shares during that year.

Gooawill arising on consolidation

The goodwill arising on consolidation has been set
up and dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policy set out in note 1(g).

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 1(v).

Fair value reserve
The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative
net change in the fair value of available-for-sale
securities held at the balance sheet date and is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policies in
notes 1(f) and (K).

FIESBAESE)

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ REIFX AR 22 A)

(d) EETEERBEHE)

(i)

(i)

1+ 5 ()

6) fHPMRIE X5 4) &, ()
HIR A B BRI R 2
RefBAEHRE  AR7
AEBEE CBERNRAZ—
@R MARSEAHDIK
ZH e

REE-_TTZF+_-_A=+—H
IHEE - F_Egmikﬁz%%
112,016,000 LR EZ T © B
B AR QRRZEE BT AE
R 15 4 (B BRI ANFTER o

MHERENELZ BE
EREM T —(e)rE & 5T R R
NEEFRARBAMELZHE -

(v) [EX R

(vi)
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FESRABEE)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(vii) Reserve fund

Statutory reserve — wholly foreign-owned enterprises
Subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC, which
are wholly foreign-owned enterprises, follow
the accounting principles and relevant financial
regulations of the PRC applicable to wholly foreign-
owned enterprises (“PRC GAAP — WFOE”), in the
preparation of its accounting records and financial
statements. Pursuant to the accounting regulations
for business enterprises (> ¥ &5t4#E [BF€ (2000)
25 55]), the subsidiaries are required to appropriate
10% of the profit arrived at in accordance with
PRC GAAP — WFOE for each year to a statutory
reserve. The profit arrived at must be used initially
to set off against any accumulated losses. The
appropriations to statutory reserve, after offsetting
against any accumulated losses, must be made
before the distribution of dividends to shareholders.
The appropriation is required until the statutory
reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital. This
statutory reserve is not distributable in the form of
cash dividends, but may be used to set off losses or
be converted into paid-in capital.

(d) EEHEERBEHE)

(i) [EfEE
FERE — 2B
AEBURPRZHBATHEAESE
INERE - BERBEANEINE
EZARSHRAREBYEE
%ﬁ((ﬂtﬂl/&pagnﬂ?ﬁu 2INE
¥ RESHEHRMBERE -
BECEE 25 E 8 2 (2000)25
’J‘Fb]>> M—JL% //\JL'HBZEDEPIZ\\RZJ\
ERGERS ﬂl\ﬁﬁ%.ﬁr’%ﬁﬁ 52
BFEF10%INBRELTERHE - &
F WA 78 5 A DA SE A (] RETES 18 o
ot - AEEEBZN(EHERE
ﬂf%uﬂ?ﬂﬂé?é)i/ﬁmﬁﬁéﬁ—f
MRESREE - fIBARAE—&H
EIBRABFNEETHERE Ei&mrﬁ
HEZFEMEARS0% A LE o &
ERETEUREREFLADIK ;
MR AR IR EE B ER AT K
Z'Ko

(e) Distributability of reserves

At 31 December 2008, the aggregate amount RZZEENF+ZA=
of reserves available for distribution to equity
shareholders of the Company was $875,258,000
(2007: $792,696,000). After the balance sheet date the
directors proposed a final dividend of 1 cent per ordinary
share (2007: 1 cent per ordinary share) amounting to
$31,438,000 (2007: $31,367,000). These dividends
have not been recognised as liabilities at the balance

sheet date.

(e) REwDIKIER

+—8 -
HAORTFARABRZFEHR
% 875258000 L (= & & & F:
792 696,0007T) ° EG,%; Hi& - E5E
/)fﬁéiﬁ,ﬁﬂl& ERERRIN(ZES
ti B E @A 11L) A& ££31,438,000
TT(ZZTZTH4: 31,367,0007T) ° R&
R HERBEUVEERLEE-
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(f) Capital management
The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to maintain a strong credit rating and healthy capital
ratios in order to support its business and maximise
shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and make
adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic
conditions. The Group reviews the capital structure
on a regular basis and considers the cost of capital
and the associated risks. Based on recommendations
of the board of directors, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through adjusting the amount
of dividends paid to shareholders, new shares issues
or new debt financing. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes during the years ended
31 December 2008 and 31 December 2007 .

The Group monitors capital with reference to its debt
position. The Group’s strategy was to maintain the
equity and debt in a balanced position and ensure
there were adequate working capital to service its debt
obligation. The Group’s gearing ratio, being the Group’s
total liabilities over its total assets, as at 31 December
2008 was 50% (2007: 42%).

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks
arises in the normal course of the Group’s business. The
Group is also exposed to equity price risk arising from its
equity investments in other entities. These risks are limited
by the Group’s financial management policies and practices
described below.

(a) Credit risk
Management has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to credit risks are monitored on an ongoing
basis. Debts are usually due within 30 days from the
date of billing.

(f)

(a)

ErER

AEBEEEERN TR A NERERE
BOEEFREMIBROBEARLE - X
REBEE - XARREREANE -

REBEEELEARE - I R BN
RZ """"" EHEARRBIELRE - X&H

ERRET B - WHIAZEBER
EQZKZQ$EE§ER@§ REBEEESEF
AREESFEBAH N FRR 2B
B BTHRODABEFNETRE -
BV EEREANRE -NEBEE_TT
NE+ZA=T—HARBE_TTLHF
T A=+—BUMEFERN  BRIA
12 BRIIEFHERAE o

AEBLBEABEREARERERNS
Joo REBZRE  RREESEAE
MEETE  BRETHEEESTH
& - RZEENF+-_A=+—8 "
AEEZEERBHR(AASE 22

BERNBEEMBZE) B50%(=F
T 1 42%) ©

RN T R BT B A a9 & INR i
2 B& AR 7E FTRR 1 o

$%.E5ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ¢%§%%ﬁm
2k E%Zf S mBERER
=R & MH&°$%@Wm%H
Efﬁ\f‘@?—iﬁﬂ'ﬁﬂjZHX$&§W7¥K§\HX$
FWH“°$E@LﬂT L B 75 B2 IR
KR ERERE R

FERR

EEERE TRENEER ﬁﬁ Iﬁ@
ERSEMEH 2 EERR - BHA
BEERYEF=TBAR2IEH -
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(@) Credit risk (continued) (a) FERKE)

Debtors of the Group represent receivables in respect of
toll bridge revenue, revenue from waste-water treatment
plants, waste-to-energy power plants and methane-to-
energy power plants and industrial solid waste landfill
operation services which are settled on a monthly basis.
In addition, the Group has gross amounts due from
customers for contract work and other receivables in
respect of the BOT and TOT arrangements.

At the balance sheet date, the debtors, other receivables,
deposits and prepayments and gross amounts
due from customers for contract work of the Group
amounted to $1,807,724,000 (2007: $998,004,000) and
$2,945,064,000 (2007: $1,875,612,000) respectively,
of which $1,113,657,000 (2007: $560,197,000) and
$3,753,734,000 (2007: $2,084,625,000) were due
from the largest customer and five largest customers
in aggregate of the Group. The maximum exposure to
credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each
financial asset in the balance sheet. Since the parties
to BOT and TOT arrangement are local government
authorities in the PRC, the Group considers the credit
risk is low.

Except for the financial guarantees given by the
Company to its subsidiaries, the Group does not provide
any other guarantees which would expose the Group
or the Company to credit risk. The maximum exposure
to credit risk in respect of the financial guarantees at the
balance sheet date is disclosed in note 37.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from “Debtors, other
receivables, deposits and prepayments” as well as “Gross
amounts due from customers for contract work” are set
out in notes 20 and 21 respectively.

AEE 2 BYERFIEA B ERR K S
&XE/WKJ&%@? BRI ER
/n:lﬂ BN TREREYRES2E

&R 2 FEIGRIR - B REFIRIR
HLIAZHX BN - REB TG B BEBOT R
TOTLZHZ B EF A KX TEFKIARER
K B fth YRR ©

NeEER - ZJKEEZfH&BE* o I8
fthEUHIE e RTEMRK IE&
EW%ﬁ @IF*ﬁﬁa il
41,807,724,000 T (Z T T + E :
998,004,000 Jt ) K 2,945,064,000 JT

—EELF 18756120007%)
HA1,113,657,000 C( — T T L F :
560,197,0007T) }&.3,753,734,0007C (=
TT 4 1 2,084,625,0007T) 2 Bl A
EERARBEFRAREAREFAGTR
o EERRZESEEREEARER
PRESUMBEEZEREZRY - AR
BOTRTOTLZHE TN 2549 H B BRE it
BSHE  MASBREEERKB
1K o

B T AR B A B A RHEL 2 15
BRI AEBYERREMESAE
B ARRERZEERRZER - B
It B TS HERD \,.:f'iEIZE—KEfTHB
M=+ W -

EAEE[ERER - HabEU K
B e RBAFREIREREFAY
I%“*hlﬁﬁ@%EM:.iﬁﬂ 2 HE— T ER
WE - DRERE R+ —-
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(b) Liquidity risk (b) REVE SR

Individual operating entities within the Group are

AEBEET 2B L EERARTAS

responsible for their own cash management, including EEAMEEIVE BRERS G EEE
the short term investment of cash surpluses and the EREFARMIERR TR
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands, ZZMﬁ%tﬁﬁ‘éim?“%%%ﬁa‘hj%l A
subject to approval by the parent company’s board %%AZH/&F—H’E o REBE ZBUR

when the borrowings exceed certain predetermined EEHERTBECHT BREBS

levels of authority. The Group’s policy is to regularly
monitor its liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.

5 TR0 & B A E B A RS E
18RS ERSERE - AR E
RESRDESER -

The following table details the remaining contractual TRIRASE @&$QETE/\\%§%T H AR
maturities at the balance sheet date of the Group’s and AR R AR EETERBNEEZIE

the Company’s non-derivative financial liabilities, which

TETAMBAB(BREREANNE ’ﬁ

are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (B FR)RIBEEE BRI M ERTE
(including interest payments computed using contractual ZHRB)  UAERAEBERARRIAEER
rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the balance BEFIAZ T BEFE -
sheet date) and the earliest date the Group and the
Company can be required to pay.
The Group rEE
2008 2007
“FE\E Z33tE
Total Total
contractual contractual
undis- Morethan  More than undis- Morethan  More than
counted Within 1 yearbut 2years but counted Within -~ 1yearbut 2 years but
cashflow 1yearor lessthan lessthan cashfow  Tyearor  lessthen  lessthan
Carrying iT# ondemand  2years  5years Morethan  Camjing T4 ondemend  2yeas  Syeas  Morethan
amount KR —FRE -FEE REEE  Syeas  amont  ARE A ERE RERE  Syeas
KElE REReE HEX WER  EERN BEE  BEE ReRERE BBk WEMN IR BER
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
i i T T T i S S r T R T
Bank loans BAES 0300508 (R673206) (693073 (448374) (1,168,047) (562812) 1435448 (1750991) [144180) (2084%8) (122402) (68990
Otherloans EfhEH 68064 (127361 (4043 (6043  (12129) (107,146) = = = = = =
Loans from uimate TR
holding company ATEZ o208 (158100 (2850  (212.958) = - 108377 (108377) - (lop37) = =
Credftors, other payablesand e -
acorued expenses Htofeft
FERIET
2 A1081  @T081)  (471,031) - 5 - U4 (BUME)  (33420) = = =
3,081,646 (3,687,408) (1,171,899) (665,375) (1,180,176) (669,958) 1876251 (2200,7%4) (478615) (309.875)  (722402)  (689.902)
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(b) Liquidity risk (continueq) (b) REBESRR(E)

The Company AAT
2008 2007
2 k3 I5RtE
Total Totd

contractual Morethan  More than contractual Morethan ~ More than

undiscounted ~~ Within ~ 1yearbut  2years but undiscounted Wihin ~ Tyearbut  2yearshut

cashfiow  1yearor  lessthan  lessthan cashfow  Tyearor  lessthan  lessthan

Canying T8 ondemand  2years  Syeas  Camying T4 oncemand  2yeas  Syeas

amount  ARR  -ERE  -EEE  BEEE 0 oot RER ERg FRE WERE

REE ReR4E HEX  WER  EERM FEE BeREE 0 EER O BER REA

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

n n n *n n T T fr v T

Bank loans 78R 27500  (246081) (134206)  (31,881)  (79994) 29106  (0548)  (11,428) 6,703)  (12417)
Loans from ultimate SR AR

holding company &% 100420  (103272)  (2852)  (100420) - - - - - -
Creditors, oherpayables ~ EREZ - &
adaccuedexpenses  (HEREE

REERE 38933 (38933)  (38933) - - A4 BA43)  (34434) - -

376853  (388,286) (175001)  (182301)  (19.9%4) 6350  (B4982)  (45802) 6,703)  (12417)

(c) Interest rate risk (c) FIZRE R
The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from the NEBEmEH ZHMNERS TEBFEEH

Group’s cash and cash equivalents, bank deposits,
bank loans, other loans and loans from ultimate holding
company. Borrowings issued at variable rates and
at fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk and fair value interest rate risk respectively.
The Group does not use financial derivatives to hedge
against the interest rate risk. The Group’s interest rate
profile as monitored by management is set out in (i)
below.

ZREeRBSFEY - RITER - R|IT
EF - HERM&EER DR ER
BFBHEREEMNERE L2 ERS
SEDRIAZRERENKAR KR AR
BRI =R - AEBEYENBSRITE
T AREDAIRER o AEE 2 X
MHEREER - WHEHRTX() -
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(c) Interest rate risk (continued) (c) RIEEb(Z)
() Interest rate profile ) FIEBL

The following table details the interest rate profile TREIIAEBRARRREER

of the Group’s and the Company’s net borrowings 21 R (A B ﬁﬁ‘“ﬁ (VS

(being interest-bearing financial liabilities less bank THEREReRBESEEY) 2
deposits and cash and cash equivalents) at the ﬂTﬁE/R

balance sheet date.

The Group AKE
2008 2007
—EEN\E BT
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate $000 rate $000
B FiT e T
Net fixed rate TEEFAFE -
deposits:
Deposits with bank ~ $87/7173% 2% -4.1% (12,316) = =
Cash and cash Be MRS EEY
equivalents 0.2% - 2% (147,631) 1.7% - 4.9% (250,692)
(159,947) (250,692)
Net variable rate JEEEEFSE -
borrowings:
Bank loans RITER 1.8% - 8.6% 2,329,593 4.3%-7.8% 1,435,448
Other loans Hf ff?/”\ 5.9% 68,064 = =
Loans from uttimate ~ SARIER AT ER
holding company 2.8% 100,420 = =
Less: Pledged bank 5 : 2 #HEIT
deposits TR 1.4% (109,349) 1.4% - 2.3% (60,518)
Cash and cash BelR&
equivalents Z(EBY) 0.01% -2% (408,143) 0.7% -1.4% (304,171)
1,980,585 1,070,759

Total net borrowings 4218 &% %8 1,820,638 820,067
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(c) Interest rate risk (continued) (c) RIEREb(Z)
() Interest rate profile (continued) () FIEBL(E)
The Company AAT
2008 2007
—BEN\E ZETLF
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate $000 rate $000
=1 ik S ERFI= Fr
Net fixed rate EEHFE -
deposits:

Cash and cash BHe ke

equivalents ZEY 0.2% - 1.3% (137,181) 2.6% -4.9% (207,800)
(137,181) (207,800)
Net variable rate EEBES
borrowings/ (fesk) JF88 -
(deposits):
Bank loans fﬁﬁsﬁ 1.8% 237,500 4.3%-4.4% 29,106
Loans from uttimate IR A FIETR
holding company 2.8% 100,420 = =
Less: Cash and w R RS
cash ZEY
equivalents 0.01% - 0.4% (52,929) 0.7% (32,413)
284,991 (3,307)

Total net borrowings/  #2{&%/ (77

(deposits) @\%E 147,810 (211,107)

(i) Sensitivity analysis (i) BEE T
At 31 December 2008, it is estimated that a general RZZEZENF+HA=+—8 ' &
increase/decrease of one percentage point in AEBGR - WA REE FHE T
interest rates, with all other variables held constant, FA—EE \ES mErAEMAER
would decrease/increase the Group’s profit RRFIAE - AEBEZRBRI&T
before tax by approximately $19,806,000 (2007: g R Q/i h0 49 19,806,000 7T

$10,708,000). (ZZZT+4 : 10,708,0007C) °
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(c)

Interest rate risk (continued)

(i)~ Sensitivity analysis (continued)
The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had
occurred at the balance sheet date and had been
applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for the
non-derivative financial instruments in existence at
that date. The one percentage point increase or
decrease represents management’s assessment of
a reasonably possible change in interest rates over
the period until the next annual balance sheet date.
The analysis is performed on the same basis for
2007.

(d) Currency risk

(e)

Forecast transactions

Maijority of the Group’s transactions are dominated in
functional currency of the entity to which they relate.
Presently, the Group has no hedging policy with
respect of the foreign exchange exposure. The Group’s
transactional currencies are Chinese Renminbi and Hong
Kong dollars as substantially all the turnover are within
Hong Kong and other parts in the PRC. With the nature
hedging of the revenue and costs being denominated
in Chinese Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars, the
Group’s transactional foreign exchange exposure was
insignificant.

With respect to borrowings and creditors denominated
in United States dollars (USD), the impact of foreign
exchange rate fluctuations is insignificant as HKD is
pegged to USD.

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising
from equity investments classified as available-for-
sale equity securities (see note 19). The Group’s listed
investments are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong. The Group’s unquoted investments are held for
long term strategic purposes. The management maintain
regularly the performance of the investments against
expectation, together with an assessment of their
relevance to the Group’s long term strategic plans.

A BNESE)

(c)

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ REIFX AR 22 A)

MEREE(E)

(i) SRS (&)
LS RRE DN IRENEREFH T
REERZRENREFAZATE
ZHEVTESRMIAZNEER -
Z2inms— AR HRRERE
HNERBABEET —EAZEERE
HAlgeEE) 2 fEt o —FTTLFZ
DT TIRIBAERI AT -

(d) SMEEFER

(e)

AR5
SEARBNRXZANEHEER 2EE
BatE - BAT - NEBEYEABINER
RZEPHR - ARBZRFEE/A
RENEE  RRAKSEKR LAALERE
BREEBLPEEMMT - ERKA
RRAANRE R BEEE - MEEE
BAEHIER - MAKREER S L
X ZINERBREN

AR T REMN 2 B8 REMNKRKM
5 BRNETEETTHE - RIEXRKE)
ZREEM -

IR ASE A% LB

AEBAZBEARE (WERSFER
RES  FRAMET L) ZEREFRA
(R o AEEZ EHIREBHERBBIT
£ e ARBEZ I ETIREY SRR
BB EMEE - EEEERERTER
BZEREAHRR - YHEARKE
EAREAAEE Z REIRREFTE
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U]

(9)

Fair values

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, debtors,
bank deposits, current portion of other receivables,
deposits and prepayments and creditors, other payables
and accrued expenses are not materially different from
their carrying amounts because of the immediate or
short term maturity of these financial instruments. The
carrying amounts of other financial assets, non-current
portion of other receivables and deposits, gross amounts
due from customers for contract work, bank loans, other
loans and interest-bearing loans from ultimate holding
company approximate their fair values.

As set out in notes 17 and 28, the Company had
amounts due from/to subsidiaries and non-interest
bearing loans from ultimate holding company which are
interest-free, it is not practical to estimate the fair values
of the amounts due to the related party nature of these
instruments.

Estimation of fair values

The following summarises the major methods and
assumptions used in estimating the fair values of the
following financial instruments.

(i) Listed securities
Fair value is based on quoted market prices at
the balance sheet date without any deduction for
transaction costs.

(i) Unlisted securities

The Group’s investment in unlisted securities
represents investment in a property investment
company, with its investment properties (being
significant part of the total assets) stated at fair value.
Fair value of the Group’s investment in unlisted
securities is based on net asset value of the investee
which is approximate the fair value.

(i) Interest-bearing loans and borrowings and
receivables
The fair value is estimated as the present value of
future cash flows, discounted at current market
interest rates for similar financial instruments.

(f)

(9)

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ AEFX AR 2 A)

[E

R MReEEY - BUIRR - RITF
K EARUGRIR ~ 12E MIAMFRIARD
HIERED - AR EARRAR - EM B FIR
REAERFEE ZANERRKRE 2K
EEYTEEAZR  REREESHRT
A B XNE AT - i
BE - At EWFIE LIRS IEANH A
7~ BWEF S TIEFIREE - ’R1T
B3 - R ERRREIER AT 25 S
ERZ AR ERREZREERS

AR =+ )\ & - ARFIA
BN FEAS B BB X B RRIA R S A AR
RAPETEER - ARNKEBRM AL
HE - RN EAFBREFEZARE

D EfEE
TXBEGFT e TAR
ERZEBTERRKR -

RER

() _FiEs
ARENEEER 2 TS RER
8 MIEIBRER X ZRA o

(i) FE LS
AEBEZIFLETESFREENR —K
MERBRRZERE HREME
((FRBEENEAEM) RARET
B AEBEFLTERREZARN
BEREXREQRZEEFE(H
RAEMEE)E -

(i) T EEXRERERERTE
NAAERRKRREZBRE - A

BOSRTETB2RATRNE
BEIRMSE -
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On 10 November 2008, the Company entered into sale and RZZFZENF+—ATH  AAFHEHAZR
purchase agreements with Everbright Real Estate Limited, MBARIXAREXEARAAGVLEE W
a fellow subsidiary, to sell the entire issued share capital of, # ° ESino Villa Holdings Limited 2 #5E2,
and shareholder’s loan to, Sino Villa Holdings Limited and BITRARERR E\ 2 UREAERA
Riseland Limited at a total consideration of $195,907,000, A2 EEEITIRA - R ER195,907,000
satisfied in cash. T B#E IEJ/AEEiiH
2008
—BEN\E
$°000
F

Net assets disposed of: HEBEFHE
Fixed assets BEEE 194,086
Debtors, other receivables, deposits and FEURBR TN - H b FE TR

prepayments e RIEFFIR 451
Cash and cash equivalents Re RIREZEEY 8,819
Creditors, other payables and FERTRRRR - Efth B 7IE

accrued expenses FEETER (6,886)
Deferred tax liabilities ?ﬁﬁﬁlﬁﬁ & (21,623)
Minority interests DEIAR R M e (153)
Exchange reserve realised on disposal HERFEIR 7 B W e (30,565)
Net identifiable assets and liabilities ARRIEENRBEFRE 144,129
Profit on disposal of subsidiaries (note 4) HEMB AT 2 ZH (M) 51,778
Total sale consideration received, BURHERBRE(ABRLSIM)

satisfied by cash 195,907
Less: Cash of the subsidiaries disposed of ¥ : B AT HEZ RS (8,819)

Net cash inflow in respect of the disposal of
subsidiaries

l-luj € URYZEIN AIZIREMAFRE
187,088
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In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed BRI EMBHREREMEIBOABRE LIS R
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group entered Eeph 0 ANEE T HEE A TET NS
into the following material related party transactions. ARG o
(@) The Group entered into the following related party (a) AEEEEFRIERARFBEEAREE
transactions with its ultimate holding company, China ERAFRIN T T ZEBALRS ¢
Everbright Holdings Company Limited:
2008 2007
—TENE e S
$°000 $000
Fr T
Interest expense FIEE 2,494 -
(b) The Group entered into the following related party (b) AEEE—REERAIFIL T N5
transactions with an associate: AER S
2008 2007
—TENE e S
$°000 $000
Fr T
Service expense for operation BEREL ) KRIER 2
of waste-water treatment RS (FFE=1mn)
plants (note 34(f)) 39,237 27,742
(c) The Group entered into the following related party (c) AEBEEHEDERFFIZL T T35 A
transactions with a minority shareholder of the Group: TR5
2008 2007
—TENE e S
$°000 $000
Fr T
Revenue from environmental water project RIFKIGIE B B2 RGNS
operation services 45,385 57,190
Revenue from environmental water project RIFKIGIE B B RGNS
construction services 1,253 22,225

Finance income TS 26,949 23,668
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(d) The Group entered into the following related party (d) A& B EE RN F R E DSATE 2 [}
transactions with a related company and subsidiaries of BRI T Y@ ALRS -

minority shareholders of the Group:

Revenue from environmental water project
operation services

Revenue from environmental water project
construction services

Finance income

Fee paid/payable for work performed in
connection with the construction of
waste-water treatment plant pursuant
to an engineering, procurement and
construction contract and a service
contract

Technical service expense (note 34(f))

Purchase of equipment

2008
—EEN\E
$000
Fr
RIRKHIE R BL RSN
17,657
RIRKISTE B 2R s
171,542
B 43,596
RIRETRE FEREE
BRNEREAREE
SKEERATEITZ
IRmeN/EHZER
HArER%E (KE=1r0) 2,209
EERE 5,109

2007
i
$000

i

2,408
2,223
8,756

() The Group paid key management personnel

() AEBEEXNTFEEEEAB ZEAR

compensation as follows: Ban T -
2008 2007
—TENE e 3
$°000 $000
Fr T
Salaries and other short-term FehHEtRiES R
employee benefits 23,067 20,742
Retirement scheme contributions RIRETEIf SR 591 447
Equity compensation benefits REANE SR 1,839 5,083
25,497 26,272
Total remuneration is included in “Staff costs” (see note BT AIE IR IR(RMEFER
5(0)). (b)) °
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U]

(9)

(a)

During the year ended 31 December 2008, the Group
entered into certain continuing connected transactions.
The Company’s independent non-executive directors
have reviewed these transactions. Details of which are
disclosed under the paragraph “Continuing connected
transactions” in the report of the directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2008, the
Company entered into sale and purchase agreements
with a fellow subsidiary to sell the entire issued share
capital of, and shareholder’s loan to, Sino Villa Holdings
Limited and Riseland Limited at a total consideration of
$195,907,000 (see note 33).

Purchase commitments outstanding in connection with
the Group’s construction contracts at 31 December

FESRABEE)

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED R B KEIFR AR A R

 H=E—"FTTN\FT_A=1t—HILF
B AEERIYTETHREWRERS -
ARRMZBUIFATEFTCRHEEAR

5  BERSHHBHEE

(9) REE

RN

SREPRHF

RH|—ETHE -

—ET/\F+-AS+—AIF

AIEERMEA

AR B Fif

#  H&Sino Villa Holdings Limited®

BT

BRAREBRRER - ARETT

ERAREHEBITRA  BREA
195,907,000C(EE RHE=+=)

(@ R—FFNF+_A=1+—H A\HE
MBHERTREAELASBRESHNZ

2008 not provided for in the financial statements were as FRAE
follows:
The Group
AEE
2008 2007
= -
$'000 $000
Fr T
Contracted for SHES) 175,932 168,903

EIT
The Company
EAT

2008 2007
—BI\E e S
$'000 $000
Fr T
- 76,807
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(b) At 31 December 2008, the total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases are
payable as follows:

b) RZZZENF+_A=+—H  RET
Tﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁ’]%&%%ﬁf&EH%JT‘%HE’U%T&%E
SRR mT

The Group
AEE

2008 2007
—EEN\E “E2TLF
$°000 $000
T T
Within 1 year —FR 740 124
After 1 year but within 5 years —FRERFA 967 -
1,707 124

The Group leases a number of properties under
operating leases. The leases typically run for an initial
period of one to five years. None of the leases includes
contingent rentals.

(c) At 31 December 2008, the Group had outstanding
commitments in connection with TOT arrangement
entered into which amounted to $515,725,000 (2007:
$754,929,000).

Details of assets pledged are set out in note 25. The
aggregate net book value of assets pledged amounted
to $2,820,606,000 as at 31 December 2008 (2007:
$2,287,009,000).

Financial guarantees issued

As at the balance sheet date, the Company has issued
financial guarantees to two wholly-owned subsidiaries and a
non-wholly owned subsidiary which expire on 2 August 2015,
30 November 2015 and 30 December 2016 respectively.
The directors do not consider it probable that a claim will
be made against the Company under the guarantees. The
maximum liability of the Company at the balance sheet date
under the guarantees issued is the facility drawn down by the
subsidiaries of $530,786,000 (2007: $182,280,000).

AEERBEEHERRZEDE - A
BHE-—RVNTRHE—Z21%F  AXF
BEYAES -

(c) RA=ZEZNF+-_A=+—H x&EE
HETOTLHET 2 ¥ /515,725,000 7T
(ZZBZ L4 : 754,929,0007T) °

EEBPEEFBEAMFE-TH R=Z
ENFE+=_A=1+—8" Emﬁ:ﬁ%zﬁ%
% B 42 %5 52,820,606,000T (— T ZT+
£ @ 2,287,009,0007T) °

B M BER

HEEEHR AR ARREZANBAR
K—RIZEMBRARIEL T EER -
ﬁ%%%%ﬁ%ﬂ%:f—ﬁiﬂﬂ:
H - —ZE—RAF+—HA=1+HK_-FT
¢+ ﬂ +HRE - BFERE ﬁ%ﬁ
RIFAATKATRERE LM EREAARD
fEHEHR - REER - AR Tﬁtﬁ%%
ERTzZ2&aAGEAEHENBARER
HY 7 #h & 530,786,000 T ( — T T + 4 :
182,280,0007T) °
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Financial guarantees issued (continued)

Due to the related party nature of the instruments, the
directors considered it is not meaningful and practicable
to estimate the fair values of the financial guarantees and
therefore they have not been recognised in the Company’s
financial statements.

(a) Subsequent to the balance sheet date, on 10 January
2009, the Group entered into a co-operative agreement
with the Bureau of City Appearance, Environment and
Sanitation of Jinan city in relation to the construction,
operation and management of a waste-to-energy power
plant in Jinan city, the PRC for a period of 25 years. Total
investment cost is estimated to be RMB900,853,000
(equivalent to approximately $1,021,928,000).

(b) Subsequent to the balance sheet date, on 20 January
2009, the directors authorised an investment in relation
to the construction, operation and management of a
waste-water treatment plant in Jinan city, the PRC for
a period of 26 years. Total investment cost is estimated
to be RMB72,682,000 (equivalent to approximately
$82,450,000).

(c) After the balance sheet date the directors proposed a
final dividend. Further details are disclosed in note 11.

At 31 December 2008, the directors consider the immediate
parent and ultimate controlling party of the Group to be
Guildford Limited and China Everbright Holdings Company
Limited, which are incorporated in BVI and Hong Kong
respectively. Neither of them produces financial statements
available for public use.

BB BRR(E)
HREEBALTEE  BMEERREAE
Y BERIAABLEEETIIE

B MY ERNARR P RERPERE
BAYELR ©

(@ REEH®%E RZTETALF—A+
B ASEEEEMMARETEE
EE)%.:T_L f’ETﬁ/’J R EREEE
WEL B RERE KNI

BN Z%Eﬁ_+£¢ ERE S -1
A4 5 A R#900,853,0007T(H % A 4
1,021,928,0007T) °

b) REEHR  RZZEZENF—A=+
H - EEREETEERE  BERKRE
AREFRERmEE  BERERE—
FGKEER - B+ /NF o A5t
RERANEANREET2682,0007T(HE
R #982,450,0007T) °

% BEEZHRBERBES -

(c) REEHR
E—TFHBERME T —RKE -

BA:EZEJ\¢+*H_+ B Z=3R5
AEBEETAR RELIZERALD R
AGuildford Limited XA Bt KEBHR A
A BEPFRNEBREZES REETM
R o BREHBREUMBHRRUAELIRA
B
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Notes 14(c), 16, 30 and 32 contain information about the
assumption and their risk factors relating to valuation of
investment properties, goodwill, fair value of share option
granted and financial instruments. Other key sources of
estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Construction contracts

As explained in policy notes 1(m) and 1(u)()), revenue
and profit recognition on an incompleted project is
dependent on estimating the total outcome of the
construction contract, as well as the work done to
date. Based on the Group’s recent experience and
the nature of the construction activity undertaken by
the Group, the Group makes estimates of the point at
which it considers the work is sufficiently advanced such
that the costs to complete and revenue can be reliably
estimated. As a result, until this point is reached, the
“Gross amounts due from customers for contract work”
as disclosed in note 21 will not include profit which the
Group may eventually realise from the work to date.
In addition, actual outcomes in terms of total cost or
revenue may be higher or lower than estimated at the
balance sheet date, which would affect the revenue and
profit recognised in future years as an adjustment to the
amounts recorded to date.

(b) Critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group’s accounting policies
Certain critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group’s accounting policies are described below:

Service concession arrangements

In prior years, the Group entered into BOT and TOT
arrangements in respect of its waste-water treatment,
waste-to-energy, methane-to-energy, industrial solid
waste landfill and toll bridge projects.

The Group concluded that the BOT and TOT
arrangements are service concession arrangements
under HK(IFRIC) 12, because the local government
controls and regulates the services that the Group must
provide with the infrastructure at a pre-determined
service charge. In addition, upon expiry of concession
right agreement, the infrastructure will be transferred to
the local government at nil consideration.

fisE+Me) s+~ =+t R=1+_&HFHE
KEME HE ERUEREAAER
CRMIAZHEEEACBREMAREERE
B BYHEELETHREMZEMEER
BT

(a) BRMEEELETREM ZETERE
BBEER
BANE FT R TE—(m) K —(u)() Pt -
W*nﬁﬁﬁzw 5 N B AR M
F HBURMERHEE S W RAER
M&E%%I& RIBAEE 2 TR
BEAEEAR 2 BETPEE - A%
BELGEER - DERITIEEEEZER
MIZE - BUETTRIRTE 2 B R Mz BE
A SETEET © Bt - EEEA R AT -
REfE =+ —AREZ[REEF AL
TREFRRRE | T2 ERAKERE T
X TR M&RAR R BERIG 2 & © ﬁt?b’
ﬁizﬁ AR NS AR BIRAERTIRES
REEREER 2 G5 Iﬁﬂﬁﬁ
ﬁMEZiﬁmﬂﬁﬁ%%FﬁXﬂi
FERR 2 W e BRI -

(b) MR B R BORRS A 2 B
S B
A EAE RS BB TR 5 T B
e EH BT

R RFFTAS S L1

RBEFE  AEERESKEEIE
B WK ERLEIEE - BAREEE
B - THES F%ﬁ@%EH&WEﬁ
BRIEE - s]ZBOTRTOTLHE °

AREBREBBBOTRTOTLZHH B
(B (BRUBHREREZED)RE)
“m%T%%WﬁH%%@?% ESp=]
& HO AT W BE B R AR TS ﬁ$$
B NBRTEE RIS B AR ER o it
SN EREIRRE R EDHE ﬁ%%
HELSEEERE BT
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Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, E’\ﬁt MR RTIEEE  EBSHMA
the HKICPA has issued a number of amendments, new SEAMBIRER] - MERRRE - %F
standards and interpretations which are not yet effective for & ET CHEARREREBEE_ZZENGF
the year ended 31 December 2008 and which have not been FTZA=T—BLEFERKRER - HEH
adopted in these financial statements. BHRERNDEFEAZZBE - TEAER
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of AEEEFTEHZEEE TR RTRE
what the impact of these amendments, new standards and TEEERBAELECTE - HBRIREE
new interpretations is expected to be in the period of initial EBRBER  FEAKREGSHAEE
application but is not yet in a position to state whether these HARN A 2 EEEE R BORREK ER
amendments, new standards and interpretations would have EAFE -

a significant impact on the Group’s or the Company’s results
of operations and financial position.

In addition, the following developments are expected to result gEoh - FEEF T HIFT R e B R AFEAE
in amended disclosures in the financial statements, including BN BHmRER BRSE - BIEER E/\\ El
restatement of comparative amounts in the first period of EH AR L RE T -
adoption:

Effective for

accounting periods
beginning on or after

BUTH#sHZE

Fla 2 SRR AR

HKFRS 8 Operating segments 1 January 2009
B ELERI 85 ES SN —ETNF—-—H—H
HKAS 1 (revised 2007) Presentation of Financial Statements 1 January 2009

EREERIER (ZTTLFER]) ISR E 2 25, —ETAF-H—H
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At 31 December
R+=-A=+-H
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
“EBEN\E —ITTHF CZTTXF —ZTTRF C—TIOEF
$'000 $:000 $000 $000 $:000
T T T T T
Assets and liabilities BEREE
Fixed assets BEFEEE 164,573 304,526 263,439 352,098 314,358
Intangible asset B EE 577,754 568,882 549,649 549,533 560,022
Goodwil BHE 46,133 46,133 46,133 46,133 45,453
Interest in associates R NGl s - = 442 413,304 435,479
Other financial assets HBsEE 22,336 59,577 62,976 51,931 46,462
Other receivables and HAnfEW IR
deposits NEe 1,386,280 690,019 408,559 122,184 -
Gross amounts duge from EREFEE4
customers for contract work TEREEE 2,686,012 1,752,995 944,161 353,981 2,640
Deferred tax assets ELERIEEE 26,538 35,561 22,922 19,055 -
Net current assets mEEEFE 364,815 584,432 748,449 497,958 546,402
5,274,441 4,042,125 3,046,730 2,406,177 1,950,816
Non-current liabilities FERFEE (2,143,400) (1,438,699) (933,534) (1,132,871) (878,346)
NET ASSETS FEE 3,131,041 2,603,426 2,113,196 1,273,306 1,072,470
Share capital BN 314,378 313,472 307,601 255,181 254,881
Reserves [ 2,505,237 2,137,619 1,688,522 926,422 814,395
Total equity attributable to RATRE
equity shareholders b EE
of the Company 2,819,615 2,451,091 1,996,123 1,181,603 1,069,276
Minority interests DR 311,426 152,335 117,073 91,703 3,194
TOTAL EQUITY HELSABEE 3,131,041 2,603,426 2,113,196 1,273,306 1,072,470

In order to comply with HK(IFRIC) 12 “Service concession
arrangements”, the Group adopted a new accounting policy for
service concession arrangements in 2007. Figures for the years
from 2004 to 2006 have been adjusted for comparison purposes.

FE)E1258 —

THEHHEFBUR

BFMEVEABRUHLELEZA -

RIRECEB(BRMBHREZREZE®)R

[IRIGFERTERTH I ZHAE - &
SRR T FRRBEFFREETHERA
o TETNFRE T RF 2
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For the year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t+—-HLEE

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
BN\ _"TTAE _"TTRF _TTRE _TITOF
$'000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Fr T T T T
Results ¥i5
Turmover e 1,862,509 1,347,852 884,043 517,898 67,885
Profit from operations 4B B | 607,740 439,871 528,276 100,207 20,260
Finance costs HIEER (147,188) (72,507) (70,445) (41,667) (27,614)
Share of (losses)/profits of FriGEE AR
associates (B18),/ B - (478) 32,658 68,045 85,182
Profit before taxation BRI R 460,552 366,886 490,489 126,585 77,828
Income tax FiiSH: (95,161) (6,807) (9.949) 8,217 1537
Profit for the year NEERF 365,391 360,079 480,540 134,802 79,365
Attrioutable to: FEIGEDE -
Equity shareholders ARERE
of the Company 339,018 337,932 460,478 119,913 79,923
Minority interests DR RRERS 26,373 22,147 20,062 14,889 (658)
Profit for the year NEERF 365,391 360,079 480,540 134,802 79,365
Basic earmnings per share BIREREBF| 10.80 centsfll 10.89 centsfill 15.92 centsfill  4.70 centsfli  3.14 centsfll
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Location

b2k

1. Units 2703 and 2704, 27th Floor
Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road
Hong Kong
BAERE T/ 5
REBEA D
By o oS e v G e V1t

2. Units 3 and 4, 11th Floor
Qingsong South Lane
Dalian Development Zone
the PRC
PEIAEREER SRR
+—E=RIMEET

3. Room 1301-1309
Central Business Building
No. 88 Fuhua Road One
Futian District
Shenzhen, Guangdong Province
the PRC
PEIERERYMEHR
BE—E/N\+/\FROEBRE

—=®-E-=Fhz

4. 24th Floor
Tower of Education,
Science & Technology Building
Zhuzilin, Futian District
Shenzhen, Guangdong Province
the PRC
P EIEREIRYIT
RARMFM
BERBERE=+HE

o Block JO7, Zhongguancun Science Park
No 156 Wenguan Town
Haidian District
Beijing, the PRC
PRI TR
R SR B8 15655
RN RREHREJOT5R

Existing use

IREF S

Commercial

CES

Residential
=

Commercial

[GES

Commercial

[EES

Commercial

[GES

Term of lease

HEFH

Medium

T

Medium

T

Medium

T

Medium

T

Long
£23:1

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED /B3¢ REIFX AR 22 A)

Percentage
of interest

Pkt B S3EL

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
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